
Introduction: The IncidentSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

at Lathrop StationKJIHGFEDCBA

P A U L  K E N S zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Last year the PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ o u r n a l o f  S u p r e m e C o u r t H is to r y published the first part of Justice Stephen 
J. Field’s memoir, P e r so n a l R e m in isc e n c e s o f  E a r ly  D a y s in  C a lifo r n ia ,  with a promise to 
reprint the second half at a later time.1 This is the second installment. It is not technically part 

of the memoir at all. Rather, it is the story of one particular incident: the events that led to the 
shooting and death of Field’s former colleague on the Supreme Court of California, David S. 
Terry. As you will  soon see, the story involves powerful personalities, incredible wealth, sex, 
violence, and greed. These themes are not unusual in legal history. What is unusual in the story 
that follows, however, is that judges are the principal players.

Field dictated P e r so n a l R e m in isc e n c e s 
in 1877 and distributed copies as part of his 
run for the Democratic presidential nomina­
tion. When the memoir was first published as 
a book in 1893, it included a second half titled 
T h e S to r y  o f  th e A tte m p te d  A ssa ss in a t io n 
o f  J u s t ic e F ie ld  b y  a F o r m e r  A sso c ia te o n  
th e S u p r e m e B e n c h o f  C a lifo r n ia .  Although 
Field’s longtime friend, George C. Gorham, 
writes the story, there is little doubt that it is 
written as though Field told it himself. It is 
an exceedingly biased version of a highly con­
troversial incident. Even Gorham’s title “The 
Story of the Attempted Assassination of Jus­
tice Field”  is controversial.2

Although Gorham’s account of the inci­
dent is undoubtedly biased, I am not going to

use this introduction to write an alternative ver­
sion of the same story. Rather I hope to set 
the story in context and alert you to some of 
the sources of controversy. Since the first in­
stallment of Field’s memoirs gave us a sense 
of his experiences in early California, it may 
be fruitful to set the scene for T h e S to r y  o f  
th e A tte m p te d  A ssa ss in a t io n by focusing on 
David Terry.3 I will  then use footnotes within 
the text itself to point out some disputed facts 
and arguments that may be of interest to the 
reader.

David Terry died on August 14, 1889 
when David Neagle, Field’s bodyguard, shot 
him in the Lathrop, California train station.4 
The immediate series of events that led to the 
shooting had begun about five years earlier
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when Terry joined the legal team represent­
ing Sarah Althea Hill. As you will  soon read, 
Sarah Althea was an energetic and vivacious 
woman with a tendency to flaunt convention. 
She claimed to be the wife of William Sharon, 
a former United States senator for Nevada and 
one of the wealthiest men in the West. Sharon

had made his fortune in the silver mines of 
Nevada but, for years, had made his home in 
California. Sharon, who owned the luxurious 
Palace Hotel where Field stayed in California, 
was a well-connected pillar of San Francisco 
society. Even friends agreed, however, that he 
had the “reputation of a libertine.” 5
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Sarah Althea, who claimed to be from an 
important Missouri family, came to California 
in 1871 with little money. Some writers claim 
she was a prostitute; others disagree. It is 
certain, however, that she had some kind of 
a relationship with a woman called Mammy 
Pleasant, the proprietress of a high-class 
bordello.

Soon after he met Sarah Althea, Sharon 
arranged for her to live in the Grand Hotel. 
Sharon maintained that she had agreed to be­
come his mistress and that he, in turn, agreed 
to pay her $400 per month plus her expenses 
at the Grand. Sarah Althea offered a different 
version of their agreement. She claimed that 
she had resisted the Senator’s advances until 
after he proposed marriage. The two had en­
tered into a contract of marriage on August 25, 
1879, she said, a contract that she agreed to 
keep secret for two years.

In November 1881, Sharon decided to end 
the relationship. He offered Sarah Althea a sev­
erance package worth $7,500. When she re­
fused, he kicked her out of the Grand Hotel.

Sarah Althea then set into motion a plan to get 
a greater share of Sharon’s fortune. It began in 
September 1883 with the publication of “Dear 
Wife letters”  from Sharon to Sarah Althea that 
supposedly revealed the existence of the mar­
riage contract. Sharon responded by filing a 
suit in the U.S. Circuit Court asking that the 
marriage contract be declared forgery and a 
fraud and that Sarah Althea be enjoined from 
using it. Shortly after Sharon filed in the fed­
eral court, Sarah Althea filed a suit for divorce 
in the state court.

George C. Gorham’s S to r y o f th e A t ­

te m p te d A ssa ss in a t io n o f  J u s t ic e F ie ld  will  
describe the details of these dueling lawsuits. 
There were, however, two other developments 
that play an important part in the story. The first 
was that William Sharon died in November 
1885. His son, Frederick Sharon, and son-in- 
law, Francis G. Newlands, carried on the ef­
fort to preserve the Senator’s estate from Sarah 
Althea’s grasp. The other development was 
that on January 7, 1887, Sarah Althea and her 
lawyer, David Terry, were married.6
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Although Sarah Althea won her case in 
the state court, the federal district court de­
termined that the marriage contract was a 
fraud and issued an injunction prohibiting her 
from using it. As the cases continued to move 
through the courts, Sarah Althea and her new 
husband became increasingly convinced that 
Stephen Field and his fellow federal judges 
were out to get them. Sarah Althea’s vivacious­
ness acquired a bitter edge, and her tendency 
to flaunt convention turned violent.

The worst of her personality burst forth 
during an important hearing on September 3, 
1888. At one point, realizing that Field was go­
ing to rule against her, Sarah Althea jumped up 
and screamed that Field had been bribed. When 
the Justice told her to take her seat, she became 
even more incensed. Field then ordered her re­
moved from the courtroom, but, when a mar­
shal approached her, she slapped him in the 
face. Her husband now joined the fray. Yelling 
“Don’t touch my wife,”  he punched a marshal.
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Other deputies came to the marshal’s aid and 
subdued Terry. They released him when he had 
calmed down, but another fight soon erupted 
in the anteroom, where the marshals had taken 
Sarah Althea. This time Terry drew a knife, 
and it took several marshals to hold him down 
while a bystander pried the weapon from his 
hands. Interestingly, that bystander was David 
Neagle, the man who would later shoot Terry 
in Lathrop station. When the melee ended, 
officials discovered a loaded revolver in Sarah 
Althea’s purse.

As a result of the courtroom antics, Justice 
Field sentenced Sarah Althea to thirty days and 
Terry to six months for contempt. While in 
jail, both wrote bitter diatribes attacking Field. 
Sarah Althea’s threats were the more vitrolic. 
“ I could have killed Field from the spot where 
I stood in the courtroom,” she boasted, “but I 
was not yet ready to kill  the old villain.”

In the meantime, Field had gone to 
Washington to participate in the Supreme 
Court’s Term. Concerned for the Justice’s 
safety, Attorney General William H. Miller  or­
dered the U.S. Marshals to provide Field with 
a bodyguard when he returned to CaliforniaSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C o n ce rn e d  fo r  Ju s tice  F ie ld ’s  sa fe ty , A tto rn e y  G e n e ra l 
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to ride circuit. David Neagle was subsequently 
appointed a deputy U.S. marshal and assigned 
to protect Justice Field.

Such were the circumstances when des­
tiny brought Field and Terry together one last 
time in Lathrop, California. Accounts of what 
happened there vary. But we know that Field 
was traveling in the same train as David and 
Sarah Althea Terry and that Neagle was aware 
of the couple’s presence. We know that Field 
disembarked at the station to eat breakfast and 
that Terry and his wife followed. We know 
that upon seeing Field, Sarah Althea abruptly 
left the station and returned to the train. We 
also know that David Terry approached Field 
in a threatening manner and assaulted him 
and that, in an instant, Neagle then shot Terry 
dead.

One might wonder why the incident stirred 
controversy at all. On the surface, and cer­
tainly in Gorham’s account, Terry’s death ap­
pears tragic, but justified. Gorham leaves little 
doubt that he believed it was.

Every man who knows anything of 
the mode of life among the men of 
Terry’s class knows full well that 
when they strike a blow they mean to 
follow it up to the death, and they 
mean to take no chances. The only 
way to prevent the execution of 
Terry’s revengeful and openly avowed 
purpose was by killing him on the 
spot. Only a lunatic or an imbecile or 
an accomplice would have pursued 
any other course in Neagle’s place 
than the one he pursued, always sup­
posing he had Neagle’s nerve and cool 
self-possession to guide him in such 
a crisis.7

Gorham’s defense of Neagle’s action is some­
what misleading, however. The chain of events 
leading up to the shooting, and Terry’s in­
tentions, were a matter of dispute. Neagle 
claimed that Terry walked over to Field’s ta­
ble and “struck Judge Field a violent blow to 
the face, followed instantaneously by another
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blow.” Other witnesses said that Terry merely 
brushed Field with an open hand as if  to in­
sult him. The testimony of these witnesses, 
and perhaps the fact that Terry was seventy- 
seven years old at the time, open the door for 
questioning whether Neagle indeed acted with 
“cool self-possession”  or whether he panicked 
and acted rashly. Whatever his state of mind, 
Neagle quickly drew his gun and shot Terry 
twice.8 Terry died almost instantly.

Questions about a deputy marshal’s state 
of mind when he pulled the trigger, however, 
probably would not have been enough by them­
selves to cause the uproar that occurred in the 
wake of Terry’s death. Almost as soon as Terry 
hit the floor, Neagle ushered Field to the train 
car and locked the door. The county sheriff 
joined the pair as the train moved out, de­
manding that Neagle submit to detention. That 
evening, Sarah Althea—who, as will  be seen, 
plays a major role in this drama—swore out 
a complaint charging Field and Neagle with 
her husband’s death. Charges against Justice 
Field were dropped, but Neagle faced a mur­
der charge in Stockton. Although Neagle’s sit­
uation was precarious at the time, he would 
eventually be exonerated as well. He petitioned 
a writ of habeas corpus to move the case to the 
federal court. After granting the petition, the 
federal court concluded that Neagle had acted 
justifiably in pursuing his duties as a servant 
of the federal government.9

Newspapers in California and throughout 
the country carried stories of the incident and 
the events that followed. Although many de­
fended Neagle’s action, others were critical. 
In Sacramento, particularly, feelings against 
Neagle and Field ran high. Public officials 
worried that the combustible atmosphere in 
Sacramento would turn Terry’s funeral into a 
riot. There were also rumors that Terry’s sup­
porters had considered storming the jail and 
carrying Neagle to a lynching.10 Neither the 
riot nor the lynching occurred, but the ten­
sion clearly existed. Terry’s biographer pro­
vides some hint of the source.

The excitement in Stockton, where
Judge Terry had lived so long, was 
intense, and while the most promi­
nent men of that city made no partic­
ular demonstrations or exhibited no 
evidences of a spirit of revenge, the 
country people, who loved him as a 
friend, and whom he had always be­
friended, were loud in their denuncia­
tion of the authorities and of the man 
who had committed the deed.11

David Terry was a prominent citizen and 
distinguished lawyer. Over the years, he had 
become popular among miners, settlers, and 
Californians of antimonopolist sentiment and a 
thorn in Field’s side. At the news of his death, 
some of these people believed that Field and
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others had conspired to put an end to their old 
adversary. In their minds, Terry had become 
a “victim to Field’s cowardly hate and con­
temptible malice.” 12 To these Californians, the 
incident at Lathrop station was not an attempt 
on Field’s life, but rather the murder of David 
Terry.

The dispute that led to Terry’s death be­
gan as a divorce suit and, subsequently, a bat­
tle for the estate of a wealthy man, but the 
story of his death had deeper roots. It was, in 
many ways, a metaphor for early California 
history. Field and Terry were both California 
pioneers; they were both usually Democrats; 
and they were both lawyers and judges. Be­
yond that, they were opposite in almost every 
respect. And, in almost every major conflict or 
issue facing California from the Gold Rush to 
the 1880s, they were to be found on opposite 
sides. Field sailed to California via the Panama 
route, arriving in December 1849. Terry, who 
led a group overland to California, arrived

roughly three months earlier. Field was the son 
of an established New England preacher. He 
remained loyal to the Union and during the 
Civil War was appointed to the U.S. Supreme 
Court by Abraham Lincoln. Terry had deep 
Southern roots. He was born in Kentucky and 
lived in Mississippi until his parents separated 
and his mother took him to Texas in 1883 or 
1884. During the Civil War, he left California 
to fight for the Confederacy. In early battles 
over California’s resources, Field tended to 
side with a powerful elite that some Californi­
ans called the Pacific Club Set. Terry usually 
found himself aligned with settlers, prospec­
tors, and farmers. Both men were strong-willed 
to an extreme. Where Field tended to achieve 
his ends through guile and intrigue, however, 
Terry’s tendency was toward force, physical 
confrontation, and even violence.

Terry was ten years old when his mother 
moved to a large plantation in Texas. She 
died three years later, leaving Terry and theSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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plantation in the care of his older brother. 
Terry soon left the plantation and joined Sam 
Houston in the fight for Texas independence. 
Family lore has it that Terry fought in the 
Battle of San Jacinto and that a Mexican of­
ficer who “Struck [Terry] on the head with 
a saber... was rewarded with a bowie knife 
which pierced [the Mexican officer’s] heart.” 13 
Although Terry later said he “played a man’s 
part in the Texan War for Independence,” he 
was just thirteen years old at the time. One 
biographer thus concludes that it is unlikely 
that Terry actually fought in the battle.14 After 
the war, Terry studied law in his uncle’s Hous­
ton office and became a member of the bar. 
At the start of the war between Mexico and 
the United States, he joined the Texas Rangers 
and, in 1846, fought in the battle of Monterrey.

Although stories about Terry’s exploits in 
the Texas War for Independence are likely ex­
aggerated, and little is known about his expe­
riences in the war with Mexico, these events 
undoubtedly had an important impact on his 
character. Terry had seen two wars before he 
was twenty-six years old. He had lived most of 
his life in a frontier society and, as one histo­
rian observes, “ [h]e became accustomed to the 
companionship of vigorous and at times rough 
men.” 15 These early experiences built on his 
upbringing as a Southern gentleman. Terry was 
an imposing (by nineteenth-century standards) 
6 feet and 3 inches tall, and he had a reputation 
for being quick with a bowie knife. Enemies 
described him as a violent man. Perhaps he 
was. He admitted to having a temper and was 
likely to strike out if  he was threatened or in­
sulted. But nothing in his history indicates that 
he was given to fits of rage. Violence in Terry’s 
life tended to be a calculated violence based 
on an outdated and peculiar sense of honor 
founded on dueling and a code of chivalry.

Soon after arriving in California, Terry 
set up a law practice in Stockton. Tales of his 
early practice in this frontier town are similar 
to those that Field recalls in R e m in isc e n c e s 
o f  E a r ly  D a y s in  C a lifo r n ia .  Terry was said 
to have stabbed a man who threatened him in

the course of a trial and to have pummeled a 
newspaper editor who challenged his charac­
ter. When questioned in later years, he admitted 
that he carried weapons to court and added that 
he often had a friend watch his back during 
trial.

The tale that presents the image of Terry 
that friends preferred to portray involved a con­
frontation with a prominent merchant, George 
S. Belt. When Belt said that one of Terry’s 
friends had been a horse thief and highway 
robber in Mexico, Terry denounced the accu­
sation. Belt took this as an insult and chal­
lenged Terry to a duel. Terry—who, in ac­
cordance with the dueling code, had the right 
to determine the conditions—chose pistols at 
ten paces. Belt objected that the short distance 
of ten paces was unprecedented, barbarous, and 
murderous. Terry would not change, however. 
He claimed it was because he was a poor shot, 
while Belt was an expert with a pistol. He ex­
plained to a friend that “ if  Belt lacks nerve he 
is less likely to hit me at ten paces than at thirty, 
and I know I can hit him at ten paces.”  On the 
day of the duel, Belt’s second offered to with­
draw the challenge and Terry accepted. When 
it was later proven that Terry’s friend PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAw a s a 
horse thief and a highwayman, “Terry went to 
Belt, shook hands, and was ever after his firm 
friend.” 16

Like Field, Terry was involved in building 
a new community. When Stockton became a 
city in 1850, Terry was nominated to run for 
mayor in the first election. Although he lost, 
the election established his political promi­
nence. For most of his career, Terry was con­
nected to the Democratic party. By the mid- 
1850s, however, that party was fracturing over 
the issue of slavery. The Democrats were so 
factious that their 1854 convention disinte­
grated and the rival factions met separately. 
One, sometimes called the Tammany Wing, 
followed former New Yorker David Broder­
ick. Terry, who was an ardent advocate of 
slavery, aligned with the Chivalry wing of the 
party, which was led by U.S. Senator William 
Gwin.17
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With the Democrats in chaos, the 1855 
elections provided a short-lived opportunity 
for the Know-Nothing party. This party was 
the outgrowth of a secret society that opposed 
immigration and the election or appointment 
of Roman Catholics and foreigners to political 
office. Until a split in 1856, it was also popular 
among state’s rights and pro-slavery advocates. 
Terry joined the Know-Nothings in 1855. The 
party then nominated him as its candidate 
for justice of the California supreme court. 
And when Know-Nothings swept the elections, 
Terry became a member of that court.

Justice Terry was soon to become 
famous—not for his work on the California 
supreme court, but rather as a prisoner of the 
San Francisco Vigilance Committee of 1856. 
The Vigilance Committee formed in May 1856 
after an angry politician named James Patrick 
Casey shot a flamboyant, muckraking news­
paper editor who called himself James King 
of William. King’s death provided the catalyst 
for the Committee’s formation. The Commit­
tee held itself out as a spontaneous popular re­
sponse to rampant crime and political corrup­

tion, yet there was an organized and political 
aspect to it. Its leaders tended to be merchants, 
importers, and bankers. Frustrated in politics, 
they were said to be “well-connected men who 
were on the losing side more often than they 
wished to be.” 18

Whatever the underlying causes, the Vig­
ilance Committee divided San Francisco into 
two armed camps. When a force of 1,500 men 
marched on city hall and took Casey and an­
other accused murderer named Charles Cora 
to be lynched at Committee headquarters, it 
was clear that, of the two camps, the formal 
government led by Mayor James Van Ness 
was by far the weaker. Like Terry, Governor J. 
Neely Johnson had recently been elected under 
the Know-Nothing banner. Seeing that the city 
government was unable to cope with the sit­
uation, Johnson issued a proclamation declar­
ing San Francisco to be in a state of insurrec­
tion and ordered General William Tecumseh 
Sherman, leader of the state militia, to prepare 
to enforce the law. Sherman’s task was impossi­
ble, however: the militia was loosely organized 
and, worse, had few weapons.
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Terry’s role in the saga was set into motion 
when Governor Johnson prevailed on the fed­
eral government to provide a small number of 
weapons. The vigilantes learned of the trans­
fer and sent a force to intercept the weapons. 
They seized the weapons but allowed one of 
the militiamen, J. R. (Rube) Maloney, to es­
cape to the office of his company commander, 
Dr. R. P. Ashe. The vigilantes later decided to 
arrest Maloney and sent Sterling A. Hopkins, 
a member of the vigilante police, to capture 
him.

Meanwhile, a group of the governor’s 
friends, including Terry, were meeting in 
Dr. Ashe’s office. Hopkins followed Maloney 
to the office, but, seeing he was outnumbered, 
left without his man. Terry, Ashe, and Maloney 
figured that Hopkins was likely to return with

reinforcements, so they joined several other 
men and tried to make their way to a mili ­
tia armory. Hopkins and his reinforcements 
caught the group along the way. At first, the 
two groups appeared to be at a tense stand­
off. Then Hopkins tried to seize Terry’s pistol. 
As the men struggled for control of the gun, 
a shot went off elsewhere. Terry, now feeling 
that his life was in danger, drew his bowie knife 
and stabbed Hopkins. When the vigilante fell 
back bleeding and screaming that he had been 
stabbed, Terry, Ashe, and the others escaped to 
the Armory.

Terry’s safety was not as secure as it might 
have first appeared. Only sixteen militiamen 
guarded the armory and soon there was a mob 
of over one thousand vigilantes outside. Terry 
and Maloney eventually gave themselves up
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to representatives of the Committee and were 
moved, under guard, to a Vigilante stronghold 
nicknamed Fort Gunnybags.

Now that the Vigilantes had Terry, they 
did not quite know what to do with him. It was 
one thing to lynch unsavory characters such as 
Casey and Cora, but quite another to threaten 
a justice of the state supreme court. Terry was 
imprisoned in Fort Gunnybags from June 21 
to August 7, 1856. During that time Hopkins 
recovered from the wounds Terry had inflicted 
on him. Perhaps more importantly to Terry’s 
fate, the federal military and the federal courts 
were threatening to become involved in the sit­
uation in San Francisco. After putting Terry 
on trial, the Executive Committee of the Vig­
ilance Committee convicted Terry of the as­
sault, but it was not very comfortable about the 
prospect of hanging a supreme court justice. It 
thus concluded that, “ the usual punishment in

their power to inflict  not being applicable in the 
present instance, that the said David S. Terry 
be discharged from custody.” 19

Following his release, Terry returned to 
his duties on the California supreme court. 
Field joined the court a little more than a year 
later, in October 1857. The two served to­
gether until Terry resigned in September 1859 
after his famous and illegal duel with David 
Broderick, discussed below. They disagreed 
on many issues, if  not most, including the 
status and rights of Chinese, Sunday closing 
laws, and railroad liability.20 The PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB id d le B o g g s 
C a s e , which I described in the first installment 
of Field’s memoirs, demonstrated that Terry 
tended to be more sympathetic to miners and 
settlers than did Field.21

Despite their philosophical differences, 
however, there is nothing to indicate that the 
personal relationship between Justices Terry
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and Field was strained. When he dictated his 
memoirs in 1877, Field described Terry as a 
gentleman of vigorous mind, generous nature, 
and positive will.  But Field also gently pointed 
out what he thought to be a flaw in Terry’s char­
acter and his choices.

Mr. Terry has the virtues and prej­
udices of men of the extreme South

in those days. His contact and larger 
experience since with men of the 
North have no doubt modified many 
of those prejudices, and his own good 
sense must have led him to alter some 
of his previous judgments. Probably 
his greatest regret is his duel with 
Mr. Broderick, as such encounters, 
when they terminate fatally to one of
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the parties, never fail to bring life­
long bitterness to the survivor.22

By “virtues and prejudices of men of the 
extreme South” Field may have meant that 
Terry subscribed to a dueling code, or “code of 
honor,”  that was generally thought to be a trait 
of Southern gentlemen. Although California 
had made dueling illegal, some prominent men 
continued to observe the custom. Terry cer­
tainly did, at least prior to the Civil War. The 
immediate cause of his infamous duel with 
David Broderick was a comment by Broderick 
that Terry perceived as an insult. But Field may 
also have been referring to Terry’s advocacy 
of slavery. The slavery debate was a less direct 
cause of the duel and partially explains why it 
became a famous episode in California history. 
To understand how, and why, it is necessary to 
go back a few years, to 1857.

Broderick was undoubtedly a political 
power in 1857, but his base was confined to 
San Francisco. As leader of the Tammany wing 
of the Democratic party, he had enough power 
to control patronage in the city and even some 
statewide control. However, William Gwin, a 
Southerner and the head of the Chivalry wing 
of the Democratic party, controlled the sub­
stantial federal patronage. In 1857, Broderick 
launched a plan to get elected to the U.S. Sen­
ate and to wrest control of the federal patron­
age from Gwin. Gwin’s term had expired in 
1855. but a deadlocked state legislature had 
failed to select a successor. As a result, there 
were two Senate seats to fill  in 1857. Broderick 
ran for the long term and won. In a backroom 
deal, he agreed to support Gwin for the short 
term if  Gwin would agree to cede control of 
federal patronage to him. The two arrived in 
Washington just when the struggle over 
whether Kansas should be a free or slave 
state was tearing apart the national Democratic 
party. Broderick immediately became an out­
spoken opponent of slavery.

The slavery debate intensified the already 
existing tension within the California Demo­
cratic party and the rivalry between the state’s

two senators. By the time Broderick and Gwin 
returned to California to participate in the state 
convention of 1859, the state party had split 
in two. The antislavery faction, called Anti- 
Lecompton Democrats, met in one convention, 
while supporters of slavery, the Lecompton 
Democrats, met in another. In a speech to the 
Lecompton convention, Terry railed against 
the Anti-Lecompton faction, saying that “ they 
belonged, heart and soul, body and breeches 
to David C. Broderick.”  “ If  they sail under the 
flag of Douglas,”  he continued, “ it was not that 
of Stephen A. Douglas, but the banner of the 
black Douglass, whose name was Fredrick, not 
Stephen.” 23

A few days later, upon reading an account 
of Terry’s speech in the newspaper, Broderick 
made a fateful remark to Terry’s former law 
partner Duncan W. Perley. After complaining 
about Terry’s words, Broderick said, “ I have 
hitherto spoken of him [Terry] as an honest 
man—as the only honest man on the bench 
of a miserable, corrupt Supreme Court—but 
now I find I was mistaken. I take it all back. 
He is just as bad as the others.”24 Hearing this 

insult of his friend, Perley immediately chal­
lenged Broderick to a duel. Broderick declined 
Perley’s challenge. When Terry sent a chal­
lenge, however, Broderick accepted.25

After considerable wrangling, the two 
men agreed to meet outside San Francisco on 
Monday, September 12,1859. The duel was de­
layed when the chief of police of San Francisco 
arrested the two for breach of the peace. Their 
arrest only delayed the event, however: they 
met the next morning at the same location. 
On the order to fire, Broderick shot first but 
missed. Terry’s shot, which immediately fol­
lowed, hit Broderick in the right lapel. Physi­
cians at first thought Broderick’s wound was 
not life threatening, but he soon turned for the 
worse. Three days later, he died.

The timing and circumstances of 
Broderick’s death transformed him from 
politician into martyr. With the Civil War just 
a little more than a year away, Broderick’s 
death acquired symbolic meaning for the
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antislavery movement. The opponents of 
slavery charged that Broderick had been the 
victim of a political plot instigated by Senator 
Gwin and the Lecompton Democrats. One 
antislavery politician, for example, fumed that 
the duel was “a shield blazoned with the name 
of chivalry to cover the malignity of murder.”26 
It is highly unlikely that any such conspiracy 
existed. Nevertheless, Northern sentiment was 
strong in California, and because the issue of 
slavery had begun to overshadow local issues 
and rivalries, Broderick became much more 
popular in death than he had ever been in life.

Terry, meanwhile, became a political 
pariah. He resigned his position on the 
Supreme Court and, since dueling was illegal, 
he faced possible criminal charges. Finding lit ­
tle success when he returned to Sacramento to 
resume his law practice, he became a pioneer 
again and joined the miners’ rush for gold and 
silver in Nevada. Even before the onset of the

Civil War, Terry was rumored to be a leader 
of a Confederate insurgency in Nevada and 
California. There is no proof that he was, but 
early in 1861 he left the West to serve in the 
Confederacy. Commissioned a colonel, Terry 
saw battle at Vicksburg and in Tennessee and 
was wounded while fighting with his brothers’ 
regiment. Terry’s older brother, Frank, who had 
founded Terry’s Texas Rangers, died in the reg­
iment’s first battle. Another brother, Clinton, 
also died fighting with the unit. Terry’s pri­
mary responsibility during the war, however, 
was to raise another regiment in Texas. He was 
in Texas when the war ended and, along with 
other Confederate officers, decided to escape 
to Mexico. Terry brought his family to Jalisco, 
where he tried cotton farming.

Unhappy in Mexico, the family returned 
to California in 1868. Although Terry ini­
tially found it difficult  to start a legal practice, 
by 1871 he was comfortably settled in Stockton
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and, in 1875, once again became active in 
the Democratic party. In 1879, the citizens 
of Stockton elected Terry as a “non-partisan”  
delegate to the convention to rewrite the state 
constitution.

At the California Constitutional Conven­
tion of 1878-1879, Terry stepped into a po­
litical scene quite different from that which 
he had traversed in the 1850s. Laborers and 
farmers had replaced explorers and prospec­
tors. Completion of the Transatlantic Railroad 
had linked California to the national market, 
but had failed to bring the prosperity for which 
Californians had hoped. Nationwide depres­
sion, local drought, and unemployed workers 
greatly affected the politics of the late 1870s. 
With slavery no longer an issue, economic 
dissatisfaction dominated the politics of the 
decade. Much of that dissatisfaction, labeled

“antimonopoly,”  was aimed at the power of the 
Central Pacific Railroad. It also spilled over 
into hatred of the Chinese. The antimonopoly 
movement was usually lodged in the Demo­
cratic party, splitting the party into two fac­
tions. In 1877, however, the movement was 
strong enough to form its own political party— 
the Workingmen’s party. In 1878, the Working­
men’s party elected one-third of the delegates 
to the constitutional convention. A year later, it 
won a significant number of statewide offices 
and control of the city of San Francisco.

Readers might recall from the first install­
ment that the antimonopolists counted Stephen 
Field among their worst enemies. Field’s de­
tractors considered him to be in the pocket 
of the railroad and corporate elite. From the 
antimonopolist point of view, his record on 
the Chinese question was also suspect.27 At
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the Constitutional Convention, David Terry, 
by contrast, proved to be all that the antimo­
nopolists could hope for. Terry was sent to 
the convention as a non-partisan delegate and, 
somewhat surprisingly, the Workingmen’s 
party disputed his right to have a seat. During 
the debate over seating, A. C. Peachy took of­
fense at something Terry said and challenged 
him to a duel. Terry refused, saying that he 
had had “sufficient experience of that charac­
ter before.”28

Although Terry was not associated with 
the Workingmen’s party, once he secured his 
seat at the convention it quickly became clear 
that his views reflected the antimonopolist sen­
timent. Demonstrating distrust of corporations 
and the corporate elite, he proposed a provi­
sion to the constitution that would make direc­
tors and trustees liable to creditors and stock­
holders for embezzlement or misappropriation 
of funds.29 He then suggested another provi­
sion that would prohibit any state agency from 
investing funds in a private corporation.30 At 
first, Terry opposed establishment of a railroad 
commission. Once it became obvious that the 
commission would become part of the consti­
tution, however, he worked to make it stronger 
by giving it the power to punish contempt of 
its orders.31

Terry’s record on two other topics is es­
pecially relevant here. First, he supported a 
proposal to change the state’s tax laws so that 
“bonds, notes, mortgages, solvent debt, fran­
chises, evidences of debt, and everything of 
value capable of transfer or ownership”  would 
be considered property. This proposed change 
in the assessment of property was, of course, 
aimed at railroads. Antimonopolists viewed 
railroad mortgages not only as evidences of 
debt but also as a way of raising capital. They 
believed that railroads avoided paying their fair 
share of taxes by mortgaging the companies to 
the hilt. Farmers, who believed that a tax on 
mortgages would affect them as well as the 
railroads, opposed Terry’s proposal.32 Terry’s 
idea did have an impact, however. The conven­
tion eventually compromised with a tax provi­

sion that assessed most kinds of property at its 
actual value less the amount of any mortgage 
held against the property. Railroads and other 
quasi-public corporations were an exception. 
Their property taxes would be based upon the 
actual value of the property without a deduc­
tion for the amount of mortgages held against 
the property. Predictably dissatisfied with a 
tax scheme that treated them differently, the 
railroads withheld their taxes in 1880-1881 
and sued to test the validity of the law. The 
lawsuits that grew out of this dispute eventu­
ally came to the Ninth Circuit as PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS a n M a te o 
v. S o u th e r n P a c i f ic R a i l r o a d C o m p a n y (1882) 
and S a n ta C la r a  v . S o u th e r n P a c i f ic R a i l r o a d 
C o m p a n y (1883) cases. Field, who heard the 
case while riding circuit, described the tax 
scheme as discriminatory class legislation that 
violated the companies’ right to equal protec­
tion of the laws.33 In 1886, the U.S. Supreme 
Court confirmed Field’s decision to invalidate 
the scheme.34

Second, Terry sponsored a proposal that 
prohibited corporations from employing Chi­
nese in any capacity.35 This eventually be­
came one of several anti-Chinese provisions 
found in Article 19 of the new constitution. 
Given the power to enforce the provision, the 
legislature made any corporate officers sub­
ject to criminal penalties and imprisonment 
for the offense of hiring Chinese. When Tibur- 
cio Parrot, president of Sulfur Springs Quick 
Silver Mining Company, was jailed for violat­
ing the act, he petitioned the U.S. Circuit Court 
for a writ of habeas corpus. Parrott claimed that 
the constitutional provision and the enforce­
ment statute were unconstitutional. The circuit 
court agreed.36 Field, who was in Washington, 
D.C., did not participate in the decision. How­
ever, as the circuit judge for the Ninth Circuit, 
Field had the power to overturn the decisions 
of his subordinate judges. There is little doubt 
that he at least acquiesced to the decision.

Field and Terry did not have any signif­
icant personal contact during the later 1870s 
and early 1880s, but Terry’s record at the 
Constitutional Convention highlighted their
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philosophical differences. When Field made 
a run for the Democratic presidential nom­
ination in 1880, one of his claims was that 
his popularity in the West would draw votes 
from any Republican candidate and carry the 
election for the Democrats. It was unfortunate 
for him that, by that time, although the Work­
ingmen’s party had virtually disappeared, the 
antimonopoly feelings in California had not. 
Most antimonopolists returned to the Demo­
cratic party, where they formed a strong fac­
tion in opposition to Field’s Pacific Club Set. 
When the Democratic national convention met 
in Cincinnati, the antimonopolist strength and 
Field’s weakness quickly showed itself. In a 
non-binding preference poll on the second day 
of the convention, Field received only two out 
of 330 possible votes! He did better, winning 
sixty-five of the 738 votes, on the first formal 
ballot. Still, the fact that he won only six of 
California’s twelve votes took much of the 
steam out of his campaign.

Field must have been bitter about the treat­
ment he received from his home state. Claim­
ing that he held no animosity toward “ those 
who have acted ungenerously toward me,”  he 
expressed relief that the campaign was over 
and that he would cease to be blamed “ for all 
the crimes on earth.”37 Although he claimed 
to be done with politics, friends floated Field’s 
name for the presidential nomination again 
in 1884. This time, with antimonopolists se­
curely in control of the party, Field’s campaign 
was crushed before it even left the state. At 
their state convention in Stockton, California 
Democrats added as the final plank of their 
platform a resolution stating

[t]hat the democracy of California 
unanimously repudiates the presiden­
tial aspirations of Stephen J. Field, 
and that we hereby pledge ourselves 
to vote for no man as delegate to the 
national convention of July 8, 1884, 
who will  not before this convention 
pledge himself to use his earnest en­
deavors to defeat these aspirations.38

As the convention adjourned, each delegate 
pledged himself for “Tilden first, Thurman 
second and for Field never.”39 The 1884 state 
convention was in Terry’s hometown. Al ­
though he was not a delegate, Terry was said to 
be a power behind the convention and to have 
worked against Field.40

It was just before the Stockton conven­
tion got under way that David Terry became 
involved in the divorce suit that would set 
the stage for his death. Interestingly, William 
Sharon’s son-in-law, Francis G. Newlands, also 
played a role in the 1884 Stockton conven­
tion. Newlands, who would also become a 
U.S. Senator for Nevada, offered a motion to 
delete the attack on Field. His motion was 
greeted by resounding hisses from the floor. 
After one speaker stated that he hoped never 
to see California “ licking the hand that smites 
her and accepting from the railroad corpora­
tions their chosen candidate, Stephen J. Field,”  
the convention voted down Newland’s motion 
by a vote of 453 to 19.41

These political rivalries and the bitter­
ness—even hatred—they produced certainly 
do not prove that there was a conspiracy on 
the part of Field’s friends to put an end to 
Terry. They do, however, help explain why 
some Californians believed that such a con­
spiracy existed. Moreover, they also reveal that 
Terry’s death at Lathrop station was more than 
a personal dispute between two old enemies 
and more than the tragic consequence of a con­
tentious legal battle. Its roots tapped deep into 
the tensions that had characterized California 
politics for almost four decades.
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Attempted Assassination of JusticeSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Field by a Former Associate on the 

State Supreme Bench.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The most thrilling episode in the eventful life 
of Justice Field was his attempted assassina­
tion at Lathrop, California, on the 14th day 
of August, 1889, by David S. Terry, who had 
been Chief Justice of the State during a portion 
of Justice Field’s service on that bench. Terry 
lost his own life in his desperate attempt, by 
the alertness and courage of David S. Neagle, 
a Deputy United States Marshal, who had been 
deputed by his principal, under an order from 
the Attorney-General of the United States, to 
protect Justice Field from the assassin, who 
had, for nearly a year, boldly and without con­
cealment, proclaimed his murderous purpose. 
The motive of Terry was not in any manner 
connected with their association on the State 
supreme bench, for there had never been any 
but pleasant relations between them.

Terry resigned from the bench in 1859 to 
challenge Senator Broderick of California to 
the duel in which the latter was killed. He en­
tered the Confederate service during the war, 
and some time after its close he returned to 
California, and entered upon the practice of 
the law. In 1880 he was a candidate for Pres­
idential elector on the Democratic ticket. His 
associates on that ticket were all elected, while 
he was defeated by the refusal of a number of 
the old friends of Broderick to give him their 
votes. It is probable that his life was much em­
bittered by the intense hatred he had engen­
dered among the friends of Broderick, and the 
severe censure of a large body of the people of 
the State, not especially attached to the politi­
cal fortunes of the dead Senator, These facts are 
mentioned as furnishing a possible explanation 
of Judge Terry’s marked descent in character 
and standing from the Chief-Justiceship of the 
State to being the counsel, partner, and finally 
the husband of the discarded companion of a 
millionaire in a raid upon the latter’s property 
in the courts. It was during the latter stages of 
this litigation that Judge Terry became enraged

against Justice Field, because the latter, in the 
discharge of his judicial duties, had been com­
pelled to order the revival of a decree of the 
United States Circuit Court, in the rendering 
of which he had taken no part.

A proper understanding of this exciting 
chapter in the life of Justice Field renders nec­
essary a narrative of the litigation referred to. 
It is doubtful if  the annals of the courts or the 
pages of romance can parallel this conspiracy 
to compel a man of wealth to divide his estate 
with adventurers. Whether it is measured by 
the value of the prize reached for, by the char­
acter of the conspirators, or by the desperate 
means to which they resorted to accomplish 
their object, it stands in the forefront of the list 
of such operations.

Chapter I. The Sharon-Hi Il-Terry 

Litigation.

The victim, upon a share of whose enormous 
estate, commonly estimated at $15,000,000, 
these conspirators had set their covetous eyes, 
was William Sharon, then a Senator from the 
State of Nevada.1 The woman with whom he 
had terminated his relations, because he be­
lieved her to be dangerous to his business in­
terests, was Sarah Althea Hill, 2 Desirous of 
turning to the best advantage her previous con­
nection with him, she sought advice from an 
old negress of bad repute,3 and the result was 
a determination to claim that she had a secret 
contract of marriage with him. This negress, 
who during the trial gave unwilling testimony 
to having furnished the sinews of war in the 
litigation to the extent of at least five thousand 
dollars, then consulted G. W. Tyler, a lawyer 
noted for his violent manner and reckless prac­
tices, who explained to her what kind of a paper 
would constitute a legal marriage contract un­
der the laws of California.4 No existing con­
tract was submitted to him, but he gave his 
written opinion as to what kind of a contract 
it would be good to have for the purpose. The 
pretended contract was then manufactured by
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Sarah Althea in accordance with this opin­
ion, and Tyler subsequently made a written 
agreement with her by which he was to act 
as her attorney, employ all necessary assis­
tance, and pay all expenses, and was to have 
one-half of all they could get out of Sharon 
by their joint efforts as counsel and client. 
This contract was negotiated by an Australian 
named Neilson, who was to have one-half of 
the lawyer’s share.5

On the 7th of September, 1883, a demand 
was made upon Mr. Sharon for money for Miss 
Hill.  He drove her emissary, Neilson, out of the 
hotel where he had called upon him, and the 
latter appeared the next day in the police court 
of San Francisco and made an affidavit charg­
ing Mr. Sharon with the crime of adultery. A 
warrant was issued for the latter’s arrest, and 
he was held to bail in the sum of $5,000. This 
charge was made for the avowed purpose of 
establishing the manufactured contract of mar­

riage already referred to, which bore date three 
years before. A copy of this alleged contract 
was furnished to the newspapers together with 
a letter having Sharon’s name appended to it, 
addressed at the top to “My Dear Wife,” and 
at the bottom to “Miss Hill. ” This pretended 
contract and letter Mr. Sharon denounced as 
forgeries.

On the 3d of October, 1883, Mr. Sharon 
commenced suit in the United States Circuit 
Court at San Francisco against Sarah Althea 
Hill,  setting forth in his complaint that he was 
a citizen of the State of Nevada, and she a citi­
zen of California;6 “ that he was, and had been 
for years, an unmarried man; that formerly he 
was the husband of Maria Ann Sharon, who 
died in May, 1875, and that he had never been 
the husband of any other person; that there 
were two children living, the issue of that mar­
riage, and also grandchildren, the children of 
a deceased daughter of the marriage; that he
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was possessed of a large fortune in real and 
personal property; was extensively engaged in 
business enterprises and ventures, and had a 
wide business and social connection; that, as 
he was informed, the defendant was an unmar­
ried woman of about thirty years of age, for 
some time a resident of San Francisco; that 
within two months then past she had repeat­
edly and publicly claimed and represented that 
she was his lawful wife; that she falsely and 
fraudulently pretended that she was duly mar­
ried to him on the twenty-fifth day of August, 
1880, at the city and county of San Francisco; 
that on that day they had jointly made a 
declaration of marriage showing the names, 
ages, and residences of the parties, jointly do­
ing the acts required by the Civil Code of 
California to constitute a marriage between 
them, and that thereby they became and were 
husband and wife according to the law of that 
State.

“The complainant further alleged that 
these several claims, representations, and pre­
tensions were wholly and maliciously false, 
and were made by her for the purpose of in­
juring him in his property, business, and social 
relations; for the purpose of obtaining credit by 
the use of his name with merchants and oth­
ers, and thereby compelling him to maintain 
her; and for the purpose of harassing him, and 
in case of his death, his heirs and next of kin 
and legatees, into payment of large sums of 
money to quiet her false and fraudulent claims 
and pretensions. He also set forth what he was 
informed was a copy of the declaration of mar­
riage, and alleged that if  she had any such in­
strument, it was ‘ false, forged, and counter­
feited’ ; that he never, on the day of its date, or 
at any other time, made or executed any such 
document or declaration, and never knew or 
heard of the same until within a month previ­
ous to that time, and that the same was null
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and void as against him, and ought, in equity 
and good conscience, to be so declared, and 
ordered to be delivered up, to be annulled and 
cancelled.”

The complaint concluded with a prayer 
that it be adjudged and decreed that the said 
Sarah Althea Hill  was not and never had been 
his wife; that he did not make the said joint 
declaration of marriage with her, or any mar­
riage between them; that said contract or joint 
declaration of marriage be decreed and ad­
judged false, fraudulent, forged, and counter­
feited, and ordered to be delivered up and 
cancelled and annulled, and that she be en­
joined from setting up any claims or preten­
sions of marriage thereby. Sharon was a citi­
zen of Nevada, while Miss Hill  was a citizen 
of California.*

Before the time expired in which Miss 
Hill  was required to answer the complaint of 
Mr. Sharon in the United States Circuit Court, 
but not until after the federal jurisdiction had 
attached in that court, she brought suit against 
him, November 1st, in a state Superior Court, 
in the city and county of San Francisco, to es­
tablish their alleged marriage and then obtain 
a decree, and a division of the property stated 
to have been acquired since such marriage. 
In her complaint she alleged that on the 25th 
day of August, 1880, they became, by mutual

*Note.—A court of equity having jurisdiction to lay its 

hands upon and control forged and fraudulent instruments, 

it matters not with what pretensions and claims their va­

lidity may be asserted by their possessor; whether they 

establish a marriage relation with another, or render him 

an heir to an estate, or confer a title to designated pieces of 

property, or create a pecuniary obligation. It is enough that, 

unless set aside or their use restrained, they may impose 

burdens upon the complaining party, or create claims upon 

his property by which its possession and enjoyment may 

be destroyed or impaired. (Sharon vs. Terry, 13 Sawyer’s 

Rep., 406.) The Civil Code of California also declares 

that “a written instrument in respect to which there is a 

reasonable apprehension that, if  left outstanding, it may 

cause serious injury to a person against whom it is void or 

voidable, may, upon his application, be so adjudged, and 

ordered to be delivered up or cancelled”  (Sec. 3412).

agreement, husband and wife, and thereafter 
commenced living together as husband and 
wife; that on that day they had jointly made 
a declaration of marriage in writing, signed by 
each, substantially in form as required by the 
Civil Code of California, and until the month 
of November, 1881, had lived together as hus­
band and wife; that since then the defendant 
had been guilty of sundry violations of the 
marriage contract. The complaint also alleged 
that when the parties intermarried the defen­
dant did not have in money or property more 
than five millions of dollars, with an income 
not exceeding thirty thousand dollars a month, 
but that since their intermarriage they had by 
their prudent management of mines, fortunate 
speculations, manipulations of the stock mar­
ket, and other business enterprises, accumu­
lated in money and property more than ten 
millions of dollars, and that now he had in his 
possession money and property of the value at 
least of fifteen millions of dollars, from which 
he received an income of over one hundred 
thousand dollars a month. The complaint con­
cluded with a prayer that the alleged marriage 
with the defendant might be declared legal and 
valid, and that she might be divorced from him, 
and that an account be taken of the common 
property, and that the same be equally divided 
between them.

The campaign was thus fully  inaugurated, 
which for more than six years disgraced the 
State with its violence and uncleanness, and 
finally ended in bloodshed. The leading com­
batants were equally resolute and determined, 
Mr. Sharon, who was a man of remarkable will  
and energy, would have expended his entire 
fortune in litigation before he would have paid 
tribute to those who thus attempted to plunder 
him. Sarah Althea Hill  was respectably con­
nected, but had drifted away from her relations, 
and pursued, without restraint, her disreputable 
course. She affected a reckless and daredevil 
character, carrying a pistol, and exhibiting it 
on occasions in cow-boy fashion, to convey the 
impression that those who antagonized her had



THE STORY OF THE ATTEMPTED ASSASSINATIONKJIHGFEDCBAi l l zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

a dangerous character with whom to deal. She 
was ignorant, illiterate, and superstitious. The 
forged document which she thought to make a 
passport to the enjoyment of a share of Sharon’s 
millions was a clumsy piece of work. It was 
dated August 25,1880, and contained a clause 
pledging secrecy for two years thereafter. But 
she never made it  public until September, 1883, 
although she had, nearly two years before that, 
been turned out of her hotel by Sharon’s or­
ders. At  this treatment she only whimpered and 
wrote begging letters to him, not once claim­
ing, even in these private letters to him, to be 
his wife. She could then have published the 
alleged contract without any violation of its 
terms, and claimed any rights it conferred, and 
it is obvious to any sane man that she would 
have done so had any such document then been 
in existence.

Although Sharon’s case against Sarah 
Althea Hill was commenced in the federal 
court before the commencement of Miss Hill ’s 
case against Sharon in the state court, the latter 
case was first brought to trial, on the 10th of 
March, 1884.

Chapter II. Proceedings in the SuperiorSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Court of the State.

Mr. Sharon defended in the state court, and 
prosecuted in the federal court with equal en­
ergy. In the former he made an affidavit that 
the pretended marriage contract was a forgery 
and applied to the court for the right to in­
spect it, and to have photographic copies of it 
made. Sarah Althea resisted the judge’s order 
to produce the document in question, until he 
informed her that, if  she did not obey, the paper 
would not be admitted as evidence on the trial 
of the action.

On the second day of the trial in the state 
court Miss Hill  reinforced her cause by the 
employment of Judge David S. Terry as as­
sociate counsel. He brought to the case a large 
experience in the use of deadly weapons, and 
gave the proceedings something of the charac­
ter of the ancient “wager of battle.”  Numerous

auxiliaries and supernumeraries in the shape 
of lesser lawyers, fighters, and suborned wit­
nesses were employed in the proceedings as 
from time to time occasion required. The 
woman testified in her own behalf that upon 
a visit to Mr. Sharon’s office he had offered 
to pay her $1,000 per month if  she would be­
come his mistress; that she declined his offer 
in a business-like manner, without anger, and 
entered upon a conversation about getting mar­
ried; she swore at a subsequent interview she 
drafted a marriage contract at Sharon’s dicta­
tion. This document, to which she testified as 
having been thus drawn up, is as follows:7

“ In the city and county of San 
Francisco, State of California, on the 
25th day of August, A. D. 1880, I, 
Sarah Althea Hill, of the city and 
county of San Francisco, State of 
California, aged twenty-seven years, 
do here, in the presence of almighty 
God, take Senator William Sharon, of 
the State of Nevada, to be my lawful 
and wedded husband, and do here ac­
knowledge and declare myself to be 
the wife of Senator William Sharon, 
of the State of Nevada.
“SARAH ALTHEA HILL.
“August 25, 1880, San Francisco,
Cal.

“ I agree not to make known the con­
tents of this paper or its existence for 
two years unless Mr. Sharon, himself, 
sees fit  to make it known.
“SARAH ALTHEA HILL.

“ In the city and county of San 
Francisco, State of California, on the 
25th day of August, A. D. 1880, I, 
Senator William Sharon, of the State 
of Nevada, aged sixty years, do here, 
in the presence of Almighty God, take 
Sarah Althea Hill, of the city and 
county of San Francisco, California, 
to be my lawful and wedded wife, and
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do here acknowledge myself to be the 
husband of Sarah Althea Hill.
“WILLIAM  SHARON,
“Nevada.
“a u g u s t 25, 1880.”

In his testimony Mr. Sharon contradicted 
every material statement made by Sarah Althea 
Hill.  He denied every circumstance connected 
with the alleged drawing up of the marriage 
contract.

He testified that on the 7th day of 
November, 1881, he terminated his relations 
with and dismissed her, and made a full set­
tlement with her by the payment of $3,000 in 
cash, and notes amounting to $4,500. For these 
she gave him a receipt in full.8 He charged her 
with subsequently stealing that receipt at one 
of two or three visits made by her after her 
discharge.

It is unnecessary to review the voluminous 
testimony introduced by the parties in support 
of their respective contentions. The alleged 
contract was clearly proven to be a forgery.9 
A number of witnesses testified to conversa­
tions had with Miss Hill  long after the date of 
the pretended marriage contract, in which she 
made statements entirely inconsistent with the 
existence of such a document. She employed 
fortune-tellers to give her charms with which 
she could compel Mr. Sharon to marry her, 
and this, too, when she pretended to have in 
her possession the evidence that she was al­
ready his wife. Not an appearance of probabil­
ity attended the claim of this bold adventuress. 
Every statement she made concerning the mar­
riage contract, and every step she took in her 
endeavor to enforce it, betrayed its false origin.

The trial of the case in the state court 
continued from March 10th until May 28th, 
when the summer recess intervened. It was re­
sumed July 15th, and occupied the court until 
September 17th, on which day the argument of 
counsel was concluded and the case submitted. 
No decision was rendered until more than three 
months afterwards, namely, December 24th. 
Nearly two months were then allowed to pass

before the decree was entered, February 19, 
1885. The case was tried before Judge Sullivan 
without a jury, by consent of the parties.10 He 
decided for the plaintiff, holding the marriage 
contract to be genuine, and to constitute a valid 
marriage. It was manifest that he made his de­
cision solely upon the evidence given by Sarah 
Althea herself, whom be nevertheless branded 
in his opinion as a perjurer, suborner of peijury, 
and forger. Lest this should seem an exaggera­
tion his own words are here quoted. She stated 
that she was introduced by Sharon to certain 
parties as his wife. Of her statements to this 
effect the Judge said:

“Plaintiff’s testimony as to these oc­
casions is directly contradicted, and 
in my judgment her testimony as to 
these matters is willfully  false.”  

Concerning $7,500 paid her by Sharon,
which she alleged she had placed in his hands 
in the early part of her acquaintance with him, 
the Judge said:

“This claim, in my judgment, is ut­
terly unfounded. No such advance 
was ever made.”

At another place in his opinion the Judge said:

“Plaintiff claims that defendant wrote 
her notes at different times after her 
expulsion from the Grand Hotel. If  
such notes were written, it seems 
strange that they have not been pre­
served and produced in evidence. I 
do not believe she received any such 
notes.”

With respect to another document which pur­
ported to have been signed by Mr. Sharon, and 
which Sarah Althea produced under compul­
sion, then withdrew it, and failed to produce 
it afterwards, when called for, saying she had 
lost it, Judge Sullivan said:

“Among the objections suggested to 
this paper as appearing on its face, 
was one made by counsel that the sig­
nature was evidently a forgery. The 
matters recited in the paper are, in my
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judgment, at variance with the facts 
it purports to recite. Considering the 
stubborn manner in which the pro­
duction of this paper was at first re­
sisted and the mysterious manner of 
its disappearance, I am inclined to re­
gard it in the light of One of the fabri­
cations for the purpose of bolstering 
up plaintiff ’s case. I can view the pa­
per in no other light than as a fabri­
cation.”

In another part of his opinion Judge Sullivan 
made a sort of a general charge of perjury 
against her in the following language:

“ I am of the opinion that to some ex­
tent plaintiff  has availed herself of the 
aid of false testimony for the purpose 
of giving her case a better appearance 
in the eyes of the court, but sometimes 
parties have been known to resort to 
false testimony, where in their judge­
ment it would assist them in prosecut­
ing a lawful claim. As I understand 
the facts of this case, that was done in 
this instance.”

In another place Judge Sullivan said:

“ I have discussed fully, in plain lan­
guage, the numerous fake devices re­
sorted to by the plaintiff for the pur­
pose of strengthening her case.”

Miss Sarah and her attorneys had now 
come in sight of the promised land of Sharon’s 
ample estate. Regular proceedings, however, 
under the law, seemed to them too slow; and be­
sides there was the peril of an adverse decision 
of the Supreme Court on appeal. They then de­
cided upon a novel course. Section 137 of the 
Civil  Code of California provides that while an 
action for divorce is pending, the court may, in 
its discretion, require the husband to pay as al­
imony any money necessary to enable the wife 
to support herself and to prosecute or defeat the 
action. The enterprising attorneys, sharing the 
bold spirit of their client, and presuming upon 
the compliance of a judge who had already

done so well by them, went into the court on the 
8th of January, 1885, and modestly demanded 
for Sarah Althea, upon the sole authority of 
the provision of law above quoted, $10,000 per 
month, as the money necessary to enable her 
to support herself, and $ 150,000 for attorneys’ 
fees to prosecute the action. This was to in­
clude back pay for thirty-eight months, mak­
ing a sum of $380,000, which added to the 
$150,000, attorneys’ fees, would have made a 
grand total of $530,000. This was an attempt, 
under the color of a beneficient law, applicable 
only to actions for divorce, in which the mar­
riage was not denied, to extort from a man more 
than one-half million dollars, for the benefit of 
a woman, seeking first to establish a marriage, 
and then to secure a divorce, in a case in which 
no decree had as yet been entered, declaring 
her to be a wife. It was not merely seeking the 
money necessary to support the plaintiff and 
prosecute the case; it was a request that the in­
ferior court should confiscate more than half 
a million dollars, in anticipation of a decision 
of the Supreme Court on appeal. It was as bold 
an attempt at spoliation as the commencement 
of the suit itself. The Supreme Court of the 
State had decided that the order of a Superior 
Court allowing alimony during the pendency 
of any action for divorce is not appealable, but 
it had not decided that, under the pretence of 
granting alimony, an inferior judge could ap­
portion a rich man’s estate among champerty 
lawyers, and their adventurous client, by an or­
der from which there could be no appeal, made 
prior to any decree that there had ever been a 
marriage between the parties, when the fact of 
the marriage was the main issue in the case. 
The counsel for Sharon insisted upon his right 
to have a decree entered from which he could 
appeal, before being thus made to stand and 
deliver, and the court entertained the motion.

Upon this motion, among other affidavits 
read in opposition, was one by Mr. Sharon him­
self, in which he recited the agreement between 
Miss Hill  and her principal attorney, George W. 
Tyler, in which she was to pay him for his ser­
vices, one-half of all she might receive in any
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judgment obtained against Sharon, he, Tyler, 
advancing all the costs of the litigation. The 
original of this agreement had been filed by 
Tyler with the county clerk immediately after 
the announcement of the opinion in the case as 
an evidence of his right to half of the proceeds 
of the judgment. It was conclusive evidence 
that Sarah Althea required no money for the 
payment of counsel fees.

After the filing of a mass of affidavits, 
and an exhaustive argument of the motion, 
Judge Sullivan rendered his decision, Febru­
ary 16, 1885, granting to Sarah Althea Hill  an 
allowance of $2,500 per month, to take effect 
as of the date of the motion, January 8, 1885, 
and further sums of $2,500 each to be paid on 
the 8th day of April, and of each succeeding 
month until further order of the court.

This the Judge thought reasonable al­
lowance “ in view of the plaintiff ’s present cir­
cumstances and difficulties.”  For counsel fees 
he allowed the sum of $60,000, and at the re­
quest of the victors, made in advance, he di­
vided the spoils among them as follows:

To Tyler and Tyler, $25,000
To David S. Terry, 10,000
To Moon and Flournoy, 10,000
To W. H. Levy, 10,000
To Clement, Osmond and Clement, 5,000

By what role $2,500 was awarded as a 
proper monthly allowance to the woman whose 
services to Mr. Sharon had commanded but 
$500 per month it is difficult to conjecture. 
It was benevolence itself to give $60,000 to a 
troop of lawyers enlisted under the command 
of Tyler, who had agreed to conduct the pro­
ceedings wholly at his own cost, for one-half of 
what could be made by the buccaneering enter­
prise. It seemed to be the purpose of these attor­
neys to see how much of Mr. Sharon’s money 
they could, with Judge Sullivan’s assistance, 
lay their hands upon before the entry of the 
judgment in the case. From the judgment an 
appeal could be taken. By anticipating its en­
try they thought that they had obtained an order 
from which no appeal would lie.

It was not until three days after this re­
markable order was made that the decree was 
entered by Judge Sullivan declaring plaintiff 
and defendant to be husband and wife; that 
he had deserted her, and that she was enti­
tled to a decree of divorce, with one-half of 
the common property accumulated by the par­
ties since the date of what he decided to be 
a valid marriage contract.” Sharon appealed 
from the final judgment, and also from the or­
der for alimony. Notwithstanding this appeal, 
and the giving of a bond on appeal in the sum of 
$300,000 to secure the payment of all alimony 
and counsel fees, Judge Sullivan granted an or­
der directing Mr. Sharon to show cause why he 
should not be punished for contempt in failing 
to pay alimony and counsel fees, as directed by 
the order.

The Supreme Court, upon application, 
granted an order temporarily staying proceed­
ings in the case. This stay of proceedings was 
subsequently made permanent, during the pen­
dency of the appeal.

Mr. Sharon died November 15,1885. That 
very day had been set for a hearing of Sharon’s 
motion for a new trial. The argument was ac­
tually commenced on that day and continued 
until the next, at which time the motion was 
ordered off the calendar because meantime 
Mr. Sharon had deceased.

Chapter III. Proceedings in the UnitedSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

States Circuit Court

While these proceedings were being had in 
the state courts the case of Sharon vs. Hill  in 
the federal court was making slow progress. 
Miss Hill ’s attorneys seemed to think that her 
salvation depended upon reaching a decision in 
her case before the determination of Sharon’s 
suit in the United States Circuit Court. They 
were yet to learn, as they afterwards did, that 
after a United States court takes jurisdiction in 
a case, it cannot be ousted of that jurisdiction 
by the decision of a state court, in a proceeding 
subsequently commenced in the latter. Seldom 
has “ the law’s delay” been exemplified more
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thoroughly than it was by the obstacles which 
her attorneys were able to interpose at every 
step of the proceedings in the federal court.

Sharon commenced his suit in the United 
States Circuit Court October 3, 1883, twenty- 
eight days before his enemy commenced hers 
in the State Superior Court. By dilatory pleas 
her counsel succeeded in delaying her answer 
to Sharon’s suit until after the decision in her 
favor in the state court. She did not enter an 
appearance in the federal court until the very 
last day allowed by the rule. A month later she 
filed a demurrer.12 Her counsel contrived to 
delay the argument of this demurrer for seven 
weeks after it was filed. It was finally argued 
and submitted on the 21 st of January, 1864. On 
the 3d of March it  was overruled and the defen­
dant was ordered to answer in ten days, to wit, 
March 13th. Then the time for answering was 
extended to April  24th. When that day arrived 

her counsel, instead of filing  an answer, filed a 
plea in abatement, denying the non-residence 
of Mr. Sharon in the State of California, on 
which depended his right to sue in the fed­
eral court. To this Mr. Sharon’s counsel filed a 
replication on the 5th of May. It then devolved 
upon Miss Hill ’s counsel to produce evidence 
of the fact alleged in the plea, but, after a de­
lay of five months and ten days, no evidence 
whatever was offered, and the court ordered 
the plea to be argued on the following day. It 
was overruled, and thirty days were given to 
file an answer to Sharon’s suit. The case in 
the state court had then been tried, argued, and 
submitted thirty days before, but Miss Hill ’s 
counsel were not yet ready to file their an­
swer within the thirty days given them, and 
the court extended the time for answer until 
December 30th. Six days before that day ar­
rived Judge Sullivan rendered his decision. At 
last, on the 30th of December, 1884, fourteen 
months after the filing  of Sharon’s complaint, 
Sarah Althea’s answer was filed in the federal 
court, in which, among other things, she set up 
the proceedings and decree of the state court, 
adjudging the alleged marriage contract to be 
genuine and legal, and the parties to be hus­

band and wife, and three days later Sharon filed 
his replication. There was at no time any delay 
or want of diligence on the part of the plaintiff 
in prosecuting this suit to final judgment. On 
the contrary, as is plainly shown in the record 
above stated, the delays were all on the part of 
the defendant. The taking of the testimony in 
the United States Circuit Court commenced on 
the 12th of February, 1885, and closed on the 
12th of August following.

The struggle in the state court was going 
on during all the time of the taking of the testi­
mony in the federal court, and intensified the 
excitement attendant thereon. Miss Hill  was in 
constant attendance before the examiner who 
took the testimony, often interrupting the pro­
ceedings with her turbulent and violent con­
duct and language, and threatening the lives of 
Mr. Sharon’s counsel. She constantly carried 
a pistol, and on occasions exhibited it during 
the examination of witnesses, and, pointing it 
at first one and then another, expressed her in­
tention of killing them at some stage of the 
proceedings. She was constantly in contempt 
of the court, and a terror to those around her. 
Her conduct on one occasion, in August, 1885, 
became so violent that the taking of the testi­
mony could not proceed, and Justice Field, the 
presiding judge of the circuit, made an order 
that she should be disarmed, and that a bailiff  
of the court should sit constantly at her side 
to restrain her from any murderous outbreak, 
such as she was constantly threatening. Her 
principal attorney, Tyler, was also most violent 
and disorderly. Judge Terry, while less explo­
sive, was always ready to excuse and defend his 
client. (See Report of Proceedings in Sharon 
vs. Hill,  11 Sawyer’s Circuit Court Reps., 122.)

Upon the request of counsel for the com­
plainant, the examiner in one case reported to 
the court the language and the conduct of Miss 
Hill. Among other things, he reported her as 
saying:

“When I see this testimony [from 
which certain scandalous remarks of 
hers were omitted] I feel like taking
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that man Stewart* out and cowhiding 
him.131 will  shoot him yet; that very 
man sitting there. To think that he 
would put up a woman to come here 
and deliberately lie about me like that.
I will  shoot him. They know when I 
say I will  do it that I will  do it. I shall 
shoot him as sure as you live; that man 
that is sitting right there. And I shall 
have that woman Mrs. Smith arrested 
for this, and make her prove it.”

And again:

“ I can hit a four-bit piece nine times 
out of ten.”

The examiner said that pending the exam­
ination of one of the witnesses, on the occasion 
mentioned, the respondent drew a pistol from 
her satchel, and held it in her right hand; the 
hand resting for a moment upon the table, with 
the weapon pointed in the direction of Judge 
Evans. He also stated that on previous occa­
sions she had brought to the examiner’s room 
during examinations a pistol, and had sat for 
some length of time holding it in her hand, 
to the knowledge of all persons present at the 
time. After the reading of the examiner’s report 
in open court, Justice Field said:

“ In the case of William Sharon ver­
sus Sarah Althea Hill,  the Examiner 
in Chancery appointed by the court to 
take the testimony has reported to the 
court that very disorderly proceed­
ings took place before him on the 3d 
instant; that at that day, in his room, 
when counsel of the parties and the 
defendant were present, and during 
the examination of “a witness by the 
name of Piper, the defendant became 
very much excited, and threatened 
to take the life of one of the coun­
sel, and that subsequently she drew 
a pistol and declared her intention to 
carry her threat into effect.14 It ap­

*  Senator Stewart, who was one of the counsel against her 

in the suit.

pears also from the report of the ex­
aminer that on repeated occasions the 
defendant has attended before him, 
during the examination of witnesses, 
armed with a pistol. Such conduct 
is an offense against the laws of the 
United States punishable by fine and 
imprisonment. It interferes with the 
due order of proceedings in the ad­
ministration of justice, and is well cal­
culated to bring them into contempt.
I, myself, have not heretofore sat in 
this case and do not expect to partic­
ipate in its decision; I intend in a few 
days to leave for the East, but I have 
been consulted by my associate,15 and 

have been requested to take part in 
this side proceeding, for it is of the ut­
most importance for the due adminis­
tration of justice that such misbehav­
ior as the examiner reports should be 
stopped, and measures be taken which 
will  prevent its recurrence. My asso­
ciate will comment on the laws of 
Congress which make the offense a 
misdemeanor, punishable by fine and 
imprisonment.

“The marshal of the court will  
be directed to disarm the defendant 
whenever she goes before the exam­
iner or into court in any future pro­
ceeding, and to appoint an officer to 
keep strict surveillance over her, in 
order that she may not carry out her 
threatened purpose. This order will  
be entered. The Justice then said that 
it is to be observed that this block, 
embracing this building—the court­
house—is under the exclusive juris­
diction of the United States. Every 
offense committed within it is an of­
fense against the United States, and 
the State has no jurisdiction whatever.
This fact seems to have been forgot­
ten by the parties.”

The following is the order then entered as 
directed by Justice Field:
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“Whereas it appears from the re­
port to this court of the Examiner 
in Chancery in this case appointed 
to take the depositions of witnesses, 
that on the 3d day of August, in­
stant, at his office, counsel of the 
parties appeared, namely, William M. 
Stewart, Esquire, and Oliver P. Evans, 
Esquire,16 for the complainant, and 
W. B. Tyler, Esquire,17 for the de­
fendant, and the defendant in per­
son, and that during the examina­
tion before said examiner of a wit­
ness named Piper, the defendant be­
came excited and threatened the life 
of the counsel of the complainant 
present, and exhibited a pistol with a 
declared intention to carry such threat 
into effect, thereby obstructing the or­
der of the proceedings, and endeavor­
ing to bring the same into contempt; 
and

“Whereas it further appears that said 
defendant habitually attends before 
said examiner carrying a pistol,PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

“ I t  is  o r d e r e d , That the marshal of this 
court take such measures as may be 
necessary to disarm the said defen­
dant, and keep her disarmed, and un­
der strict surveillance, while she is at­
tending the examination of witnesses 
before said examiner, and whenever 
attending in court, and that a deputy 
be detailed for that purpose.” 18SRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C h a p te r IV . D e c is io n  o f th e  C a se in  th e  

F e d e ra l C o u rt.

The taking of the testimony being completed, 
the cause was set for a hearing on September 
9th. After an argument of thirteen days the 
cause was submitted on the 29th of Septem­
ber, 1885. On the 26th of December, 1885, 
the court rendered its decision, that the alleged 
declaration of marriage and the letters purport­
ing to have been addressed “My Dear Wife”  
were false and forged, and that the contempo-

A p p o in te d ch ie f ju s tice o f th e C a lifo rn ia su p re m e  

co u rt in 1 8 6 8 , L o re n zo S a w ye r p re s id e d o ve r th e  

S h a ro n ca se . A n o rg a n ize r o f C a lifo rn ia ’s R e p u b li­

ca n p a rty , S a w ye r w a s a p p o in te d to th e N in th C ir­

cu it in  1 8 7 0  w h e n  C o n g re ss  p ro v id e d  fo r c ircu it co u rt 

ju d g e s . H e  se rve d in  th a t ca p a c ity  u n til h is  d e a th in  

1 8 9 1 .

raneous conduct of the parties, and particularly 
of the defendant, was altogether incompatible 
with the claim of marriage or the existence of 
any such declaration or letters.19

A decree was ordered accordingly, and the 
court made the following further order:

“As the case was argued and submit­
ted during the lifetime of the com­
plainant, who has since deceased, the 
decree will  be entered nunc pro tunc, 
as of September 29,1885, the date of 
its submission and a day prior to the 
decease of the complainant.”20 

The opinion of the court was delivered by
Judge Deady,21 of the United States District 
Court of Oregon, who sat in the case with Judge 
Sawyer,22 the circuit judge.

Of the old negress under whose direc­
tion the fraudulent marriage contract had been 
manufactured, and under whose advice and 
direction the suit in the state court had been 
brought, the Judge said:
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“Mary E. Pleasant, better known as
Mammie Pleasant, is a conspicuous 
and important figure in this affair; 
without her it would probably never 
have been brought before the pub­
lic. She appears to be a shrewd old 
negress of some means.

“ In my judgment this case and 
the forgeries and peijuries committed 
in its support had their origin largely 
in the brain of this scheming, traffick­
ing, crafty old woman.”

He found that the declaration of marriage 
was forged by the defendant by writing the dec­
laration over a simulated signature, and that her 
claim to be the wife of the plaintiff  was wholly 
false, and had been put forth by her and her co­
conspirators for no other purpose than to de­
spoil the plaintiff  of his property. Judge Sawyer 
also filed an opinion in the case, in which he 
declared that the weight of the evidence satis­
factorily established the forgery and the fraud­
ulent character of the instrument in question.

Chapter V. The Marriage of TerrySRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

and Miss Hill.

Sarah Althea now received a powerful recruit, 
who enlisted for the war. This was one of her 
lawyers, David S. Terry, whom she married on 
the 7th day of January, 1886, twelve days after 
the decision of the Circuit Court against her, 
and which he had heard announced, but before 
a decree had been entered in conformity with 
the decision. Terry seemed willing  to take the 
chances that the decree of the Superior Court 
would not be reversed in the Supreme Court of 
the State. The decision of the federal court he 
affected to utterly disregard. It was estimated 
that not less than $5,000,000 would be Sarah 
Althea’s share of Sharon’s estate, in the event of 
success in her suit. She would be a rich widow 
if  it could be established that she had ever been 
a wife. She had quarreled with Tyler, her prin­
cipal attorney, long before, and accused him of 
failing in his professional duty. If  she could es­

cape from the obligations of her contract with 
him, she would not be compelled to divide with 
him the hoped-for $5,000,000.

Although Judge Terry had been Chief 
Justice of the Supreme Court of California, 
the crimes of perjury and forgery and sub­
ornation of perjury which had been loudly 
charged in Judge Sullivan’s opinion against 
the woman, in whose favor he gave judgment, 
seemed to him but trifles. Strangely enough, 
neither he nor Sarah Althea ever uttered a word 
of resentment against him on account of these 
charges.

The marriage of Terry with this desperate 
woman in the face of an adverse decision of the 
Circuit Court, by which jurisdiction was first 
exercised upon the subject-matter, was notice 
to all concerned that, by all the methods known 
to him, he would endeavor to win her cause, 
which he thus made his own. He took the posi­
tion that any denial of Sarah Althea’s pretense 
to have been the wife of Sharon was an insult to 
her, which could only be atoned by the blood of 
the person who made it. This was the procla­
mation of a vendetta against all who should 
attempt to defend the heirs of Mr. Sharon in 
the possession of that half of their inheritance 
which he and Sarah Althea had marked for their 
own. His subsequent course showed that he re­
lied upon the power of intimidation to secure 
success. He was a man of powerful frame, ac­
customed all his life to the use of weapons, 
and known to be always armed with a knife. 
He had the reputation of being a fighting man. 
He had decided that Sarah Althea had been the 
lawful wife of Sharon, and that therefore he 
had married a virtuous widow. He had not of­
ten been crossed in his purpose or been resisted 
when he had once taken a position. By his mar­
riage he virtually served notice on the judges of 
the Supreme Court of the State, before whom 
the appeal was then pending, that he would 
not tamely submit to be by them proclaimed 
to be the dupe of the discarded woman of an­
other. It was well understood that he intended 
to hold them personally responsible to him for 
any decision that would have that effect. These
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intentions were said to have been made known 
to them.

His rule in life, as once stated by him­
self, was to compel acquiescence in his will  
by threats of violence, and known readiness 
to carry his threats into effect. This, be said, 
would in most cases insure the desired result. 
He counted on men’s reluctance to engage in 
personal difficulties with him. He believed in 
the persuasiveness of ruffianism.

Whether he thought his marriage would 
frighten Judges Sawyer and Deady, who had 
just rendered their decision in the United States 
Circuit Court, and cause them either to mod­
ify  the terms of the decree not yet entered, or 
deter them from its enforcement, is a matter of 
uncertainty. He was of the ultra State’s-rights 
school and had great faith in the power of the 
courts of a State when arrayed against those 
of the United States. He had always denied the 
jurisdiction of the latter in the case of Sarah 
Althea, both as to the subject-matter and as to 
the parties. He refused to see any difference be­
tween a suit for a divorce and a suit to cancel a 
forged paper, which, if  allowed to pass as gen­
uine, would entitle its holder to another’s prop­
erty. He persisted in denying that Sharon had 
been a citizen of Nevada during his lifetime, 
and ignored the determination of this question 
by the Circuit Court.

But if  Judge Terry had counted on the fears 
of the United States judges of California he had 
reckoned too boldly, for on the 15th of January, 
1886, eight days after his marriage, the decree 
of the Circuit Court was formally entered. This 
decree adjudged the alleged marriage contract 
of August 25, 1880, false, counterfeited, fab­
ricated, and fraudulent, and ordered that it be 
surrendered to be cancelled and annulled, and 
be kept in the custody of the clerk, subject to 
the further order of the court; and Sarah Althea 
Hill  and her representatives were perpetually 
enjoined from alleging the genuineness or the 
validity of the instrument, or making use of it 
in any way to support her claims as wife of the 
complainant.

The execution of this decree would, of 
course, put an end to Sarah Althea’s claim, 
the hope of maintaining which was supposed 
to have been the motive of the marriage. To 
defeat its execution then became the sole ob­
ject of Terry’s life. This he hoped to do by 
antagonizing it with a favorable decision of 
the Supreme Court of the State, on the ap­
peals pending therein. It has heretofore been 
stated that the case against Sharon in the Su­
perior Court was removed from the calendar 
on the 14th day of November, 1885, because 
of the defendant’s death on the previous day. 
The 11th of February following, upon proper 
application, the court ordered the substitution 
of Frederick W. Sharon as executor and sole 
defendant in the suit in the place of William 
Sharon, deceased. The motion for a new trial 
was argued on the 28th of the following May, 
and held under advisement until the 4th of the 
following October, when it was denied. From 
this order of denial an appeal was taken by the 
defendant.

It must be borne in mind that there were 
now two appeals in this case to the Supreme 
Court of the State from the Superior Court. 
One taken on the 25th of February, 1885, from 
the judgment of Judge Sullivan, and from his 
order for alimony and fees, and the other an 
appeal taken October 4, 1886, from the order 
denying the new trial in the cause.

On the 31 st of January, 1888, the Supreme 
Court rendered its decision, affirming the 
judgment of the Superior Court in favor of 
Sarah Althea, but reversing the order made by 
Judge Sullivan granting counsel fees, and re­
ducing the allowance for alimony from $2,500 
per month to $500. Four judges concurred in 
the decision, namely, McKinstry,23 Searles,24 
Patterson,25 and Temple.26 Three judges dis­
sented, to wit, Thornton,27 Sharpstein,28 and 
McFarland.29

There then remained pending in the same 
court the appeal from the order granting a new 
trial. It was reasonable that Terry should ex­
pect a favorable decision on this appeal, as
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soon as it could be reached. This accomplished, 
he and Sarah Althea thought to enter upon 
the enjoyment of the great prize for which 
they had contended with such desperate en­
ergy. Terry had always regarded the decree of 
the Circuit Court as a mere harmless expres­
sion of opinion, which there would be no at­
tempt to enforce, and which the state courts 
would wholly ignore. Whatever force it might 
finally be given by the Supreme Court of the 
United States appeared to him a question far 
in the future, for he supposed he had taken 
an appeal from the decree. This attempted ap­
peal was found to be without effect, because 
when ordered the suit had abated by the death 
of the plaintiff, and no appeal could be taken 
until the case was revived by order of the court. 
This order was never applied for. The two years 
within which an appeal could have been taken 
expired January 15, 1888. The decree of the 
Circuit Court had therefore become final at 
that time.

Chapter VI. The Bill of Revivor.

It was at this stage of the prolonged legal con­
troversy that Justice Field first sat in the case. 
The executor of the Sharon estate, on the 12th 
of March, 1888, filed a bill of reviver in the 
United States Circuit Court. This was a suit 
to revive the case of Sharon vs. Hill, that its 
decree might stand in the same condition and 
plight in which it was at the time of its en­
try, which, being PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAn u n c p r o tu n c , was of the 
same effect as if  the entry had preceded the 
death of Mr. Sharon, the case having been ar­
gued and submitted during his lifetime. The 
decree directed the surrender and cancellation 
of the forged marriage certificate, and perpet­
ually enjoined Sarah Althea Hill,  and her rep­
resentatives, from alleging the genuineness or 
validity of that instrument, or making any use 
of the same in evidence, or otherwise to sup­
port any rights claimed under it.

The necessity for this suit was the fact that 
the forged paper had not been surrendered for 
cancellation, as ordered by the decree, and the

plaintiff feared that the defendant would claim 
and seek to enforce property rights as wife of 
the plaintiff, by authority of the alleged writ­
ten declaration of marriage, under the decree of 
another court, essentially founded thereupon, 
contrary to the perpetual injunction ordered 
by the Circuit Court. To this suit, David S. 
Terry, as husband of the defendant, was made 
a party. It merely asked the Circuit Court to 
place its own decree in a position to be ex­
ecuted, and thereby prevent the spoliation of 
the Sharon estate, under the authority of the 
decree of Judge Sullivan in the suit in the state 
court subsequently commenced. A demurrer 
was filed by the defendant. It was argued in 
July before Justice Field, Judge Sawyer, and 
District Judge Sabin.30 It was overruled on the 
3d of September, when the court ordered that 
the original suit of Sharon against Hill, and 
the final decree therein, stand revived in the 
name of Frederick W. Sharon as executor, and 
that the said suit and the proceedings therein 
be in the same plight and condition they were 
in at the death of William Sharon, so as to give 
the executor, complainant as aforesaid, the full  
benefit, rights, and protection of the decree, 
and full power to enforce the same against 
the defendants, and each of them, at all times 
and in all places, and in all particulars. The 
opinion in the case was delivered by Justice 
Field. During its delivery he was interrupted by 
Mrs. Terry with violent and abusive language, 
and an attempt by her to take a pistol from a 
satchel which she held in her hand. Her re­
moval from the court-room by order of Justice 
Field; her husband’s assault upon the marshal 
with a deadly weapon for executing the order, 
and the imprisonment of both the Terrys for 
contempt of court, will  be more particularly 
narrated hereafter.

The commencement of the proceedings 
for the revival of the suit was well calculated 
to alarm the Terrys. They saw that the decree 
in the Circuit Court was to be relied upon 
for something more than its mere moral ef­
fect. Their feeling towards Judges Sawyer and 
Deady was one of most intense hatred. Judge
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Deady was at his home in Oregon, beyond the 
reach of physical violence at their hands, but 
Judge Sawyer was in San Francisco attending 
to his official duties. Upon him they took an 
occasion to vent their wrath.

It was on the 14th of August, 1888, after 
the commencement of the revivor proceedings, 
but before the decision. Judge Sawyer was re­
turning in the railway train to San Francisco 
from Los Angeles, where he had been to hold 
court. Judge Terry and his wife took the same 
train at Fresno. Judge Sawyer occupied a seat 
near the center of the sleeping-car, and Judge 
and Mrs. Terry took the last section of the car, 
behind him, and on the same side. A few min­
utes after leaving Fresno, Mrs. Terry walked 
down the aisle to a point just beyond Judge 
Sawyer, and turning around with an ugly glare 
at him, hissed out, in a spiteful and contemptu­
ous tone: “Are you here?”  to which the Judge 
quietly replied: “Yes, Madam,”  and bowed. She 
then resumed her seat. A few minutes after, 
Judge Terry walked down the aisle about the 
same distance, looked over into the end sec­
tion at the front of the car, and finding it va­
cant, went back, got a small hand-bag, and re­
turned and seated himself in the front section, 
with his back to the engine and facing Judge 
Sawyer. Mrs. Terry did not (at the moment) ac­
company him. A few minutes later she walked 
rapidly down the passage, and as she passed 
Judge Sawyer, seized hold of his hair at the 
back of his head, gave it a spiteful twitch and 
passed quickly on, before he could fully  realize 
what had occurred. After passing she turned a 
vicious glance upon him, which was continued 
for some time after taking her seat by the side 
of her husband. A passenger heard Mrs. Terry 
say to her husband: “ I will  give him a taste of 
what he will  get bye and bye.”  Judge Terry was 
heard to remark: “The best thing to do with him 
would be to take him down the bay and drown 
him.”  Upon the arrival of Judge Sawyer at San 
Francisco, he entered a street car, and was fol­
lowed by the Terrys. Mrs. Terry took a third 
seat from him, and seeing him, said: “What, 
are you in this car, too?”  When the Terrys left 
the car Mrs. Terry addressed some remark to

Judge Sawyer in a spiteful tone, and repeated 
it. He said he did not quite catch it, but it was 
something like this: “We will  meet again. This 
is not the end of it.”

Persons at all familiar with the tricks of 
those who seek human life, and still contrive 
to keep out of the clutches of the law, will  see in 
the scene above recited an attempt to provoke 
an altercation which would have been fatal to 
Judge Sawyer, if  he had resented the indignity 
put upon him by Mrs. Terry, by even so much as 
a word. This could easily have been made the 
pretext for an altercation between the two men, 
in which the result would not have been doubt­
ful. There could have been no proof that Judge 
Terry knew of his wife’s intention to insult and 
assault Judge Sawyer as she passed him, nor 
could it have been proven that he knew she had 
done so. A remonstrance from Sawyer could 
easily have been construed by Terry, upon the 
statement of his wife, into an original, unpro­
voked, and aggressive affront, it is now, how­
ever, certain that the killing of Judge Sawyer 
was not at that time intended. It may have been, 
to use Mrs. Terry’s words, “ to give him a taste 
of what he would get bye and bye,”  if  he should 
dare to render the decision in the revivor case 
adversely to them.

This incident has been here introduced 
and dwelt upon for the purpose of showing 
the tactics resorted to by the Terrys during 
this litigation, and the methods by which they 
sought to control decisions. It is entirely proba­
ble that they had hopes of intimidating the fed­
eral judges, as many believed some state judges 
had been, and that thus they might “ from the 
nettle danger, pluck the flower safety.” 31

We have seen that they reckoned without 
their host. We shall now see to what extent their 
rage carried them on the day that the decision 
was rendered reviving the decree.

Chapter VII. The Terrys ImprisonedSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

for Contempt.

On the day after Judge Sawyer’s return from 
Los Angeles he called the marshal to his cham­
bers, and notified him of Mrs. Terry’s violent
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conduct towards him on the train in the pres­
ence of her husband, so that he might take such 
steps as he thought proper to keep order when 
they came into the court-building, and see that 
there was no disturbance in the courtroom. 
On the morning of September 3d, the marshal 
was again summoned to Judge Sawyer’s room, 
where Judge Field was also present. They in­
formed him that the decision in the revival suit 
would be rendered that day, and they desired 
him to be present, with a sufficient number 
of bailiffs to keep order in court. They told 
him that judging from the action of the Terrys 
on the train, and the threats they were making 
so publicly, and which were being constantly 
published in the newspapers, it was not impos­
sible that they might create a disturbance in the 
court-room.

When the court opened that day, it found 
Terry and his wife already seated within the 
bar, and immediately in front of the judges. 
As it afterward appeared, they were both on a 
war-footing, he being armed with a concealed 
bowie-knife, and she with a 41-calibre re­
volver, which she carried in a small hand-bag, 
five of its chambers being loaded. The judges 
took their seats on the bench, and very shortly 
afterward Justice Field, who presided, began 
reading the opinion of the court in which both 
of his associates concurred. A printed pam­
phlet copy of this opinion contains 61 pages, 
of which 18 are taken up with a statement of the 
case. The opinion commences at page 19 and 
covers the remaining 42 pages of the pamphlet.

From time to time, as the reading of 
the opinion progressed, Mrs. Terry, who was 
greatly excited, was observed to unclasp and 
clasp again the fastening of her satchel which 
contained her pistol, as if  to be sure she could 
do so at any desired moment. At the 11th page 
of the opinion the following passage occurs:

“The original decree is not self­
executing in all its parts; it may be 
questioned whether any steps could 
be taken for its enforcement, until 
it was revived, but if  this were oth­

erwise, the surrender of the alleged 
marriage contract for cancellation, as 
ordered, requires affirmative action 
on the part of the defendant. The re­
lief  granted is not complete until such 
surrender is made. When the decree 
pronounced the instrument a forgery, 
not only had the plaintiff  the right that 
it should thus be put out of the way of 
being used in the future to his embar­
rassment and the embarrassment of 
his estate, but public justice required 
that it should be formally cancelled, 
that it might constantly bear on its 
face the evidence of its bad charac­
ter, whenever or wherever presented 
or appealed to.”

When Mrs. Terry heard the above words 
concerning the surrender of the alleged mar­
riage contract for cancellation, she first en­
deavored for a few seconds, but unsuccessfully, 
to open the satchel containing her pistol. For 
some reason the catch refused to yield. Then, 
rising to her feet, and placing the satchel before 
her on the table, she addressed the presiding 
justice, saying:

“Are you going to make me give up 
my marriage contract?”

Justice Field said, “Be seated, madam.”  
She repeated her question:

“Are you going to take the responsi­
bility  of ordering me to deliver up that 
contract?”

She was again ordered to resume her seat. 
At this she commenced raving loudly and vio­
lently at the justice in coarse terms, using such 
phrases as these:

“Mr. Justice Field, how much have 
you been bought for? Everybody 
knows that you have been bought; that 
this is a paid decision.”

“How big was the sack?”

“How much have you been paid for 
the decision?”
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“You have been bought by Newland’s 
coin; everybody knows you were sent 
out here by the Newlands to make this 
decision.”32

“Every one of you there have been 
paid for this decision.”

At the commencement of this tirade, and after 
her refusal to desist when twice ordered to do 
so, the presiding justice directed the marshal 
to remove her from the court-room. She said 
defiantly:

“ I will  not be removed from the court­
room; you dare not remove me from 
the court-room.”

Judge Terry made no sign of remonstrance 
with her, had not endeavored to restrain her, 
but had, on the contrary, been seen to nod ap­
provingly to her, as if  assenting to something 
she had said to him just before she sprang to 
her feet. The instant, however, the court di­
rected her removal from the room, of which 
she had thus taken temporary possession, to 
the total suspension of the court proceedings, 
his soul was “ in arms and eager for the fray.”  
As the marshal moved toward the offending 
woman, he rose from his seat, under great ex­
citement, exclaiming, among other things, “No 
living man shall touch my wife!” or words of 
that import, and dealt the marshal a violent 
blow in the face,* breaking one of his front 
teeth. He then unbuttoned his coat and thrust 
his hand under his vest, where his bowie-knife 
was kept, apparently for the purpose of draw­
ing it, when he was seized by persons present, 
his hands held from drawing his weapon, and 
he himself forced down on his back. The mar­
shal, with the assistance of a deputy, then re­
moved Mrs. Terry from the court-room, she 
struggling, screaming, kicking, striking, and 
scratching them as she went, and pouring out 
imprecations upon Judges Field and Sawyer, 
denouncing them as “corrupt scoundrels,”  and

*One of the witnesses stated that Terry also said, “Get a 

written order from the court.”

declaring she would kill  them both. She was 
taken from the room into the main corridor, 
thence into the marshal’s business office, and 
then into an inner room of his office. She did 
not cease struggling when she reached that 
room, but continued her frantic abuse.

While Mrs. Terry was being removed from 
the court-room Terry was held down by sev­
eral strong men. He was thus, by force alone, 
prevented from drawing his knife on the mar­
shal. While thus held he gave vent to coarse 
and denunciatory language against the offi ­
cers. When Mrs. Terry was removed from the 
court-room he was allowed to rise. He at once 
made a swift rush for the door leading to the 
corridor on which was the marshal’s office. As 
he was about leaving the room or immediately 
after stepping out of it, he succeeded in draw­
ing his knife. As he crossed the threshold he 
brandished the knife above his head saying, “ I 
am going to my wife.” There was a terrified 
cry from the bystanders: “He has got a knife.”  
His arms were then seized by a deputy mar­
shal and others present, to prevent him from 
using it, and a desperate struggle ensued. Four 
persons held on to the arms and body of Terry, 
and one presented a pistol to his head, threat­
ening at the same time to shoot him if  he did 
not give up the knife. To these threats Terry 
paid no attention, but held on to the knife, ac­
tually passing it during the struggle from one 
hand to the other. David Neagle then seized the 
handle of the knife and commenced drawing it 
through Terry’s hand, when Terry relinquished 
it.33

The whole scene was one of the wildest 
alarm and confusion. To use the language of 
one of the witnesses, “Terry’s conduct through­
out this affair was most violent. He acted like a 
demon, and all the time while in the corridor he 
used loud and violent language, which could 
be plainly heard in the court-room, and, in fact, 
throughout the building,”  applying to the offi ­
cers vile epithets, and threatening to cut their 
hearts out if  they did not let him go to his wife. 
The knife which Terry drew, and which he af­
terwards designated as “a small sheath knife,”
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was, including the handle, nine and a quarter 
inches long, the blade being five inches, having 
a sharp point, and is commonly called a bowie- 
knife. He himself afterwards represented that 
he drew this knife, not “because he wanted to 
hurt anybody, but because he wanted to force 
his way into the marshal’s office.”

The presiding justice had read only a small 
portion the opinion of the court when he was 
interrupted by the boisterous and violent pro­
ceedings described. On their conclusion, by 
the arrest of the Terrys, he proceeded with 
the reading of the opinion, which occupied 
nearly a whole hour: The justices, without 
adjourning the court, then retired to the ad­
joining chambers of the presiding justice for 
deliberation. They there considered of the ac­
tion which should be taken against the Terrys 
for their disorderly and contemptuous conduct. 
After determining what that should be they re­
turned to the court-room and announced it. For 
their conduct and resistance to the execution 
of the order of the court both were adjudged 
guilty of contempt and ordered, as a punish­
ment, to be imprisoned in the county jail, Terry 
for six months and his wife for thirty days. 
When Terry heard of the order, and the com­
mitment was read to him, he said, “Judge Field”  
(applying to him a coarse and vituperative ep­
ithet) “ thinks when I get out, when I get re­
leased from jail, that he will  be in Washington, 
but I will  meet him when he comes back next 
year, and it will  not be a very pleasant meeting 
for him.”

Mrs. Terry said that she would kill  both 
Judges Field and Sawyer, and repeated the 
threat several times. While the prisoners were 
being taken to jail, Mrs. Terry said to her hus­
band, referring to Judge Sawyer: “ I wooledhim 
good on the train coming from Los Angeles. 
He has never told that.” To which he replied: 
“He will  not tell that; that was too good.”

She said she could have shot Judge Field 
and killed him from where she stood in the 
court-room, but that she was not ready then 
to kill  the old villain; she wanted him to live 
longer. While crossing the ferry to Oakland

she said, “ I could have killed Judges Field and 
Sawyer; I could shoot either one of them, and 
you would not find a judge or a jury in the 
State would convict me.” She repeated this, 
and Terry answered, saying: “No, you could 
not find a jury that would convict any one 
for killing the old villain,” referring to Judge 
Field.

The jailer at Alameda testified that one 
day Mrs. Terry showed him the sheath of her 
husband’s knife, saying: “That is the sheath of 
that big bowie-knife that the Judge drew. Don’t 
you think it is a large knife?”  Judge Terry was 
present, and laughed and said: “Yes; I always 
carry that,”  meaning the knife.

To J. H. O’Brien, a well-known citizen, 
Judge Terry, said that “after he got out of jail he 
would horsewhip Judge Field. He said he did 
not think he would ever return to California, 
but this earth was not large enough to keep him 
from finding Judge Field, and horsewhipping 
him,”  and said, “ if  he resents it I will  kill  him.”

To a newspaper writer, Thomas T. 
Williams, he said: “Judge Field would not dare 
to come out to the Pacific Coast, and he would 
have a settlement with him if  he did come.” 34

J. M. Shannon, a friend of Terry’s forthirty 
years, testified that while the Terrys were in jail 
he called there with Mr. Wigginton, formerly 
a member of Congress from California; that 
during the call Mrs. Terry said something to 
her husband to the effect that they could not do 
anything at all in regard to it. He said: “Yes, we 
can.”  She asked what they could do.35 He said: 
“ I can kill  old Sawyer, damn him. I will  kill  
old Sawyer, and then the President will  have to 
appoint some one in his place.” In saying this 
“he brought his fist down hard and seemed to 
be mad.”

Ex-Congressman Wigginton also testified 
concerning this visit to Terry. It occurred soon 
after the commitment. He went to arrange 
about some case in which he and Terry were 
counsel on opposite sides. He told Terry of a 
rumor that there was some old grudge or dif­
ference between him and Judge Field. Terry 
said there was none he knew of. He said:
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“ I co u ld  h a ve  k ille d  Ju d g e s  

F ie ld a n d S a w ye r; I co u ld  

sh o o t e ith e r o n e o f th e m , 

a n d yo u w o u ld n o t f in d  

a ju d g e o r a ju ry in th e  

S ta te w o u ld co n v ic t m e ,”  

c la im e d  S a ra h  A lth e a  T e rry , 

re fe rr in g to h e r d e s ire to  

a ve n g e h e rse lf a g a in s t th e  

ju d g e s w h o d e c id e d h e r 

ca se  u n fa vo ra b ly .zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

‘“When Judge Field’s name was men­
tioned as candidate for President 
of the United States,’—I think he 
said,—‘when I was a delegate to the 
convention, it being supposed that 
I had certain influence with a cer­
tain political element, that also had 
delegates in the convention, some 
friend or friends’—I will  not be sure 
whether it was friend or friends—‘of

Judge Field came to me and asked 
for my influence with these delegates 
to secure the nomination for Judge 
Field. My answer’—I am now stating 
the language as near as I can of Judge 
Terry’s—‘my answer was, “no, I have 
no influence with that element”  I un­
derstood it to be the workingmen’s 
delegates. I could not control these 
delegates, and if  I could would not



1 2 6JIHGFEDCBAJOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORYzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

control them forField.’ He said: ‘That 
may have caused some alienation, but 
I do not know that Field knew that.’ ”

Mr. Wigginton said that Mrs. Terry asked 
her husband what he could do, and he replied, 
showing more feeling than he had before: “Do? 
I can kill  old Sawyer, and by God, if  necessary, I 
will,  and the President will  then have to appoint 
some one else in his place.”36

Chapter VIII. Terry’s Petition to the

Circuit Court for a Release— ItsSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Refusal—He Appeals to the Supreme 

Court—Unanimous Decision against

Him there—President Cleveland 

Refuses to Pardon Him—Falsehoods 

Refuted.

On the 12th of September Terry petitioned the 
Circuit Court for a revocation of the order 
of imprisonment in his case, and in support 
thereof made the following statement under 
oath:

“That when petitioner’s wife, the said
Sarah A. Terry, first arose from her 
seat, and before she uttered a word, 
your petitioner used every effort in his 
power to cause her to resume her seat 
and remain quiet, and he did nothing 
to encourage her in her acts of indis­
cretion; when this court made the or­
der that petitioner’s wife be removed 
from the court-room your petitioner 
arose from his seat with the inten­
tion and purpose of himself remov­
ing her from the court-room quietly 
and peaceably, and that he had no in­
tention or design of obstructing or 
preventing the execution of said or­
der of the court; that he never struck 
or offered to strike the United States 
marshal until the said marshal had as­
saulted himself, and had in his pres­
ence violently, and as he believed un­
necessarily, assaulted the petitioner’s 
wife.

“Your petitioner most solemnly 
swears that he neither drew nor at­
tempted to draw any deadly weapon 
of any kind whatever in said court­
room, and that he did not assault or 
attempt to assault the U.S. marshal 
with any deadly weapon in said court­
room or elsewhere. And in this con­
nection he respectfully represents that 
after he left said court-room he heard 
loud talking in one of the rooms of the 
U.S. marshal, and among the voices 
proceeding therefrom he recognized 
that of his wife, and he thereupon at­
tempted to force his way into said 
room through the main office of the 
United States marshal; the door of the 
room was blocked by such a crowd of 
men that the door could not be closed; 
that your petitioner then, for the first 
time, drew from inside his vest a small 
sheath-knife, at the same time say­
ing to those standing in his way in 
said door, that he did not want to hurt 
any one; that all he wanted was to get 
into the room where his wife was. The 
crowd then parted and your petitioner 
entered the doorway, and there saw 
a United States deputy marshal with 
a revolver in his hand pointed to the 
ceiling of the room. Some one then 
said: ‘Let him in if  he will  give up 
his knife,’ and your petitioner imme­
diately released hold of the knife to 
some one standing by.

“ In none of these transactions 
did your petitioner have the slightest 
idea of showing any disrespect to this 
honorable court or any of the judges 
thereof.

“That he lost his temper, he re­
spectfully submits was a natural con­
sequence of himself being assaulted 
when he was making an honest effort 
to peaceably and quietly enforce the 
order of the court, so as avoid a scan­
dalous scene, and of his seeing his
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wife so unnecessarily assaulted in his 
presence.”

It will  be observed that Terry, in his pe­
tition, contradicts the facts recited in the or­
ders for the commitment of himself and his 
wife. These orders were made by Justice Field, 
Circuit Judge Sawyer, and District Judge Sabin 
from the district of Nevada, who did not de­
pend upon the testimony of others for informa­
tion as to the facts in the case, but were, them­
selves, eye witnesses and spoke from personal 
observation and absolute knowledge.

In passing upon Terry’s petition, these 
judges, speaking through Justice Field, who

delivered the opinion of the court, bore testi­
mony to a more particular account of the con­
duct of Terry and his wife than had been given 
in the order for the commitment. As the scene 
has already been described at length, this por­
tion of the opinion of the court would be a 
mere repetition, and is therefore omitted. Af ­
ter reciting the facts, Justice Field referred to 
the gravity of Terry’s offense in the following 
terms:

“The misbehavior of the defendant, 
David S. Terry, in the presence of 
the court, in the court-room, and in 
the corridor, which was near thereto,
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and in one of which (and it matters 
not which) he drew his bowie-knife, 
and brandished it with threats against 
the deputy of the marshal and others 
aiding him, is sufficient of itself to 
justify the punishment imposed. But, 
great as this offense was, the forcible 
resistance offered to the marshal in 
his attempt to execute the order of 
the court, and beating him, was a far 
greater and more serious affair. The 
resistance and beating was the high­
est possible indignity to the Govern­
ment. When the flag of the country 
is fired upon and insulted, it is not 
the injury to the bunting, the linen, or 
silk on which the stars and stripes are 
stamped which startles and arouses 
the country. It is the indignity and 
insult to the emblem of the nation’s 
majesty which stirs every heart, and 
makes every patriot eager to resent 
them. So, the forcible resistance to 
an officer of the United States in the 
execution of the process, orders, and 
judgments of their courts is in like 
manner an indignity and insult to the 
power and authority of the Govern­
ment which can neither be overlooked 
nor extenuated.”

After reviewing Terry’s statement, Justice 
Field said:

“We have read this petition with great 
surprise at its omissions and misstate­
ments. As to what occurred under 
our immediate observation, its state­
ments do not accord with the facts as 
we saw them; as to what occurred at 
the further end of the room and in the 
corridor, its statements are directly 
opposed to the concurring accounts 
of the officers of the court and par­
ties present, whose position was such 
as to preclude error in their observa­
tions. According to the sworn state­

ment of the marshal, which accords 
with our own observations, so far 
from having struck or assaulted Terry, 
he had not even laid his hands upon 
him when the violent blow in the face 
was received. And it is clearly beyond 
controversy that Terry never voluntar­
ily surrendered his bowie-knife, and 
that it was wrenched from him only 
after a violent struggle.

“We can only account for his 
misstatement of facts as they were 
seen by several witnesses, by suppos­
ing that he was in such a rage at the 
time that he lost command of himself, 
and does not well remember what he 
then did, or what he then said. Some 
judgment as to the weight this state­
ment should receive, independently 
of the incontrovertible facts at vari­
ance with it, may be formed from his 
speaking of the deadly bowie-knife he 
drew as ‘a small sheath-knife,’ and 
of the shameless language and con­
duct of his wife as ‘her acts of indis­
cretion.’

“No one can believe that he 
thrust his hand under his vest where 
his bowie-knife was carried without 
intending to draw it. To believe that 
he placed his right hand there for any 
other purpose—such as to rest it af­
ter the violent fatigue of the blow in 
the marshal’s face or to smooth down 
his ruffled linen—would be childish 
credulity.

“But even his own statement ad­
mits the assaulting of the marshal, 
who was endeavoring to enforce the 
order of the court, and his subse­
quently drawing a knife to force his 
way into the room where the mar­
shal had removed his wife. Yet he 
offers no apology for his conduct; 
expresses no regret for what he did, 
and makes no reference to his violent
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and vituperative language against the 
judges and officers of the court, while 
under arrest, which is detailed in the 
affidavits filed.”

In refusing to grant the petition the court
said:

“There is nothing in his petition 
which would justify any remission 
of the imprisonment. The law im­
putes an attempt to accomplish the 
natural result of one’s acts, and when 
these acts are of a criminal nature it 
will  not accept, against such impli­
cation, the denial of the transgressor.
No one would be safe if  the denial 
of a wrongful or criminal act would 
suffice to release the violator of the 
law from the punishment due his 
offenses.”

On September 17, 1888, after the an­
nouncement of the opinion of the court by

Mr. Justice Field denying the petition of D. S. 
Terry for a revocation of the order commit­
ting him for contempt,37 Mr. Terry made public 
a correspondence between himself and Judge 
Solomon Heydenfeldt, which explains itself, 
and is as follows:38

“My  De a r Te r r y :

“The papers which our friend
Stanley sends you will  explain what 
we are trying to do. I wish to see Field 
to-morrow and sound his disposition, 
and if  it seems advisable I will  present 
our petition. But in order to be effec­
tive, and perhaps successful, I wish to 
feel assured and be able to give the as­
surance that failure to agree will  not 
be followed by any attempt on your 
part to break the peace either by ac­
tion or demonstration. I know that you 
would never compromise me in any 
such manner, but it will  give me the
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power to make an emphatic assertion 
to that effect and that ought to help.

“Please answer promptly.

“S. HEYDENFELDT.”

The reply of Judge Terry is as follows

“De a r He y d e n f e l d t:

“Your letter was handed me last
evening. I do not expect a favorable 
result from any application to the 
Circuit Court, and I have very re­
luctantly consented that an applica­
tion be made to Judge Field, who will  
probably wish to pay me for my re­
fusal to aid his presidential aspira­
tions four years ago. I had a con­
versation with Garber on Saturday 
last in which I told him if  I was re­
leased I would seek no personal sat­
isfaction for what had passed. You 
may say as emphatically as you wish 
that I do not contemplate breaking 
the peace, and that, so far from seek­
ing, I will  avoid meeting any of the 
parties concerned. I will  not promise 
that I will refrain from denouncing 
the decision or its authors. I believe 
that the decision was purchased and 
paid for with coin from the Sharon 
estate, and I would stay here for ten 
years before I would say that I did 
not so believe. If  the judges of the 
Circuit Court would do what is right 
they would revoke the order impris­
oning my wife. She certainly was 
in contempt of court, but that great 
provocation was given by going out­
side the record to smirch her charac­
ter ought to be taken into consider­
ation in mitigation of the sentence. 
Field, when a legislator, thought that 
no court should be allowed to punish 
for contempt by imprisonment for a 
longer period than five days. My wife 
has already been in prison double that 
time for words spoken under very 
great provocation. No matter what the

result, I propose to stay here until my 
wife is dismissed.

“Yours truly,

“D. S. TERRY.”

In the opinion of the court, referred to in 
the foregoing letter as “smirching the charac­
ter” of Mrs. Terry, there was nothing said re­
flecting upon her, except what was contained in 
quotations from the opinion of Judge Sullivan 
of the State court in the divorce case of Sharon 
vs. Hill  in her favor. These quotations com­
menced at page 58 of the pamphlet copy of 
Justice Field’s opinion, when less than three 
pages remained to be read. It was at page 29 
of the pamphlet that Justice Field was read­
ing when Mrs. Terry interrupted him and was 
removed from the court-room. After her re­
moval he resumed the reading of the opin­
ion, and only after reading 29 pages, occu­
pying nearly an hour, did he reach the quo­
tations in which Judge Sullivan expressed his 
own opinion that Mrs. Terry had committed 
perjury several times in his court. The read­
ing of them could not possibly have furnished 
her any provocation for her conduct. She had 
then been removed from the court-room more 
than an hour. Besides, if  they “smirched” her 
character, why did she submit to them compla­
cently when they were originally uttered from 
the bench by Judge Sullivan in his opinion ren­
dered in her favor?

Justice Field, in what he was reading that 
so incensed Mrs. Terry, was simply stating the 
effect of a decree previously rendered in a case, 
in the trial of which he had taken no part. He 
was stating the law as to the rights established 
by that decree. The efforts then made by Terry, 
and subsequently by his friends and counsel, 
to make it appear that his assault upon the mar­
shal and defiance of the court were caused 
by his righteous indignation at assaults made 
by Judge Field upon his wife’s character were 
puerile, because based on a falsehood. The best 
proof of this is the opinion itself.

Judge Terry next applied to the Supreme 
Court of the United States for a writ of habeas
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corpus. In that application he declared that on 
the 12th day of September, 1888, he addressed 
to the Circuit Court a petition duly verified by 
his oath, and then stated the petition for re­
lease above quoted. Yet in a communication 
published in the PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS a n F r a n c is c o E x a m in e r of 
October 22d he solemnly declared that this 
very petition was not filed by any one on his be­
half. After full  argument by the Supreme Court 
the writ was denied, November 12, 1888, by an 
unanimous court, Justice Field, of course, not 
sitting in the case. Justice Harlan delivered the 
opinion of the Court.39SRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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Before the petition for habeus corpus was pre­
sented to the Supreme Court of the United 
States, Judge Terry’s friends made a strenu­

ous effort to secure his pardon from President 
Cleveland. The President declined to interfere. 
In his efforts in that direction Judge Terry made 
gross misrepresentations as to Judge Field’s re­
lation with himself, which were fully refuted 
by Judge Heydenfeldt, the very witness he had 
invoked. Judge Heydenfeldt had been an As­
sociate of Judge Terry on the State supreme 
bench.40 These representations and their refu­
tation are here given as a necessary element in 
this narrative.

Five days after he had been imprisoned, to 
wit, September 8, Terry wrote a letter to his 
friend Zachariah Montgomery at Washington, 
then Assistant Attorney-General for the Inte­
rior Department under the Grant Administra­
tion, in which he asked his aid to obtain a par­
don from the President. Knowing that it would 
be useless to ask this upon the record of his 
conduct as shown by the order of his commit­
ment, he resorted to the desperate expedient of
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endeavoring to overcome that record by putting 
his own oath to a false statement of the facts, 
against the statement of the three judges, made 
on their own knowledge, as eye-witnesses, and 
supported by the affidavits of court officers, 
lawyers, and spectators.

To Montgomery he wrote:

“ I have made a plain statement of the 
facts which occurred in the court, and 
upon that propose to ask the interven­
tion of the President, and I request 
you to see the President; tell him all 
you know of me, and what degree of 
credit should be given to a statement 
by me upon my own knowledge of the 
facts. When you read the statement I 
have made you will  be satisfied that 
the statement in the order of the court 
is false.”

He then proceeded to tell his story as he 
told it in his petition to the Circuit Court. His 
false representations as to the assault he made 
upon the marshal, and as to his alleged provo­
cation therefor, were puerile in the extreme. 
He stood alone in his declaration that the mar­
shal first assaulted him, while the three judges 
and a dozen witnesses declared the very oppo­
site. His denial that he had assaulted the mar­
shal with a deadly weapon was contradicted by 
the judges and the others, who said they saw 
him attempt to draw a knife in the court-room, 
which attempt, followed up as it was contin­
ually until successful, constituted an assault 
with that weapon. To call his bowie-knife “a 
small sheath-knife,” and the outrageous con­
duct of his wife “acts of indiscretion;”  to pre­
tend that he lost his temper because he was 
assaulted “while making an honest effort to 
peaceably and quietly enforce the order of the 
court,”  and finally to pretend that his wife had 
been “unnecessarily assaulted”  in his presence, 
was all not only false, but simply absurd and 
ridiculous.

He said: “ I don’t want to stay in prison 
six months for an offense of which I am not 
guilty. There is no way left except to appeal

to the President. The record of a court imports 
absolute verity, so I am not allowed to show 
that the record of the Circuit Court is absolutely 
false. If  you can help me in this matter you will  
confer on me the greatest possible favor.”

He told Montgomery that it had been sug­
gested to him that one reason for Field’s con­
duct was his refusal to support the latter’s as­
pirations for the Presidency. In this connection 
he made the following statement:

“ In March, 1884, I received a note 
from my friend Judge Heydenfeldt, 
saying that he wished to see me on 
important business, and asking me 
to call at his office. I did so, and 
he informed me that he had received 
a letter from Judge Field, who was 
confident that if he could get the 
vote of California in the Democratic 
National Convention, which would 
assemble that year, he would be nom­
inated for President and would be 
elected as, with the influence of his 
family and their connection, that he 
would certainly carry New York; that 
Judge Field further said that a Con­
gressman from California and other 
of his friends had said that if I 
would aid him, I could give him the 
California delegation; that he under­
stood I wanted official recognition as, 
because of my duel years ago, I was 
under a cloud; that if  I would aid him,
I should have anything I desired.”

It will be observed that he here posi­
tively states that Judge Heydenfeldt told him 
he had received a letter from Judge Field, ask­
ing Terry’s aid and promising, for it, a reward. 
Judge Heydenfeldt, in a letter dated August 21, 
1889, to the PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS a n F r a n c is c o E x a m in e r , branded 
Terry’s assertion as false. The letter to the E x­

a m in e r is as follows:

“The statement made in to-day’s E x­

a m in e r in reference to the alleged 
letter from Justice Field to me, de­
rived, as is stated by Mr. Ashe, from a
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conversation with Judge Terry, is ut­
terly devoid of truth.41

“ I had at one time, many years 
ago, a letter from Justice Field, in 
which he stated that he was go­
ing to devote his leisure to prepar­
ing for circulation among his friends 
his reminiscences, and, referring to 
those of early California times, he 
requested me to obtain from Judge 
Terry his, Terry’s, version of the 
Terry-Broderick duel, in order that 
his account of it might be accurate.42 

As soon as I received this letter, I 
wrote to Judge Terry, informing him 
of Judge Field’s wishes, and recom­
mending him to comply, as coming, 
as the account would, from friendly 
hands, it would put him correct upon 
the record, and would be in a form 
which would endure as long as nec­
essary for his reputation on that 
subject.

“ I received no answer from Judge 
Terry, but meeting him, some weeks 
after, on the street in this city, he 
excused himself, saying that he had 
been very busy, and adding that it  was 
unnecessary for him to furnish a ver­
sion of the duel, as the published and 
accepted version was correct.

“The letter to me from Justice 
Field above referred to is the only let­
ter from Justice Field to me in which 
Judge Terry’s name was ever men­
tioned, and, with the exception of the 
above-mentioned street conversation, 
Judge Field was never the subject 
of conversation between Judge Terry 
and myself, from the time I left the 
bench, on the 1st of January, 1857, 
up to the time of Terry’s death.

“As to the statement that during 
Terry’s trouble with the Sharon case, 
I offered Terry the use of Field’s let­
ter, it results from what I have above 
stated—that it is a vile falsehood, 
whoever may be responsible for it.

“ I had no such letter, and con­
sequently could have made no such 
offer.

“San Francisco, August 21, 
1889.

“S. HEYDENFELDT.”

Judge Heydenfeldt subsequently addres­
sed the following letter to Judge Field:

“Sa n Fr a n c is c o, PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA u g u s t 31, 1889.
“My  De a r Ju d g e: I received yours of 
yesterday with the extract from the 
Washington P o s t of the 22d inst., con­
taining a copy of a letter from the late 
Judge Terry to the Hon. Zack Mont­
gomery.

“The statement in that letter of a 
conversation between Terry and my­
self in reference to you is untrue. The 
only conversation Terry and I ever 
had in relation to you was, as hereto­
fore stated, in regard to a request from 
you to me to get from Terry his ver­
sion of the Terry-Broderick duel, to 
be used in your intended reminis­
cences.

“ I do not see how Terry could 
have made such an erroneous state­
ment, unless, possibly, he deemed 
that application as an advance made 
by you towards obtaining his polit­
ical friendship, and upon that built 
up a theory, which he moulded into 
the fancy written by him in the Mont­
gomery letter.

“ In all of our correspondence, 
kept up from time to time since your 
first removal to Washington down to 
the present, no letter of yours con­
tained a request to obtain the political 
support of any one.

“ I remain, dear Judge, very truly 
yours,

“S. HEYDENFELDT.

Hon. St e ph e n J. Fie l d ,
“Palace Hotel, San Francisco.”
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At the hearing of the Neagle case. Justice 
Field was asked if  he had been informed of any 
statements made by Judge Terry of ill  feeling 
existing between them before the latter’s im­
prisonment for contempt.43 He replied:

“Yes, sir. Since that time I have seen a 
letter purporting to come from Terry 
to Zack Montgomery, published in 
Washington, in which he ascribed my 
action to personal hostility, because 
he had not supported me in some po­
litical aspiration. There is not one par­
ticle of truth in that statement. It is 
a pure invention. In support of his 
statement he referred to a letter re­
ceived or an interview had with Judge 
Heydenfeldt. There is not the slight­
est foundation for it, and I cannot un­
derstand it, except that the man seems 
to me to have been all changed in 
the last few years, and he did not 
hesitate to assert that the official ac­
tions of others were governed by im­
proper considerations. I saw charges 
made by him against judges of the 
State courts; that they had been cor­
rupt in their decisions against him; 
that they had been bought. That was 
the common assertion made by him 
when decisions were rendered against 
him.”

He then referred to the above letters of 
Judge Heydenfeldt, declaring Terry’s assertion 
to be false.

It should be borne in mind that Terry’s 
letter to Montgomery was written September 
8th. It directly contradicts what he had said 
to ex-Congressman Wigginton on the 5th or 
6th of the same month. To that gentleman he 
declared that he knew of no “old grudge or little 
difference” between himself and Judge Field. 
He said he had declined to support the latter 
for the Presidency, and added: “That may have 
caused some alienation, but I do not know that 
Judge Field knew that.”

In his insane rage Terry did not realize 
how absurd it was to expect people to believeSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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that Judge Sawyer and Judge Sabin, both Re­
publicans, had participated in putting him in 
jail, to punish him for not having supported 
Justice Field for the Presidency in a National 
Democratic Convention years before.

Perhaps Terry thought his reference to the 
fact that Judge Field’s name had been previ­
ously used in Democratic Conventions, in con­
nection with the Presidency, might have some 
effect upon President Cleveland’s mind.

This letter was not forwarded to Zachariah 
Montgomery until a week after it was writ­
ten. He then stated in a postscript that he had 
delayed sending it upon the advice of his at­
torneys pending the application to the Circuit 
Court for his release. Again he charged that the 
judges had made a false record against him, 
and that evidence would be presented to the 
President to show it.

Terry and his friends brought all the pres­
sure to bear that they could command, but the 
President refused his petition for a pardon, and, 
as already shown, the Supreme Court unani­
mously decided that his imprisonment for con­
tempt had been lawfully ordered. He was there­
fore obliged to serve out his time.
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Mrs. Terry served her thirty days in jail, 
and was released on the 3d of October.

There is a federal statute that provides 
for the reduction of a term of imprisonment 
of criminals for good behavior. Judge Terry 
sought to have this statute applied in his case, 
but without success. The Circuit Court held 
that the law relates to state penitentiaries, and 
not to jails, and that the system of credits could 
not be applied to prisoners in jail. Besides this, 
the credits in any case are counted by the year, 
and not by days or months. The law specifies 
that prisoners in state prisons are entitled to 
so many months’ time for the first year, and so 
many for each subsequent year. As Terry’s sen­
tence ran for six months, the court said the law 
could not apply. He consequently remained in 
jail until the 3d of March, 1889.

CHAPTER X. Terry’s Continued ThreatsSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

to Kill Justice Field—Return of the 

Latter to California in 1889.

Justice Field left California for Washington 
in September, 1888, a few days after the de­
nial of Terry’s petition to the Circuit Court 
for a release. The threats against his life and 
that of Judge Sawyer so boldly made by the 
Terrys were as well known as the newspa­
per press could make them. In addition to 
this source of information, reports came from 
many other directions, telling of the rage of the 
Terrys and their murderous intentions. From 
October, 1888, till  his departure for California, 
in June following, 1889, his mail almost ev­
ery day contained reports of what they were 
saying, and the warnings and entreaties of his 
friends against his return to that State. These 
threats came to the knowledge of the Attorney- 
General of the United States, who gave direc­
tions to the marshal of the northern district of 
California to see to it that Justice Field and 
Judge Sawyer should be protected from per­
sonal violence at the hands of these parties.

Justice Field made but one answer to all 
who advised against his going to hold court in 
California in 1889, and that was, “ I cannot and

will  not allow threats of personal violence to 
deter me from the regular performance of my 
judicial duties at the times and places fixed 
by law. As a judge of the highest court of the 
country, I should be ashamed to look any man 
in the face if  I allowed a ruffian, by threats 
against my person, to keep me from holding 
the regular courts in my circuit.”

Terry’s murderous intentions became a 
matter of public notoriety, and members of 
Congress and Senators from the Pacific Coast, 
in interviews with the Attorney-General, con­
firmed the information derived by him from 
other sources of the peril to which the United 
States judges in California were subjected. He, 
in consequence, addressed the following letter 
on the subject to Marshal Franks:44

“De pa r t me n t o f  Ju s t ic e,
“Wa s h in g t o n, PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA p r i l  27, 1889.
“Jo h n C. Fr a n k s,
“ U n ite d S ta te s M a r s h a l , S a n F r a n ­

c is c o , C a l.

“Sir : The proceedings which have 
heretofore been had in the case of 
Mr. and Mrs. Terry in your United 
States Circuit Court have become 
matter of public notoriety, and I deem 
it my duty to call your attention to the 
propriety of exercising unusual pre­
caution, in case farther proceedings 
shall be had in that case, for the pro­
tection of His Honor Justice Field, or 
whoever may be called upon to hear 
and determine the matter. Of course, I 
do not know what may be the feelings 
or purpose of Mr. and Mrs. Terry in 
the premises, but many things which 
have happened indicate that violence 
on their part is not impossible. It is 
due to the dignity and independence 
of the court and the character of its 
judges that no effort on the part of the 
Government shall be spared to make 
them feel entirely safe and free from 
anxiety in the discharge of their high 
duties.
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“You will  understand, of course, 
that this letter is not for the public, but 
to put you upon your guard. It will  
be proper for you to show it to the 
District Attorney if  deemed best.

“Yours truly,

“W. H. H. MILLER,45 PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
“ A  t to r n e y - G e n e r a l . ' ' '’

A month later the Attorney-General authorized 
the employment of special deputies for the pur­
pose named in the foregoing letter.

Chapter XI. Further ProceedingsSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

in the State Court—Judge Sullivan’s 

Decision Reversed.

Mrs. Terry did not wait for the release of her 
husband from jail before renewing the battle. 
On the 22d of January, 1889, she gave notice 
of a motion in the Superior Court for the ap­
pointment of a receiver who should take charge 
of the Sharon estate, which she alleged was 
being squandered to the injury of her interest 
therein acquired under the judgment of Judge 
Sullivan. On the 29th of January an injunc­
tion was issued by the United States Circuit 
Court commanding her and all others to desist 
from this proceeding. The Terrys seemed to 
feel confident that this would bring on a final 
trial of strength between the federal and state 
courts, and that the state court would prevail 
in enforcing its judgment and orders.

The motion for a receiver was submitted 
after full  argument, and on the 3d of June fol­
lowing Judge Sullivan rendered a decision as­
serting the jurisdiction of his court to entertain 
the motion for a receiver, and declaring the de­
cree of the United States Circuit Court inopera­
tive. In his opinion Judge Sullivan reviewed the 
opinion of Justice Field in the revivor suit, tak­
ing issue therewith. As that decision had been 
affirmed by the Supreme Court of the United 
States nearly a month before, to wit, on the 
13th of May, 1889, it was rather late for such a 
discussion. Having thus decided, however, that

the motion for a receiver could be made, he set 
the hearing of the same for July 15, 1889.

On the 27th of May, one week before the 
rendering of this decision by Judge Sullivan, 
the mandate of the United States Supreme 
Court had been filed in the Circuit Court at San 
Francisco, by which the decree of that court 
was affirmed. Whether a receiver would be ap­
pointed by Judge Sullivan, in the face of the 
decision of the Supreme Court of the United 
States, became now an interesting question. 
Terry and his lawyers affected to hold in con­
tempt the Supreme Court decree, and seemed 
to think no serious attempt would be made to 
enforce it.

Meantime, both of the Terrys had been in­
dicted in the United States Circuit Court for the 
several offenses committed by them in assault­
ing the marshal in the court-room as hereinbe­
fore described. These indictments were filed 
on the 20th of September. Dilatory motions 
were granted from time to time, and it was 
not until the 4th of June that demurrers to the 
indictments were filed. The summer vacation 
followed without any argument of these de­
murrers. It was during this vacation that Justice 
Field arrived in California, on the 20th of June. 
The situation then existing was as follows:

The criminal proceedings against the Ter­
rys were at a standstill, having been allowed 
to drag along for nine months, with no farther 
progress than the filing  of demurrers to the in­
dictments.

The appeal to the Supreme Court of the 
State from Judge Sullivan’s order denying a 
new trial had been argued and submitted on 
the 4th of May, but no decision had been 
rendered.

Despite the pendency of that appeal, by 
reason of which the judgment of the Supreme 
Court of the State had not yet become final, 
and despite the mandate of the United States 
Supreme Court affirming the decree in the re­
vivor case, Judge Sullivan had, as we have al­
ready seen, set the 15th of July for the hearing 
of the motion of the Terrys for the appointment 
of a receiver to take charge of the Sharon estate.
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For them to proceed with this motion would be 
a contempt of the United States Circuit Court.

The arrival of Justice Field should have 
instructed Judge Terry that the decree of that 
court could not be defied with impunity, and 
that the injunction issued in it against further 
proceedings upon the judgment in the state 
court would be enforced with all the power 
authorized by the Constitution and laws of the 
United States for the enforcement of judicial 
process.

As the 15th of July approached, the 
lawyers who had been associated with Terry 
commenced discussing among themselves 
what would be the probable consequence to 
them of disobeying an injunction of the United 
States Circuit Court. The attorneys for the 
Sharon estate made known their determination 
to apply to that Court for the enforcement of 
its writ in their behalf. The Terrys’ experience 
in resisting the authority of that court served 
as a warning for their attorneys.

On the morning of the 15th of July Judge 
Terry and his wife appeared, as usual, in the 
Superior Court room. Two of their lawyers 
came in, remained a few minutes and retired. 
Judge Terry himself remained silent. His wife 
arose and addressed the court, saying that her 
lawyers were afraid to appear for her. She 
said they feared if  they should make a mo­
tion in her behalf, for the appointment of a 
receiver, Judge Field would put them in jail; 
therefore, she said, she appeared for herself. 
She said if  she got in jail she would rather 
have her husband outside, and this was why she 
made the motion herself, while he remained a 
spectator.

The hearing was postponed for several 
days. Before the appointed day therefor, the 
Supreme Court of the State, on the 17th of 
July, rendered its decision, reversing the order 
of Judge Sullivan refusing a new trial, thereby 
obliterating the judgment in favor of Sarah 
Althea, and the previous decision of the ap­
pellate court affirming it. The court held that 
this previous judgment had not become the law 
of the case pending the appeal from the order

denying a new trial. It held that where two ap­
peals are taken in the same case, one from the 
judgment and the other from the order deny­
ing a new trial, the whole case must be held 
to be under the control of the Supreme Court 
until the whole is disposed of, and the case 
remanded for further proceedings in the court 
below. The court reversed its previous deci­
sion, and declared that if  the statements made 
by Sarah Althea and by her witnesses had been 
true, she never had been the wife of William 
Sharon, for the reason that, after the date of 
the alleged contract of marriage, the parties 
held themselves out to the public as single and 
unmarried people, and that even according to 
the findings of fact by Judge Sullivan the par­
ties had not assumed marital rights, duties, and 
obligations. The case was therefore remanded 
to the Superior Court for a new trial.

On the 2d of August the demurrers to the 
several indictments against the Terrys came up 
to be heard in the United States District Court. 
The argument upon them concluded on the 5th. 
On the 7th the demurrer to one of the indict­
ments against Sarah Althea was overruled and 
she entered a plea of not guilty. No decision 
was rendered at that time upon either of the 
five other indictments.

On the following day, August 8th, Justice 
Field left San Francisco and went to Los 
Angeles for the purpose of holding court.

Chapter XII. Attempted Assassination ofSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Justice Field, Resulting in Terry’s Own 

Death at the Hands of a Deputy United

States Marshal.

In view of what was so soon to occur, it is 
important to understand the condition of mind 
into which Judge Terry and his wife had now 
wrought themselves. They had been married 
about two years and a half. In their desper­
ate struggle for a share of a rich man’s es­
tate they had made themselves the terror of 
the community. Armed at all times and ready 
for mortal combat with whoever opposed their 
claims, they seemed, up to the 17th of July,
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to have won their way in the State courts by 
intimidation. The decision of the United States 
Circuit Court was rendered before they were 
married. It proclaimed the pretended marriage 
agreement a forgery, and ordered it to be deliv­
ered to the clerk of the court for cancellation. 
Terry’s marriage with Sarah Althea, twelve 
days after this, was a declaration of intention 
to resist its authority.

The conduct of the pair in the Circuit 
Court on the 3d of September must have had 
some object. They may have thought to break 
up the session of the court for that day, and to 
so intimidate the judges that they would not 
carry out their purpose of rendering the deci­
sion; or they may have hoped that, if  rendered, 
it would be allowed to slumber without any 
attempt to enforce it; or even that a rehear­
ing might be granted, and a favorable decision 
forced from the court. It takes a brave man on 
the bench to stand firmly  for his convictions in 
the face of such tactics as were adopted by the 
Terrys. The scene was expected also to have 
its effect upon the minds of the judges of the 
Supreme Court of the State, who then were 
yet to pass finally upon Sullivan’s judgment 
on the appeal from the order denying a new 
trial.

But the Terrys had not looked sufficiently 
at the possible consequence of their actions. 
They had thus far gone unresisted. As District 
Attorney Carey wrote to the Attorney-General:

“They were unable to appreciate that 
an officer should perform his offi ­
cial duty when that duty in any way 
requires that his efforts be directed 
against them.”

When, therefore, Justice Field directed the re­
moval of Mrs. Terry from the court, and when 
her doughty defendant and champion, confi­
dent of being able to defeat the order, found 
himself vanquished in the encounter, disarmed, 
arrested, and finally imprisoned, his rage was 
boundless. He had found a tribunal which 
cared nothing for his threats, and was able to 
overcome his violence. A court that would put

him in the Alameda jail for six months for re­
sisting its order would enforce all its decrees 
with equal certainty.

From the time of the Terrys’ incarcera­
tion in the Alameda county jail their threats 
against Justice Field became a matter of such 
notoriety that the drift of discussion was not so 
much whether they would murder the Justice, 
as to when and under what circumstances they 
would be likely to do so.

There is little doubt that Terry made many 
threats for the express purpose of having them 
reach the knowledge of Judge Field at Wash­
ington, in the hope and belief that they would 
deter him from going to California. He prob­
ably thought that the Judge would prefer to 
avoid a violent conflict, and that if  his absence 
could be assured it might result in allowing the 
decree of the United States Circuit Court to 
remain a dead letter.

He told many people that Justice Field 
would not dare come out to the Pacific Coast. 
He got the idea into his mind, or pretended to, 
that Justice Field had put him in jail in order 
to be able to leave for Washington before a 
meeting could be had with him. Terry would 
of course have preferred Field’s absence and a 
successful execution of Sullivan’s judgment to 
his presence in the State and the enforcement 
of the federal decree.

When the announcement was made that 
Justice Field had left Washington for San 

Francisco, public and private discussions were 
actively engaged in, as to where he would be 
likely to encounter danger. A special deputy 
was sent by the marshal to meet the overland 
train on which he was travelling, at Rena, in 
Nevada.46 The methods of Mrs. Terry defied 
all calculations. She was as likely to make her 
appearance, with her burly husband as an es­
cort, at the State line, as she finally did at 
the breakfast table at Lathrop. Justice Field 
reached his quarters in San Francisco on the 
20th of June. From that day until the 14th of 
August public discussion of what the Terrys 
would do continued. Some of the newspa­
pers seemed bent upon provoking a conflict,
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and inquired with devilish mischief when 
Terry was going to carry out his threatened 
purpose.

The threats of the Terrys and the rumors 
of their intended assault upon Justice Field 
were reported to him and he was advised to 
go armed against such assault, which would be 
aimed against his life. He answered: “No, sir! 
I will  not carry arms, for when it is known that 
the judges of our courts are compelled to arm 
themselves against assaults in consequence of 
their judicial action it will  be time to dissolve 
the courts, consider government a failure, and 
let society lapse into barbarism.”

As the time approached for the hearing of 
the motion for a receiver before Judge Sullivan, 
July 15th, grave apprehensions were enter­
tained of serious trouble. Great impatience was 
expressed with the Supreme Court of the State 
for not rendering its decision upon the appeal 
from the order denying a new trial. It  was hoped 
that the previous decision might be reversed, 
and a conflict between the two jurisdictions 
thus avoided. When the decision came, on the 
17th of July, there seemed to be some relax­
ation of the great tension in the public mind. 
With the Supreme Court of the State, as well 
as the Supreme Court of the United States, 
squarely on the record against Mrs. Terry’s 
pretensions to have been the wife of William 
Sharon, it was hoped that the long war had 
ended.

When Justice Field left San Francisco for 
Los Angeles he had no apprehensions of dan­
ger, and strenuously objected to being accom­
panied by the deputy marshal. Some of his 
friends were less confident. They realized bet­
ter than he did the bitterness that dwelt in the 
hearts of Terry and his wife, intensified as it 
was by the realization of the dismal fact that 
their last hope had expired with the decision 
of the Supreme Court of the State. The mar­
shal was impressed with the danger that would 
attend Justice Field’s journey to and from the 
court at Los Angeles.

He went from San Francisco on the 8th of 
August. After holding court in Los Angeles

he took the train for San Francisco August 
13th, the deputy marshal occupying a section 
in the sleeping car directly opposite to his. 
Judge Terry and his wife left San Francisco for 
their home in Fresno the day following Justice 
Field’s departure for Los Angeles. Fresno is a 
station on the Southern Pacific between Los 
Angeles and San Francisco. His train left Los 
Angeles for San Francisco at 1.30 Tuesday af­
ternoon, August 13th. The deputy marshal got 
out at all the stations at which any stop was 
made for any length of time, to observe who got 
on board. Before retiring he asked the porter of 
the car to be sure and wake him in time for him 
to get dressed before they reached Fresno. At 
Fresno, where they arrived during the night, he 
got off  the train and went out on the platform. 
Among the passengers who took the train at 
that station were Judge Terry and wife. He im­
mediately returned to the sleeper and informed 
Justice Field, who had been awakened by the 
stopping of the train, that Terry and his wife 
had got on the train. He replied: “Very well. I 
hope that they will  have a good sleep.”

Neagle slept no more that night. The train 
reached Merced, an intervening station be­
tween Fresno and Lathrop, at 5.30 that morn­
ing. Neagle there conferred with the conduc­
tor, on the platform, and referred to the threats 
so often made by the Terrys. He told him that 
Justice Field was on the train, and that he was 
accompanying him. He requested him to tele­
graph to Lathrop, to the constable usually in 
attendance there, to be at hand, and that if  any 
trouble occurred he would assist in preventing 
violence.

Justice Field got up before the train 
reached Lathrop, and told the deputy marshal 
that he was going to take his breakfast in the 
dining-room at that place. The following is his 
statement of what took place:

“He said to me, ‘Judge, you can get a 
good breakfast at the buffet on board. ’
I did not think at the time what he was 
driving at, though I am now satisfied 
that he wanted me to take breakfast on
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the car and not get off. I said I prefer 
to have my breakfast at this station. I 
think I said I had come down from the 
Yosemite Valley a few days before, 
and got a good breakfast there, and 
was going there for that purpose.

“He replied: ‘ I will  go with you.’
We were among the first to get off 
from the train.”

As soon as the train arrived, Justice Field, 
leaning on the arm of Neagle, because of 
his lameness, proceeded to the dining-room, 
where they took seats for breakfast. There were 
in this dining-room fifteen tables, each one of 
which was ten feet long and four feet wide. 
They were arranged in three rows of five each, 
the tables running lengthwise with each other, 
with spaces between them of four feet. The 
aisles between the two rows were about seven 
feet apart, the rows running north and south.

Justice Field and Neagle were seated on 
the west aide of the middle table in the mid­
dle row, the Justice being nearer the lower cor­
ner of the table, and Neagle at his left. Very 
soon after—Justice Field says “a few minutes,”  
while Neagle says “ it may be a minute or so”— 
Judge Terry and his wife entered the dining­
room from the east. They walked up the aisle, 
between the east and middle rows of tables, so 
that Justice Field and Neagle were faced to­
wards them. Judge Terry preceded his wife. 
Justice Field saw them and called Neagle’s at­
tention to them. He had already seen them.

As soon as Mrs. Terry had reached a point 
nearly in front of Justice Field, she turned sud­
denly around, and scowling viciously, went in 
great haste out of the door at which she had 
come in. This was for the purpose, as it after­
wards appeared, of getting her satchel with the 
pistol in it, which she had left in the car. Judge 
Terry apparently paid no attention to this move­
ment, but proceeded to the next table above 
and seated himself at the upper end of it, fac­
ing the table at which Justice Field was seated. 
Thus there were between the two men as they 
sat at the tables a distance equal to two table- 
lengths and one space of four feet, making

about twenty-four feet. Terry had been seated 
but a very short time—Justice Field thought it a 
moment or two, Neagle thought it three or four 
minutes—when he arose and moved down to­
wards the door, this time walking through the 
aisle PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAb e h in d Justice Field, instead of the one 
in front of him as before. Justice Field sup­
posed, when he arose, that he was going out 
to meet his wife, as she had not returned, and 
went on with his breakfast; but when Terry 
had reached a point behind him, and a little 
to the right, within two or three feet of him, 
he halted. Justice Field was not aware of this, 
nor did he know that Terry had stopped, un­
til he was struck by him a violent blow in the 
face from behind, followed instantaneously by 
another blow at the back of his head. Neagle 
had seen Terry stop and turn. Between this and 
Terry’s assault there was a pause of four or five 
seconds. Instantaneously upon Terry’s dealing 
a blow, Neagle leaped from his chair and in­
terposed his diminutive form between Justice 
Field and the enraged and powerful man, who 
now sought to execute his long-announced and 
murderous purpose. Terry gave Justice Field 
no warning of his presence except a blow from 
behind with his right hand.

As Neagle rose, he shouted: “Stop, stop, I 
am an officer.”  Judge Terry had drawn back his 
right arm for a third blow at Justice Field, and 
with clinched fist was about to strike, when 
his attention was thus arrested by Neagle, and 
looking at him he evidently recognized in him 
the man who had drawn the knife from his hand 
in the corridor before the marshal’s office on 
the third of September of the preceding year, 
while he was attempting to cut his way into the 
marshal’s office. Neagle put his right hand up 
as he ordered Terry to stop, when Terry carried 
his right hand at once to his breast, evidently to 
seize the knife which he had told the Alameda 
county jailer he “always carried.”  Says Neagle:

“This hand came right to his breast.
It went a good deal quicker than I can 
explain it. He continued looking at me 
in a desperate manner and his hand 
got there.”
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The expression of Terry’s face at that time 
was described by Neagle in these words:

“The most desperate expression that
I ever saw on a man’s face, and I have 
seen a good many in my time. It meant 
life or death to me or him.”

Having thus for a moment diverted the 
blow aimed at Justice Field and engaged Terry 
himself, Neagle did not wait to be butchered 
with the latter’s ready knife, which he was

now attempting to draw, but raised his six- 
shooter with his left hand (he is left-handed) 
and holding the barrel of it with his right 
hand, to prevent the pistol from being knocked 
out of his hands, he shot twice; the first shot 
into Terry’s body and the second at his head. 
Terry immediately commenced sinking very 
slowly. Knowing by experience that men mor­
tally wounded have been often known to kill  
those with whom they were engaged in such 
an encounter, Neagle fired the second shot to
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defend himself and Justice Field against such 
a possibility.

The following is an extract from Justice 
Field’s testimony, commencing at the point 
where Judge Terry rose from his seat at the 
breakfast table:

“ I supposed, at the time, he was go­
ing out to meet his wife, as she had 
not returned, so I went on with my 
breakfast. It seems, however, that he 
came around back of me. I did not see 
him, and he struck me a violent blow 
in the face, followed instantaneously 
by another blow. Coming so immedi­
ately together, the two blows seemed 
like one assault. I heard ‘Stop, stop,’ 
cried by Neagle. Of course I was for a 
moment dazed by the blows. I turned 
my head around and saw that great 
form of Terry’s with his arm raised 
and fist clinched to strike me. I felt 
that a terrific blow was coming, and 
his arm was descending in a curved 
way as though to strike the side of my 
temple, when I heard Neagle cry out: 
‘Stop, stop, I am an officer.’ Instantly 
two shots followed. I can only explain 
the second shot from the fact that he 
did not fall instantly. I did not get up 
from my seat, although it is proper 
for me to say that a friend of mine 
thinks I did, but I did not. I looked 
around and saw Terry on the floor. I 
looked at him and saw that particular 
movement of the eyes that indicates 
the presence of death. Of course it 
was a great shock to me. It is impos­
sible for any one to see a man in the 
full  vigor of life, with all those facul­
ties that constitute life instantly extin­
guished without being affected, and I 
was. I looked at him for a moment, 
then went around and looked at him 
again, and panned on. Great excite­
ment followed. A gentleman came to 
me, whom I did not know, but I think

it was Mr. Lidgerwood, who has been 
examined as a witness in this case, 
and said: ‘What is this?’ I said: ‘I  
am a Justice of the Supreme Court of 
the United States. My name is Judge 
Field. Judge Terry threatened my life 
and attacked me, and the deputy mar­
shal has shot him.’ The deputy mar­
shal was perfectly cool and collected, 
and stated: ‘ I am a deputy marshal, 
and I have shot him to protect the life 
of Judge Field,’ I cannot give you the 
exact words, but I give them to you 
as near as I can remember them. A 
few moments afterwards the deputy 
marshal said to me: ‘Judge, I think 
you had better go to the car.’ I said, 
‘Very well.’ Then this gentleman, 
Mr. Lidgerwood, said: ‘ I think you 
had better.’ And with the two I went 
to the car. I asked Mr. Lidgerwood 
to go back and get my hat and cane, 
which he did. The marshal went with 
me, remained some time, and then left 
his seat in the car, and, as I thought, 
went back to the dining-room. (This 
is, however, I am told, a mistake, and 
that he only went to the end of the 
car.) He returned, and either he or 
some one else stated that there was 
great excitement; that Mrs. Terry was 
calling for some violent proceedings. 
I must say here that, dreadful as it 
is to take life, it was only a ques­
tion of seconds whether my life or 
Judge Terry’s life should be taken. 
I am firmly convinced that had the 
marshal delayed two seconds both he 
and myself would have been the vic­
tims of Terry.”

“ In answer to a question whether he 
had a pistol or other weapon on the oc­
casion of the homicide, Justice Field 
replied: ‘No, sir. I have never had on 
my person or used a weapon since 
I went on the bench of the Supreme
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Court of this State, on the 13 th of Oc­
tober, 1857, except once, when, years 
ago, I rode over the Sierra Nevada 
mountains in a buggy with General 
Hutchinson, and at that time I took a 
pistol with me for protection in the 
mountains. With that exception,47 I 
have not had on my person, or used, 
any pistol or other deadly weapon.’

Judge Terry had fallen very near the place 
where he first stopped, near the seat occupied 
by Justice Field at the table.

Neagle testified that if  Justice Field had 
had a weapon, and been active in using it, he 
was at such a disadvantage, seated as he was, 
with Terry standing over him, that he would 
have been unable to raise his hand in his own 
defense.

A large number of witnesses were exam­
ined, all of whom agreed upon the main facts 
as above stated. Some of them distinctly heard 
the blows administered by Terry upon Justice 
Field’s face and head. All  testified to the loud 
warning given Terry by Neagle that he was an 
officer of the law, accompanied by his com­
mand that Terry should desist. It was all the 
work of a few seconds. Terry’s sudden attack, 
the quick progress of which, from the first 
blow, was neither arrested nor slackened un­
til  he was disabled by the bullet from Neagle’s 
pistol, could have been dealt with in no other 
way. It was evidently a question of the instant 
whether Terry’s knife or Neagle’s pistol should 
prevail. Says Neagle:

“He never took his eyes off me af­
ter he looked at me, or I mine off 
him. I did not hear him say anything.
The only thing was he looked like an 
infuriated giant to me. I believed if  
I waited two seconds I should have 
been cut to pieces. I was within four 
feet of him.”

Q. “What did the motion that Judge
Terry made with his right hand indi­
cate to you?”

A. “That he would have had that knife 
out there within another second and a 
half, and trying to cut my head off.”

Terry, in action at such a time, from all 
accounts, was more like an enraged wild ani­
mal than a human being. The supreme moment 
had arrived to which he had been looking for­
ward for nearly a year, when the life of the man 
he hated was in his hands. He had repeatedly 
sworn to take it. Not privately had he made 
these threats. With an insolence and an audac­
ity born of lawlessness and of a belief that he 
could hew his way with a bowie-knife in courts 
as well as on the streets, he had publicly sen­
tenced Judge Field to death as a penalty for 
vindicating the majesty of the law in his im­
prisonment for contempt.

It would have been the wildest folly that 
can be conceived of for the murderous assault 
of such a man to have been met with mild per­
suasion, or an attempt to arrest him. As well 
order a hungry tiger to desist from springing at 
his prey, to sheathe his outstretched claws and 
suffer himself to be bound, as to have met Terry 
with anything less than the force to which he 
was himself appealing. Every man who knows 
anything of the mode of life and of quarrelling 
and fighting among the men of Terry’s class 
knows full well that when they strike a blow 
they mean to follow it up to the death, and they 
mean to take no chances. The only way to pre­
vent the execution of Terry’s revengeful and 
openly avowed purpose was by killing  him on 
the spot. Only a lunatic or an imbecile or an ac­
complice would have pursued any other course 
in Neagle’s place than the one he pursued, al­
ways supposing he had Neagle’s nerve and cool 
self-possession to guide him in such a crisis.

While this tragedy was being enacted 
Mrs. Terry was absent, having returned to the 
car for the satchel containing her pistol. Be­
fore she returned, the shot had been fired that 
defeated the conspiracy between her and her 
husband against the life of a judge for the per­
formance of his official duties. She returned 
to the hotel with her satchel in her hand just
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as her husband met his death. The manager 
of the hotel stopped her at the door she was 
entering, and seized her satchel. She did not 
relinquish it, but both struggled for its posses­
sion. A witness testified that she screamed out 
while so struggling: “Let me get at it; I will  fix  
him.” Many witnesses testified to her frantic 
endeavor to get the pistol. She called upon the 
crowd to hang the man that killed Judge Terry, 
and cried out, “Lynch Judge Field.”  Again and 
again she made frantic appeals to those present 
to Lynch Judge Field. She tried to enter the car 
where he was, but was not permitted to do so. 
She cried out, “ If  I had my pistol I would fix  
him.”

The testimony subsequently taken left no 
room to doubt that Terry had his deadly knife 
in its place in his breast at the time he made 
the attack on Justice Field. As the crowd were 
all engaged in breakfasting, his movements at­
tracted little attention, and his motion toward 
his breast for the knife escaped the notice of 
all but Neagle and one other witness. Neagle 
rushed between Terry and Justice Field, and the 
latter had not a complete view of his assailant 
at the moment when the blow intended for him 
was changed into a movement for the knife 
with which Judge Terry intended to dispose of 
the alert little man, with whom he had had a for­
mer experience, and who now stood between 
him and the object of his greater wrath.

But the conduct of Mrs. Terry immedi­
ately after the homicide was proof enough that 
her husband’s knife had been in readiness. The 
conductor of the train swore that he saw her 
lying over the body of her husband about a 
minute, and when she rose up she unbuttoned 
his vest and said: “You may search him; he 
has got no weapon on him.”  Not a word had 
been said about his having had a weapon. No 
one had made a movement towards search­
ing him, as ought to have been done; but this 
woman, who had been to the car for her pistol 
and returned with it to join, if  necessary, in the 
murderous work, had all the time and oppor­
tunity necessary for taking the knife from its 
resting-place under his vest, smearing one of

her hands with his blood, which plainly showed 
where it had been and what she had been do­
ing. Neagle could not search the body, for his 
whole attention was directed to the protection 
of Justice Field. Mrs. Terry repeated the chal­
lenge to search the body for the knife after it 
had been removed. This showed clearly that the 
idea uppermost in her mind was to then and 
there manufacture testimony that he had not 
been armed at all. Her eagerness on this sub­
ject betrayed her. Had she herself then been 
searched, after rising from Terry’s body, the 
knife would doubtless have been found con­
cealed upon her person. A number of witnesses 
testified to her conduct as above described. She 
said also: “You will  find that he has no arms, 
for I took them from him in the car, and I said 
to him that I did not want him to shoot Justice 
Field, but I did not object to a fist bout.”

This reference to a fist bout was, of course, 
an admission that they had premeditated the as­
sault. It was Judge Terry’s knife and not a pistol 
that Judge Field had to fear. Terry’s threats had 
always pointed to some gross indignity that he 
would put upon Justice Field, and then kill  him 
if  he resented or resisted it. One of his threats 
was that he would horsewhip Judge Field, and 
that if  he resented it he would kill  him. In short, 
his intentions seem to have been to commit an 
assassination in alleged self-defense.

The train soon left the station for San Fran­
cisco. A constable of Lathrop had taken the 
train, and addressing Neagle told him that he 
would have to arrest him.48 This officer had no 
warrant and did not himself witness the homi­
cide. Justice Field told him that he ought to 
have a warrant before making the arrest, re­
marking, if  a man should shoot another when 
he was about to commit a felony, such as set­
ting fire to your house, you would not arrest 
him for a murder; or if  a highwayman got on 
the train to plunder. The officer replied very 
courteously by the suggestion that there would 
have to be an inquest. Neagle at once said, “ I 
am ready to go,”  thinking it better to avoid all 
controversy, and being perfectly willing  to an­
swer anywhere for what he had done. Arriving



THE STORY OF THE ATTEMPTED ASSASSINATIONKJIHGFEDCBA1 4 5zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

at the next station (Tracy), Neagle and the of­
ficer took a buggy and went to the county jail 
at Stockton. Thus was a deputy marshal of the 
United States withdrawn from the service of 
his Government while engaged in a most im­
portant and as yet unfinished duty because he 
had with rigid faithfulness performed that duty. 
He was arrested by an officer who had no war­
rant and had not witnessed the homicide, and 
lodged in jail.

Meanwhile a detective in San Francisco 
received a telegram from the sheriff of San 
Joaquin county to arrest Judge Field. Suppos­
ing it to be his duty to comply with this com­
mand, the detective crossed the bay to meet the 
train for that purpose. Marshal Franks said to 
him: “You shall not arrest him. You have no 
right to do so. It would be an outrage, and if  
you attempt it I will  arrest you.”

The news of these exciting events pro­
duced an intense excitement in San Francisco. 
Upon his arrival at this place, under the es­

cort of the marshal and many friends, Justice 
Field repaired to his quarters in the Palace 
Hotel.49SRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C h a p te r X III. S a ra h  A lth e a  T e rry  

C h a rg e s  Ju s tice  F ie ld  a n d  D e p u ty  

M a rsh a l N e a g le  w ith  M u rd e r.

The body of Judge Terry was taken from 
Lathrop to Stockton, accompanied by his wife, 
soon after his death. On that very evening 
Sarah Althea Terry swore to a complaint before 
a justice of the peace named Swain,50 charg­
ing Justice Field and Deputy Marshal Nea­
gle with murder. After the investigation be­
fore the coroner Assistant District Attorney 
Gibson stated that the charge against Justice 
Field would be dismissed, as there was no 
evidence whatever to connect him with the 
killing.

Mrs. Terry did not see the shooting and 
was not in the hotel at the time of the homicide.

S a ra h A lth e a T e rry h a d N e a g le a n d F ie ld a rre s te d fo r k illin g h e r h u sb a n d . N e a g le w a s im p riso n e d , b u t 

F ie ld w a s re le a se d o n h is o w n re co g n iza n ce a n d th e ch a rg e s a g a in s t h im  w e re la te r d ro p p e d . P ic tu re d is  

th e  te le g ra m  se n t to A tto rn e y G e n e ra l M ille r b y o n e o f h is d e p u tie s re p o rtin g o n th e  g u n fig h t a t L a th ro p  

S ta tio n .
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Having, therefore, no knowledge upon which 
to base her statement, her affidavit was enti­
tled to no greater consideration than if  it had 
stated that it was made solely upon her be­
lief without any positive information on the 
subject.

Only the most violent of Terry’s friends fa­
vored the wanton indignity upon Justice Field, 
and his arrest, but they had sufficient influ­
ence with the district attorney, Mr. White,51 a 
young and inexperienced lawyer, to carry him 
along with them. The justice of the peace be­
fore whom Sarah Althea had laid the infor­
mation issued a warrant on the following day 
for the arrest both of Justice Field and Neagle. 
From this time this magistrate and the dis­
trict attorney appeared to act under orders from 
Mrs. Terry.

The preliminary examination was set for 
Wednesday of the following week, during 
which time the district attorney stated for pub­
lication that Justice Field would have to go to 
jail and stay there during the six intervening 
days. It was obvious to all rational minds that 
Mrs. Terry’s purpose was to use the machin­
ery of the magistrate’s court for the purpose 
of taking Judge Field to Stockton, where she 
could execute her threats of killing  him or hav­
ing him killed; and if  she should fail to do so, 
or postpone it, then to have the satisfaction of 
placing a justice of the Supreme Court of the 
United States in a prisoner’s cell, and hold him 
there for six days awaiting an examination, that 
being the extreme length of time that he could 
be so held under the statute. The district attor­
ney was asked if  he had realized the danger of 
bringing Justice Field to Stockton, where he 
might come in contact with Mrs. Terry. The 
officer replied:52

“We had intended that if  Justice Field 
were brought here, Mrs. Terry would 
be placed under the care of PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAh e r 
f r ie n d s , and that all precautions to 
prevent any difficulty  that was in the 
power of the district attorney would 
be taken.”

That was to say, Mrs. Terry would do no vio­
lence to Justice Field unless “her friends”  per­
mitted her to do so. As some of them were pos­
sessed of the same murderous feelings towards 
Justice Field as those named here, the whole 
transaction had the appearance of a conspiracy 
to murder him.

No magistrate can lawfully issue a war­
rant without sufficient evidence before him to 
show probable cause. It was a gross abuse of 
power and an arbitrary and lawless act to heed 
the oath of this frenzied woman, who notori­
ously had not witnessed the shooting, and had, 
but a few hours before, angrily insisted upon 
having her own pistol returned to her that she, 
herself, might kill  Justice Field. It was beyond 
belief that the magistrate believed that there 
was probable cause, or the slightest appear­
ance of a cause, upon which to base the issue 
of the warrant.

Neagle was brought into court at Stockton 
at 10 o’clock on the morning after the shooting, 
to wit, on Thursday, the 15th, and his prelimi­
nary examination set for Wednesday, the 21st. 
Bail could not be given prior to that examina­
tion. This examination could have proceeded 
at once, and a delay of six days can only be ac­
counted for by attributing it to the malice and 
vindictiveness of the woman who seemed to be 
in charge of the proceedings.

The keen disappointment of Mrs. Terry, 
and those who were under her influence, at 
Judge Terry’s failure to murder Justice Field, 
must have been greatly soothed by the prospect 
of having yet another chance at the latter’s life, 
and, in any event, of seeing him in a cell in the 
jail during the six days for which the examina­
tion could be delayed for that express purpose. 
The sheriff of San Joaquin county proceeded to 
San Francisco with the warrant for his arrest on 
Thursday evening. In company with the chief 
of police and Marshal Franks, he called upon 
Justice Field, and after a few moments’ conver­
sation it was arranged that he should present 
the warrant at one o’clock on the following 
day, at the building in which the federal courts 
are held.
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Petition for Release on Habeas Corpus.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

At the appointed hour Justice Field awaited the 
sheriff in his chambers, surrounded by friends, 
including judges, ex-judges, and members of 
the bar. As the sheriff entered Justice Field 
arose and pleasantly greeted him. The sher­
iff  bore himself with dignity, and with a due 
sense of the extraordinary proceeding in which 
his duty as an officer required him to be a par­
ticipant. With some agitation he said: “Justice 
Field, 1 presume you are aware of the nature of 
my errand.” “Yes,” replied the Justice, “pro­
ceed with your duty; I am ready. An officer 
should always do his duty.” The sheriff stated 
to him that he had a warrant, duly executed and 
authenticated, and asked him if  he should read 
it. “ I will  waive that, Mr. Sheriff,”  replied the 
Justice. The sheriff then handed him the war­
rant, which he read, folded it up and handed it 
back, saying pleasantly: “ I recognize your au­
thority, sir, and submit to the arrest; I am, sir, 
in your custody.”

Meanwhile a petition had been prepared 
to be presented to Judge Sawyer for a writ of PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
h a b e a s c o r p u s , returnable at once before the 
United States court. As soon as the arrest was 
made the petition was signed and presented 
to Judge Sawyer, who ordered the writ to is­
sue returnable forthwith. In a very few min­
utes U.S. Marshal Franks served the writ on the 
sheriff.53

While the proceedings looking to the issue 
of the writ were going on, Justice Field had 
seated himself, and invited the sheriff to be 
seated. The latter complied with the invitation, 
and began to say something in regard to the 
unpleasant duty which had devolved upon him, 
but Justice Field promptly replied: “Not so, not 
so; you are but doing your plain duty, and I 
mine in submitting to arrest. It is the first duty 
of judges to obey the law.”

As soon as the h a b e a s c o r p u s writ had 
been served, the sheriff said he was ready to 
go into the court. “Let me walk with you,”  
said Justice Field, as they arose, and took the

sheriff’s arm. In that way they entered the 
court-room. Justice Field seated himself in one 
of the chairs usually occupied by jurors. Time 
was given to the sheriff to make a formal return 
to the writ, and in a few minutes he formally 
presented it. The petition of Judge Field for the 
writ set forth his official character, and the du­
ties imposed upon him by law, and alleged that 
he had been illegally arrested, while he was in 
the discharge of those duties, and that his il ­
legal detention interfered with and prevented 
him from discharging them.

Then followed a statement of the facts, 
showing the arrest and detention to be illegal. 
This statement embraced the principal facts 
connected with the contempt proceedings in 
1888, and the threats then and thereafter made 
by the Terrys of violence upon Justice Field; 
the precautions taken in consequence thereof 
by the Department of Justice for his protection 
from violence at their hands, and the murder­
ous assault made upon him, and his defense by 
Deputy Marshal Neagle, resulting in the death 
of Terry, and that he, the petitioner, in no man­
ner defended or protected himself, and gave no 
directions to the deputy marshal, and that he 
was not armed with any weapon. The petition 
then states: “That under the circumstances de­
tailed, the said Sarah Althea Terry, as your peti­
tioner is informed and believes, and upon such 
information and belief alleges, falsely and ma­
liciously swore out the warrant of arrest here­
inbefore set out against your petitioner, with­
out any further basis for the charge of murder 
than the facts hereinbefore detailed, and that 
the warrant aforesaid was issued by such jus­
tice of the peace, without any just or probable 
cause therefore.* *  *  And your petitioner further 
represents that the charge against him, and the 
warrant of arrest in the hands of said sheriff, are 
founded upon the sole affidavit of Mrs. Sarah 
Althea Terry, who was not present and did not 
see the shooting which caused the death of said 
David S. Terry.”

In order to show the little reliance to be 
placed in the oath of Mrs. Terry, the petition 
stated:
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“That in a suit brought by William 
Sharon, now deceased, against her be­
fore her marriage to the said Terry, 
it was proved and held by the Cir­
cuit Court of the United States that 
she had committed the forgery of the 
document produced in that case, and 
had attempted to support it by perjury 
and subornation of peijury, and had 
also been guilty of acts and conduct 
showing herself to be an abandoned 
woman, without veracity.* * *

“Your petitioner further repre­
sents that the abandoned character of 
the said Sarah Althea Terry, and the 
fact that she was found guilty of per­
jury and forgery in the case above 
mentioned by the said Circuit Court, 
and the fact of the revengeful malice 
entertained toward your petitioner by 
said Sarah Althea Terry, are notori­
ous in the State of California, and are 
notorious in the city of Stockton, and 
as your petitioner believes are well 
known to the district attorney of the 
said county of San Joaquin, and also 
to the said justice of the peace who 
issued the said warrant; and your pe­
titioner further alleges that had either 
of the said officers taken any pains 
whatever to ascertain the truth in the 
case, he would have ascertained and 
known that there was not the slight­
est pretext or foundation for any such 
charge as was made, and also that 
the affidavit of the said Sarah Althea 
Terry was not entitled to the slightest 
consideration whatever.

“Your petitioner further states 
that it is to him incomprehensible how 
any man, acting in a consideration 
of duty, could have listened one mo­
ment to charges from such a source, 
and without having sought some 
confirmation from disinterested wit­
nesses; and your petitioner believes 
and charges that the whole object of

the proceeding is to subject your pe­
titioner to the humiliation of arrest 
and confinement at Stockton, when 
the said Sarah Althea Terry may be 
able, by the aid of partisans of hers, 
to carry out her long continued and 
repeated threats of personal violence 
upon your petitioner, and to prevent 
your petitioner from discharging the 
duties of his office in cases pending 
against her in the federal court at San 
Francisco.”

The sheriff’s return was as follows:

“Return of sheriff of San
Joaquin county, Cala., County of San
Joaquin, State of California:

“SHERIFF’S OFFICE.
“7o PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAth e H o n o r a b le C ir c u i t C o u r t o f 
th e U n ite d S ta te s fo r  th e N o r th e r n 
D is tr ic t o f  C a l i fo r n ia :

“ I hereby certify and return that 
before the coming to me of the hereto- 
annexed writ of h a b e a s c o r p u s , the 
said Stephen J. Field was committed 
to my custody, and is detained by me 
by virtue of a warrant issued out of 
the justice’s court of Stockton town­
ship, State of California, county of 
San Joaquin, and by the endorsement 
made upon said warrant. Copy of said 
warrant and endorsement is annexed 
hereto, and made a part of this return. 
Nevertheless, I have the body of the 
said Stephen J. Field before the hon­
orable court, as I am in the said writ 
commanded.

“August 16, 1889.
“THOMAS CUNNINGHAM,54 

“ S h e r i f f S a n J o a q u in C o ., 
C a l i fo r n ia .”

In order to give the petitioner time to tra­
verse the return if  he thought it expedient to 
do so,55 and to give him and the State time 
to produce witnesses, the further hearing upon 
the return was adjourned until the following
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Thursday morning, the 22d, and the petitioner 
was released on his recognizance with a bond 
fixed at $5,000.

On the same day a petition on the part of 
Neagle was presented to Judge Sawyer asking 
that a writ of PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAh a b e a s c o r p u s issue in his be­
half to Sheriff Cunningham. The petition was 
granted at once, and served upon the sheriff 
immediately after the service of the writ is­
sued on behalf of Justice Field. Early on the 
morning of Saturday, August 17, Neagle was 
brought from Stockton by the sheriff at 4.30 
A. M. District Attorney White and Mrs. Terry’s 
lawyer, Maguire, were duly notified of this 
movement and were passengers on the same 
train. At 10.30 Sheriff Cunningham appeared 
in the Circuit Court with Neagle to respond 
to the writ. He returned that he held Neagle 
in custody under a warrant issued by a justice 
of the peace of that county, a copy of which 
he produced; and also a copy of the affidavit 
of Sarah Althea Terry upon which the warrant 
was issued. A traverse to that return was then 
filed, presenting various grounds why the peti­
tioner should not be held, the most important of 
which were that an officer of the United States, 
specially charged with a particular duty, that of 
protecting one of the justices of the Supreme 
Court of the United States whilst engaged in 
the performance of his duty, could not, for an 
act constituting the very performance of that 
duty, be taken from the further discharge of his 
duty and imprisoned by the State authorities, 
and that when an officer of the United States 
in the discharge of his duties is charged with 
an offense consisting in the performance of 
those duties, and is sought to be arrested, and 
taken from the further performance of them, 
he can be brought before the tribunals of the 
nation of which he is an officer, and the fact 
then inquired into. The attorney-general of the 
State56 appeared with the district attorney of 
San Joaquin corrnty, and contended that the of­
fense of which the petitioner was charged could 
only be inquired into before the tribunals of the 
State.

Chapter XV. Judge Terry’sSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Funeral—Refusal of the Supreme Court 

of California to Adjourn on the 

Occasion.

The funeral of Judge Terry occurred on Friday, 
the 16th. An unsuccessful attempt was made for 
a public demonstration. The fear entertained by 
some that eulogies of an incendiary character 
would be delivered was not realized. The fu­
neral passed off  without excitement. The rector 
being absent, the funeral service was read by a 
vestryman of the church.

On the day after Judge Terry’s death 
the following proceedings occurred in the 
Supreme Court of the State:

Late, in the afternoon, just after the coun­
sel in a certain action had concluded their argu­
ment, and before the next cause on the calendar 
was called, James L. Crittenden, Esq.,57 who 
was accompanied by W. T. Baggett, Esq.,58 
arose to address the court. He said: “Your hon­
ors, it has become my painful and sad duty to 
formally announce to the court the death of a 
former chief justice” --------

Chief Justice Beatty:59 “Mr. Crittenden, I 
think that is a matter which should be post­
poned until the court has had a consultation 
about it.”

The court then, without leaving the bench, 
held a whispered consultation. Mr. Crittenden 
then went on to say: “ I was doing this at the 
request of several friends of the deceased. It 
has been customary for the court to take for­
mal action prior to the funeral. In this instance, 
I understand the funeral is to take place to­
morrow.”

Chief Justice Beatty: “Mr. Crittenden, the 
members of the court wish to consult with each 
other on this matter, and you had better post­
pone your motion of formal announcement un­
til  to-morrow morning.”

Mr. Crittenden and Mr. Baggett then with­
drew from the court-room.

On the following day, in the presence of a 
large assembly, including an unusually large
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attendance of attorneys, Mr. Crittenden re­
newed his motion. He said:

“ If  the court please, I desire to renew 
the matter which I began to present 
last evening. As a friend—a personal 
friend—of the late Judge Terry, I 
should deem myself very cold, in­
deed, and very far from discharging 
the duty which is imposed upon that 
relation, if  I did not present the mat­
ter which I propose to present to this 
bench this morning. I have known the 
gentleman to whom I have reference 
for over thirty years, and I desire sim­
ply now, in stating that I make this mo­
tion, to say that the friendship of so 
many years, and the acquaintance and 
intimacy existing between that gen­
tleman and his family and myself for 
so long a period, require that I should 
at this time move this court, as a court, 
out of recollection for the memory of 
the man who presided in the Supreme 
Court of this State for so many years 
with honor, ability, character, and in­
tegrity, and, therefore, I ask this court, 
out of respect for his memory, to ad­
journ during the day on which he is 
to be buried, which is to-day.”

Chief Justice Beatty said:

“ I regret very much that counsel 
should have persisted in making this 
formal announcement, after the in­
timation from the court. Upon full  
consultation we thought it would be 
better that it should not be done. The 
circumstances of Judge Terry’s death 
are notorious, and under these cir­
cumstances this court had determined 
that it would be better to pass this 
matter in silence, and not to take any 
action upon it; and that is the order of 
the court.”

The deceased had been a chief justice of 
the tribunal which, by its silence, thus empha­
sized its condemnation of the conduct by which

he had placed himself without the pale of its 
respect.60

Chapter XVI. Habeas CorpusSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Proceedings in Justice Field’s Case.

On Thursday, August 22d, the hearing of the PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
h a b e a s c o r p u s case of Justice Field com­
menced in the United States Circuit Court, 
under orders from the Attorney-General, to 
whom a report of the whole matter had been 
telegraphed. The United States district attor­
ney appeared on behalf of Justice Field. In ad­
dition to him there also appeared as counsel for 
Justice Field, Hon. Richard T. Mesick, Sami. 
M. Wilson, Esq., and W. F. Herrin, Esq.61 The 
formal return of the writ of h a b e a s c o r p u s had 
been made by the sheriff of San Joaquin county 
on the 16th. To that return Justice Field pre­
sented a traverse, which was in the following 
language, and was signed and sworn to by him:

“The petitioner, Stephen J. Field, tra­
verses the return of the sheriff of San 
Joaquin county, State of California, 
made by him to the writ of h a b e a s 
c o r p u s by the circuit judge on the 
ninth circuit, and made returnable be­
fore the Circuit Court of said circuit, 
and avers:

“That he is a justice of the 
Supreme Court of the United States, 
allotted to the ninth judicial circuit, 
and is now and has been for several 
weeks in California, in attendance 
upon the Circuit Court of said cir­
cuit in the discharge of his judicial 
duties; and, further, that the said war­
rant of the justice of the peace, H. V J. 
Swain, in Stockton, California, issued 
on the 14th day of August, 1889, 
under which the petitioner is held, 
was issued by said justice of the 
peace without reasonable or proba­
ble cause, upon the sole affidavit of 
one Sarah Althea Terry, who did not 
see the commission of the act which 
she charges to have been a murder,
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and who is herself a woman of aban­
doned character, and utterly unworthy 
of belief respecting any matter what­
ever; and, further, that the said war­
rant was issued in the execution of a 
conspiracy, as your petitioner is in­
formed, believes, and charges, be­
tween the said Sarah Althea Terry 
and the district attorney, White, and 
the said justice of the peace, H. V J. 
Swain, and one E. L. Colnon, of said 
Stockton, to prevent by force and in­
timidation your petitioner from dis­
charging the duties of his office here­
after, and to injure him in his person 
on account of the lawful discharge 
of the duties of his office heretofore, 
by taking him to Stockton, where he 
could be subjected to indignities and 
humiliation, and where they might 
compass his death.

“That the said conspiracy is a 
crime against the United States, un­
der the laws thereof, and was to be 
executed by an abuse of the process 
of the State court, two of said conspir­
ators being officers of the said county 
of San Joaquin, one the district at­
torney and the other a justice of the 
peace, the one to direct and the other 
to issue the warrant upon which your 
petitioner could be arrested.

“And the petitioner further avers 
that the issue of said writ of PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAh a b e a s 
c o r p u s and the discharge of your pe­
titioner thereunder were and are es­
sential to defeat the execution of the 
said conspiracy.

“And your petitioner further 
avers that the accusation of crime 
against him, upon which said warrant 
was issued, is a malicious and ma­
lignant falsehood, for which there is 
not even a pretext; that he neither ad­
vised nor had any knowledge of the 
intention of any one to commit the act 
which resulted in the death of David 
S. Terry, and that he has not carried or

used any arm or weapon of any kind 
for nearly thirty years.

“All  of which your petitioner is 
ready to establish by full  and compe­
tent proof.

“Wherefore your petitioner 
prays that he may be discharged from 
said arrest and set at liberty.

“STEPHEN J. FIELD.”

The facts alleged in this document were 
beyond dispute, and constituted an outrageous 
crime, and one for which the conspirators were 
liable to imprisonment for a term of six years, 
under section 5518 of the Revised Statutes of 
the United States. To this traverse the counsel 
for the sheriff filed a demurrer, on the ground 
that it did not appear by it that Justice Field 
was in custody for an act done or omitted in 
pursuance of any law of the United States, or of 
any order or process or decree of any court or 
judge thereof, and it did not appear that he was 
in custody in violation of the Constitution or 
any law or treaty of the United States. The case 
was thereupon submitted with leave to counsel 
to file briefs at any time before the 27th of 
August, to which time the further hearing was 
adjourned.

Before that hearing the Governor of the 
State addressed the following communication 
to the attorney-general:

“Ex e c u t iv e De pa r t me n t,
“St a t e o f  Ca l if o r n ia ,
“Sa c r a me n t o, A u g u s t 21, 1889.
“Hon. A. G. Johnston,
“ A tto r n e y -G e n e r a l , S a c r a m e n to .

“De a r Sir : The arrest of Hon.
Stephen J. Field, a justice of the
Supreme Court of the United States, 
on the unsupported oath of a woman 
who, on the very day the oath was 
taken, and often before, threatened 
his life, will  be a burning disgrace to 
the State unless disavowed. I there­
fore urge upon you the propriety of 
at once instructing the district attor­
ney of San Joaquin county to dismiss
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the unwarranted proceedings against 
him.

“The question of the jurisdiction 
of the state courts in the case of the 
deputy United States marshal, Nea- 
gle, is one for argument. The unprece­
dented indignity on Justice Field does 
not admit of argument.

“Yours truly,
“ R . W . W A T E R M A N , 6 2PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

“ G o v e r n o r .”

This letter of Governor Waterman rang out 
like an alarm bell, warning the chief law offi ­
cer of the State that a subordinate of his was 
prostituting its judicial machinery to enable 
a base woman to put a gross indignity upon 
a justice of the Supreme Court of the United 
States, whom she had just publicly threatened 
to kill,  and also to aid her in accomplishing that 
purpose. The wretched proceeding had already 
brought upon its authors indignant denuncia­
tion and merciless ridicule from every part of 
the Union. The attorney-general responded to 
the call thus made upon him by instructing the 
district attorney to dismiss the charge against 
Justice Field, because no evidence existed to 
sustain it.

The rash young district attorney lost no 
time in extricating himself from the position 
in which the arrest of Justice Field had placed 
him. On the 26th of August, upon his motion, 
and the filing of the attorney-general’s letter, 
the charge against Justice Field was dismissed 
by the justice of the peace who had issued the 
warrant against him.

The dismissal of this charge released him 
from the sheriff’s claim to his custody, and the 
h a b e a s c o r p u s proceedings in his behalf fell 
to the ground. On the 27th, the day appointed 
for the further hearing, the sheriff announced 
that in compliance with the order of the mag­
istrate he released Justice Field from custody, 
whereupon the case of h a b e a s c o r p u s was 
dismissed.

In making the order, Circuit Judge Sawyer 
severely animadverted on what he deemed the 
shameless proceeding at Stockton. He said:

“We are glad that the prosecution of 
Mr. Justice Field has been dismissed, 
founded, as it was, upon the sole, 
reckless, and as to him manifestly 
false affidavit of one whose relation 
to the matters leading to the tragedy, 
and whose animosity towards the 
courts and judges who have found it 
their duty to decide against her, and 
especially towards Mr. Justice Field, 
is a part of the judicial and notorious 
public history of the country.

“ It  was, under the circumstances, 
and upon the sole affidavit produced, 
especially after the coroner’s inquest, 
so far as Mr. Justice Field is con­
cerned, a shameless proceeding, and, 
as intimated by the Governor of the 
Commonwealth, if  it had been further 
persevered in, would have been a last­
ing disgrace to the State.

“While a justice of the Supreme 
Court of the United States, like every 
other citizen, is amenable to the laws, 
he is not likely to commit so grave 
an offense as murder, and should he 
be so unfortunate as to be unavoid­
ably involved in any way in a homi­
cide, he could not afford to escape, 
if  it were in his power to do so; and 
when the act is so publicly performed 
by another, as in this instance, and is 
observed by so many witnesses, the 
officers of the law should certainly 
have taken some little pains to ascer­
tain the facts before proceeding to ar­
rest so distinguished a dignitary, and 
to attempt to incarcerate him in pris­
ons with felons, or to put him in a 
position to be further disgraced, and 
perhaps assaulted by one so violent as 
to be publicly reported, not only then 
but on numerous previous occasions, 
to have threatened his life.

“We are extremely gratified to 
find that, through the action of the 
chief magistrate, and the attorney- 
general, a higher officer of the law,
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we shall be spared the necessity of 
further inquiring as to the extent of 
the remedy afforded the distinguished 
petitioner, by the Constitution and 
laws of the United States, or of en­
forcing such remedies as exist, and 
that the stigma cast upon the State of 
California by this hasty and, to call 
it by no harsher term, ill-advised ar­
rest will  not be intensified by further 
prosecution.”

Thus ended this most remarkable attempt 
upon the liberty of a United States Supreme 
Court Justice, under color of State author­
ity, the execution of which would again have 
placed his life in great peril.

The grotesque feature of the performance 
was aptly presented by the following imaginary 
dialogue which appeared in an Eastern paper:

Newsboy: “Man tried to kill  a judge 
in California!”
Customer: “What was done about it?”
Newsboy: “Oh! They arrested the 
judge.”

The illegality of Justice Field’s arrest will  
be perfectly evident to whoever will  read sec­
tions 811, 812, and 813 of the Penal Code of 
California. These sections provide that no war­
rant can be issued by a magistrate until he has 
examined, on oath, the informant, taken de­
positions setting forth the facts tending to es­
tablish the commission of the offense and the 
guilt of the accused and himself been satisfied 
by these depositions that there is reasonable 
ground that the person accused has committed 
the offense. None of these requirements had 
been met in Justice Field’s case.

It needs no lawyer to understand that a 
magistrate violates the plain letter as well as 
the spirit of these provisions of law when he 
issues a warrant without first having before 
him some evidence of the probable, or at least 
the possible, guilt of the accused. If  this were 
otherwise, private malice could temporarily sit 
in judgment upon the object of its hatred how­
ever blameless, and be rewarded for perjury

by being allowed the use of our jails as places 
in which to satisfy its vengeance. Such a view 
of the law made Sarah Althea the magistrate 
at Stockton on the 14th of August, and Jus­
tice Swain her obsequious amanuensis. Such 
a view of the law would enable any convict 
who had just served a term in the penitentiary 
to treat himself to the luxury of dragging to 
jail the judge who sentenced him, and keeping 
him there without bail as long as the magis­
trate acting for him could be induced to delay 
the examination.

The arrest of Justice Field was an attempt 
to kidnap him for a foul purpose, and if  the 
United States circuit judge had not released 
him he would have been the victim of as arbi­
trary and tyrannical treatment as is ever meted 
out in Russia to the most dangerous of nihilists, 
to punish him for having narrowly escaped as­
sassination by no act or effort of his own.

Chapter XVII. Habeas CorpusSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Proceedings in Neagle’s Case.

This narrative would not be complete without 
a statement of the proceedings in the United 
States Circuit Court, and in the United States 
Supreme Court on appeal, in the PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAh a b e a s c o r­

p u s proceedings in the case of Neagle, the 
deputy marshal, whose courageous devotion 
to his official duties had saved the life of Jus­
tice Field at the expense of that of his would- 
be assassin. We have already seen that Nea­
gle, being in the custody of the sheriff of 
San Joaquin county, upon a charge of mur­
der in the shooting of Judge Terry, had pre­
sented a petition to the United States Cir­
cuit Court for a writ of h a b e a s c o r p u s to the 
end that he might thereby be restored to his 
liberty.

A writ was issued, and upon its return, 
August 17th, the sheriff of San Joaquin county 
produced Neagle and a copy of the warrant 
under which he held him in custody, issued by 
the justice of the peace of that county, and also 
of the affidavit of Sarah Althea Terry, upon 
which the warrant was granted. Neagle being
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desirous of traversing the return of the sheriff, 
further proceedings were adjourned until the 
22d of the month, and in the meantime he was 
placed in the custody of the United States mar­
shal for the district. On the 22d a traverse of the 
return was filed by him stating the particulars 
of the homicide with which he was charged as 
narrated above, and averring that he was at the 
time of its commission a deputy marshal of the 
United States for the district, acting under the 
orders of his superior, and under the directions 
of the Attorney-General of the United States in 
protecting the Associate Justice, whilst in the 
discharge of his duties, from the threatened as­
sault and violence of Terry, who had declared 
that on meeting the Justice he would insult, as­
sault, and kill  him, and that the homicide with 
which the petitioner is charged was committed 
in resisting the attempted execution of these 
threats in the belief that Terry intended at the 
time to kill  the Justice, and that but for such 
homicide he would have succeeded in his 
attempt. These particulars are stated with great 
fullness of detail. To this traverse, which was

afterwards amended, but not in any material re­
spect, a demurrer was interposed for the sheriff 
by the district attorney of San Joaquin county. 
Its material point was that it did not appear 
from the traverse that Neagle was in the cus­
tody of the sheriff for an act done or omitted 
in pursuance of any law of the United States, 
or any order, process, or decree of any court 
or judge thereof, or in violation of the Con­
stitution or a treaty of the United States. The 
court then considered whether it should hear 
testimony as to the facts of the case, or proceed 
with the argument of the demurrer to the 
traverse. It decided to take the testimony, and 
to hear counsel when the whole case was 
before it, on the merits as well as on the ques­
tion of jurisdiction. The testimony was then 
taken. It occupied several days, and brought 
out strongly the facts which have been already 
narrated, and need not here be repeated. When 
completed, the question of the jurisdiction 
of the Circuit Court of the United States to 
interfere in the matter was elaborately argued 
by the attorney-general of the State, and special
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counsel who appeared with the district attor­
ney of San Joaquin county on behalf of the 
State, they contending that the offense, with 
which the petitioner was charged, could only 
be inquired into before a tribunal of the State.63 

Mr. Carey, United States district attorney, and 
Messrs. Herrin, Mesick, and Wilson, special 
counsel, appeared on behalf of the petitioner, 
and contended for the jurisdiction, and for the 
discharge of the petitioner upon the facts of 
the case. They did not pretend that any person 
in the State, be he high or low, might not be 
tried by the local authorities for a crime com­
mitted against the State, but they did contend 
that when the alleged crime consisted in an act 
which was claimed to have been done in the 
performance of a duty devolving upon him by 
a law of the United States, it was within the 
competency of their courts to inquire, in the 
first instance, whether that act thus done was 
in the performance of a duty devolving upon 
him; and if  it was, that the alleged offender had 
not committed a crime against the State, and 
was entitled to be discharged. Their arguments 
were marked by great ability and learning, and 
their perusal would be interesting and instruc­
tive, but space will  not allow me to give even 
a synopsis of them.

The court, in deciding the case, went into 
a full and elaborate consideration, not only of 
its jurisdiction, but of every objection on the 
merits presented by counsel on behalf of the 
State. Only a brief outline can be given.

The court held that it was within the com­
petency of the President, and of the Attorney- 
General as the head of the Department of Jus­
tice, representing him, to direct that measures 
be taken for the protection of officers of the 
Government whilst in the discharge of their 
duties, and that it was specially appropriate 
that such protection should be given to the 
justices of the Supreme Court of the United 
States, whilst thus engaged in their respective 
circuits, and in passing to and from them; that 
the Attorney-General, representing the Presi­
dent, was fully  justified in giving orders to the 
marshal of the California district to appoint a 
deputy to look specially to the protection of 
Justices Field and Sawyer from assault and vi­
olence threatened by Terry and his wife; and 
that the deputy marshal, acting under instruc­
tions for their protection, was justified in any 
measures that were necessary for that purpose, 
even to taking the life of the assailant.

The court recognized that the Government 
of the United States exercised full  jurisdiction,
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within the sphere of its powers, over the whole 
territory of the country, and that when any con­
flict arose between the State and the General 
Government in the administration of their re­
spective powers, the authority of the United 
States must prevail, for the Constitution de­
clares that it and the laws of the United States 
in pursuance thereof “shall be the supreme 
law of the land, and that the judges in every 
State shall be bound thereby, anything in the 
Constitution and laws of any State to the con­
trary notwithstanding.” The court quoted the 
language of the Supreme Court in Tennessee v. 
Davis (100 U.S. 257,263), that “ It [the General 
Government] can act only through its officers 
and agents, and they must act within the States. 
If, when thus acting and within the scope of 
their authority, those officers can be arrested 
and brought to trial in a State court, for an al­
leged offense against the law of the State, yet 
warranted by the Federal authority they pos­
sess, and if  the General Government is power­
less to interfere at once for their protection—if  
their protection must be left to the action of 
the State court—the operations of the General 
Government may, at any time, be arrested at the 
will  of one of its members. The legislation of a 
State may be unfriendly. It may affix penalties 
to acts done under the immediate direction of 
the National Government and in obedience to 
its laws. It may deny the authority conferred 
by those laws. The State court may adminis­
ter not only the laws of the State, but equally 
Federal law, in such a manner as to paralyze 
the operations of the Government. And even 
if, after trial and final judgment in the State 
court, a case can be brought into the United 
States court for review, the officer is withdrawn 
from the discharge of his duty during the pen­
dency of the prosecution, and the exercise of 
acknowledged Federal power arrested. We do 
not think such an element of weakness is to be 
found in the Constitution. The United States 
is a government with authority extending over 
the whole territory of the Union, acting upon 
the States and upon the people of the States. 
While it is limited in the number of its powers,

so far as its sovereignty extends, it is supreme. 
No State government can exclude it from the 
exercise of any authority conferred upon it by 
the Constitution, obstruct its authorized offi ­
cers against its will,  or withhold from it, for a 
moment, the cognizance of any subject which 
that instrument has committed to it.” To this 
strong language the Circuit Court added:

“The very idea of a government 
composed of executive, legislative, 
and judicial departments necessar­
ily comprehends the power to do all 
things, through its appropriate offi ­
cers and agents, within the scope of its 
general governmental purposes and 
powers, requisite to preserve its ex­
istence, protect it and its ministers, 
and give it complete efficiency in all 
its parts. It necessarily and inherently 
includes power in its executive de­
partment to enforce the laws, keep the 
national peace with regard to its of­
ficers while in the line of their duty, 
and protect by its all-powerful arm all 
the other departments and the offi ­
cers and instrumentalities necessary 
to their efficiency while engaged in 
the discharge of their duties.”

In language attributed to Mr. ex-Secretary 
Bayard,64 used with reference to this very case, 
which we quote, not as a controlling judicial 
authority, but for its intrinsic, sound, common 
sense, “The robust and essential principle must 
be recognized and proclaimed, that the inher­
ent powers of every government which is suf­
ficient to authorize and enforce the judgment 
of its courts are, equally, and at all times, and 
in all places, sufficient to protect the individ­
ual judge who, fearlessly and conscientiously 
in the discharge of his duty, pronounces those 
judgments.”

In reference to the duties of the President 
and the powers of the Attorney-General under 
him, and of the latter’s control of the marshals 
of the United States, the court observed that



THE STORY OF THE ATTEMPTED ASSASSINATIONKJIHGFEDCBA1 5 7ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

/7/^PzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

' Hl K' <Jl illy ' . ui; IPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
f< , Z»V<ZSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

W h e n th e c ircu it g ra n te d  

th e m o tio n fo r N e a g le ’s re ­

le a se , th e s ta te o f C a lifo r­

n ia a p p e a le d to th e U .S . 

S u p re m e C o u rt. P ic tu re d is  

th e C o u rt's d e c is io n to u p ­

h o ld  th e  lo w e r co u rt ’s d e c i­

s io n  to  re le a se N e a g le . T h e  

d e c is io n b e ca m e a la n d ­

m a rk b e ca u se it g re a tly  

e xp a n d e d e xe cu tive a u th o r­

ity b y p e rm ittin g th e P re s i­

d e n t to ta ke n e ce ssa ry la w  

e n fo rce m e n t a c tio n s , e ve n  

in th e a b se n ce o f sp e c ific  

la w s .

" 2 /y 'r '( { n s s /r r .r fy / r . r . fS fr r y T i

" '""rr '. 'f ■ ’ ‘, /< y /( ‘ r, ( v r J .

/Z"/>zz,/ - z '

H Z ■'/V<!  &  yfl'

7 ,/ /S’ . / ( i  J f t r >  - -

lTlli-5 r»Q5t ■ 7,. ■/  f / . -<

f/s 7( . if f£t 7 ./ .■

- t/CCt-f nrf<7> , rttn/' ><i'ii > /■■ryt.t-f

//*• f/i-ti ?/>■ -W* ,t' '/Cf? ‘?\ f ■****•

/ * , .  7 . - j  * 7 7 \ .  fw f j  ,

.7 / T z r s T ic t : '■7 /r / /& s ,

/ y - i ^ ' i ^ 'y 7 > 2 ‘ 'ty

1 /(7 ' 7 /2 _ e - f i7 , ; ? / • :  f ,w /-? 7 f ' 0 1 .

Z /& ,- t - 'r r -V / : • /■ /7 / f f t / f t - y T fo t /a r T ie s - 

/ / j fe V /S C V r /

cC

(> /(c  7  'h Xh /71-<- 

--•/” 'ZMvx /n'./<v >z \'7 .

the duties of the President are prescribed in 
terse and comprehensive language in section 3 
of article II of the Constitution, which declares 
that “he shall take care that the laws be faith­
fully executed;”  that this gives him all the au­
thority necessary to accomplish the purposes 
intended—all the authority necessarily inher­
ent in the office, not otherwise limited, and 
that Congress, added the court, in pursuance 
of powers vested in it, has provided for seven 
departments, as subordinate to the President, 
to aid him in performing his executive func­
tions. Section 346, R. S., provides that “ there

shall be at the seat of government an execu­
tive department to be known as the Depart­
ment of Justice, and an Attorney-General, who 
shall be the head thereof.”  He thus has the gen­
eral supervision of the executive branch of the 
national judiciary, and section 362 provides, 
as a portion of his powers and duties, that he 
“shall exercise general superintendence and di­
rection over the attorneys and marshals of all 
the districts in the United States and the Ter­
ritories as to the manner of discharging their 
respective duties; and the several district attor­
neys and marshals are required to report to the
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Attorney-General an account of their official 
proceedings, and of the state and condition of 
their respective offices, in such time and man­
ner as the Attorney-General may direct.” Sec­
tion 788, R. S., provides that “ the marshals 
and their deputies shall have, in each State, 
the same powers in executing the laws of the 
United States as the sheriffs and their deputies 
in such State may have, by law, in executing 
the laws thereof.”  By section 817 of the penal 
code of California the sheriff is a “peace offi ­
cer,”  and by section 4176 of the political code 
he is “ to preserve the peace”  and “prevent and 
suppress breaches of the peace.”  The marshal 
is, therefore, under the provisions of the statute 
cited, “a peace officer,” so far as keeping the 
peace in any matter wherein the powers of the 
United States are concerned, and as to such 
matters he has all the powers of the sheriff, as 
peace officer under the laws of the State. He 
is, in such matters, “ to preserve the peace”  and 
“prevent and suppress breaches of the peace.”  
An assault upon or an assassination of a judge 
of a United States court while engaged in any 
matter pertaining to his official duties, on ac­
count or by reason of his judicial decisions, 
or action in performing his official duties, is 
a breach of the peace, affecting the authority 
and interests of the United States, and within 
the jurisdiction and power of the marshal or 
his deputies to prevent as a peace officer of the 
National Government. Such an assault is not 
merely an assault upon the person of the judge 
as a man; it is an assault upon the national 
judiciary, which he represents, and through it 
an assault upon the authority of the nation it­
self. It is, necessarily, a breach of the national 
peace. As a national peace officer, under the 
conditions indicated, it is the duty of the mar­
shal and his deputies to prevent a breach of 
the national peace by an assault upon the au­
thority of the United States, in the person of 
a judge of its highest court, while in the dis­
charge of his duty. If  this be not so, in the lan­
guage of the Supreme Court, “Why do we have 
marshals at all?” What useful functions can 
they perform in the economy of the National 
Government?

Section 787 of the Revised Statutes also 
declares that “ It shall be the duty of the mar­
shal of each district to attend the District and 
Circuit Courts when sitting therein, and to exe­
cute throughout the district all lawful precepts 
directed to him and issued under the authority 
of the United States, and he shall have power 
to command all necessary assistance in the ex­
ecution of his duty.”  There is no more author­
ity specifically conferred upon the marshal by 
this section to protect the judge from assassi­
nation in open court, without a specific order 
or command, than there is to protect him out 
of court, when on the way from one court to 
another in the discharge of his official duties. 
The marshals are in daily attendance upon the 
judges, and performing official duties in their 
chambers. Yet no statute specifically points out 
those duties or requires their performance. In­
deed, no such places as chambers for the circuit 
judges or circuit justices are mentioned at all in 
the statutes. Yet the marshal is as clearly autho­
rized to protect the judges there as in the court­
room. All  business done out of court by the 
judge is called chamber business. But it is not 
necessary to be done in what is usually called 
chambers. Chamber business may be done, and 
often is done, on the street, in the judge’s own 
house, at the hotel where he stops, when absent 
from home, or it may be done in transitu, on the 
cars in going from one place to another within 
the proper jurisdiction to hold court. Mr. Jus­
tice Field could, as well, and as authoritatively, 
issue a temporary injunction, grant a writ of PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
h a b e a s c o r p u s , an order to show cause, or do 
any other chamber business for the district in 
the dining-room at Lathrop, as at his cham­
bers in San Francisco, or in the court-room. 
The chambers of the judge, where chambers 
are provided, are not an element of jurisdic­
tion, but are a convenience to the judge, and 
to suitors—places where the judge at proper 
times can be readily found, and the business 
conveniently transacted.

But inasmuch as the Revised Statutes of 
the United States (sec. 753) declare that the 
writ of h a b e a s c o r p u s shall not extend to “a 
prisoner in jail unless where he is in custody—
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for an act done or omitted in pursuance of a PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
la w  of the United States, or of an order, pro­
cess, or decree of a court or judge thereof, 
or in custody in violation of the Constitution 
or of a law or treaty of the United States,” it 
was urged in the argument by counsel for the 
State that there is no statute which specifically 
makes it the duty of a marshal or deputy mar­
shal to protect the judges of the United States 
whilst out of the court-room, travelling from 
one point to another in their circuits, on of­
ficial business, from the violence of litigants 
who have become offended at the adverse deci­
sions made by them in the performance of their 
judicial duties, and that such officers are not 
within the provisions of that section. To this the 
court replied that the language of the section 
is, “an act done in pursuance of a la w  o f the 
United States”—not in pursuance of a statute 
of the United States; and that the statutes do 
not present in express terms all the law of the 
United States; that their incidents and implica­
tions are as much a part of the law as their ex­
press provisions; and that when they prescribe 
duties providing for the accomplishment of 
certain designated objects, or confer authority 
in general terms, they carry with them all the 
powers essential to effect the ends designed. 
As said by Chief Justice Marshall in Osborn v. 
Bank of the United States (9 Wheaton, 865- 
866),65 “ It is not unusual for a legislative act to 
involve consequences which are not expressed. 
An officer, for example, is ordered to arrest an 
individual. It is not necessary, nor is it usual, 
to say that he shall not be punished for obey­
ing this order. His security is implied in the 
order itself. It is no unusual thing for an act 
of Congress to imply, without expressing, this 
very exemption from State control, which is 
said to be so objectionable in this instance. 
The collectors of the revenue, the carriers of 
the mail, the mint establishment, and all those 
institutions which are public in their nature, are 
examples in point. It has never been doubted 
that all who are employed in them are protected 
while in the line of duty; and yet this protec­
tion is not expressed in any act of Congress. It

is incidental to, and is implied in, the several 
acts by which these institutions are created; 
and is secured to the individuals employed 
in them by the judicial power alone—that is, 
the judicial power is the instrument employed 
by the Government in administering this 
security.”

No t e.—I find the following apt illustrations of this doc­

trine in a journal of the day:

If  a military or naval officer of the United States, in 

the necessary suppression of a mutiny or enforcement of 

obedience, should wound or take the life of a subordinate, 

would it be contended that, if  arrested for that act by the 

State authority, he could not be released on h a b e a s c o r p u s , 

because no statute expressly authorized the performance 

of the act? If  the commander of a revenue cutter should be 

directed to pursue and retake a vessel which, after seizure, 

had escaped from the custody of the law, and the officer 

in the performance of that duty, and when necessary to 

overcome resistance, should injure or kill  a member of the 

crew of the vessel he was ordered to recapture, and if  for 

that act he should be arrested and accused of crime under 

the State authority, will  any sensible person maintain that 

the provisions of the h a b e a s c o r p u s act could not be in­

voked for his release, notwithstanding that no statute could 

be shown which directly authorized the act for which he 

was arrested? If  by command of the President a company 

of troops were marched into this city to protect the sub­

treasury from threatened pillage, and in so doing life were 

taken, would not the act of the officer who commanded 

the troops be an act done in pursuance of the laws of the 

United States, and in the lawful exercise of its authority? 

Could he be imprisoned and tried before a State jury on 

the charge of murder, and the courts of the United States 

be powerless to inquire into the facts on h a b e a s c o r p u s and 

to discharge him if  found to have acted in the performance 

of his duty? Can the authority of the United States for the 

protection of their officers be less than their authority to 

protect their property?

There appears to be but one rational answer to these 

questions.

In all these cases the authority vested in the offi ­

cer to suppress a mutiny, or to overtake and capture an 

escaped vessel, or to protect the subtreasury from threat­

ened pillage, carries with it power to do all things nec­

essary to accomplish the object desired, even the killing  

of the offending party. The law conferring the author­

ity thus extended to the officer in these cases, is in the 

sense of the h a b e a s c o r p u s act, a law of the United 

States to do all things necessary for the execution of that 

authority.
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Upon this the Circuit Court observed:

“ If  the officers referred to in the pre­
ceding passage are to be protected 
while in the line of their duty, with­
out any special law or statute requir­
ing such protection, the judges of the 
courts, the principal officers in a de­
partment of the Government second 
to no other, are also to be protected, 
and their executive subordinates— 
the marshals and their deputies— 
shielded from harm by the national 
laws while honestly engaged in pro­
tecting the heads of the courts from 
assassination.”

To the position that the preservation of the 
peace of the State is devolved solely upon the 
officers of the State, and not in any respect 
upon the marshals of the United.States, the 
court replied:

This position is already answered by 
what has been said. But it is undoubt­
edly true that it was the imperative 
duty of the State to preserve the pub­
lic peace and amply protect the life 
of Justice Field, PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAb u t i t  d id n o t d o 
i t , and had the United States relied 
upon the State to keep the peace as to 
him—one of the justices of the high­
est court—in relation to matters con­
cerning the performance of his offi ­
cial duties, they would have leaned 
upon a broken reed. The result of the 
efforts to obtain an officer from the 
State to assist in preserving the peace 
and protecting him at Lathrop was 
anything but successful. The officer 
of the State at Lathrop, instead of 
arresting the conspirator of the con­
templated murderer, the wife of the 
deceased, arrested the officer of the 
United States, assigned by the Gov­
ernment to the special duty of pro­
tecting the justice against the very 
parties, while in the actual prosecu­
tion of duties assigned to him, without

warrant, thereby leaving his charge 
without the protection provided by 
the Government he was serving, at 
a time when such protection seemed 
most needed. And, besides, the use 
of the State police force beyond the 
limits of a county for the protec­
tion of Justice Field would have been 
impracticable, as the powers of the 
sheriff would have ended at its bor­
ders, and of other township and city 
peace officers at the boundaries of 
their respective townships and cities. 
Only a United States marshal or his 
deputy could have exercised these of­
ficial functions throughout the judi­
cial district, which embraces many 
counties. The only remedy suggested 
on the part of the State was to ar­
rest the deceased and hold him to bail 
to keep the peace under section 706 
of the Penal Code, the highest limit  
of the amount of bail being $5,000. 
But although the threats are conceded 
to have been publicly known in the 
State, no State officer took any means 
to provide this flimsy safeguard. And 
the execution of a bond in this amount 
to keep the peace would have had 
no effect in deterring the intended 
assailants from the commission of 
the offense contemplated, when the 
penalties of the law would not deter 
them.

As to the deliberation and wisdom of 
Neagle’s conduct under the circumstances, the 
court, after stating the established facts, con­
cludes as follows:

“When the deceased left his seat, 
some thirty feet distant, walked 
stealthily down the passage in the rear 
of Justice Field and dealt the unsus­
pecting jurist two preliminary blows, 
doubtless by way of reminding him 
that the time for vengeance had at 
last come, Justice Field was already
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at the traditional ‘wall’ of the law. 
He was sitting quietly at a table, back 
to the assailant, eating his breakfast, 
the side opposite being occupied by 
other passengers, some of whom were 
women, similarly engaged. When, in 
a dazed condition, he awoke to the 
reality of the situation and saw the 
stalwart form of the deceased with 
arm drawn back for a final mortal 
blow, there was no time to get under or 
over the table, had the law, under any 
circumstances, required such an act 
for his justification. Neagle could not 
seek a ‘wall’ to justify his acts with­
out abandoning his charge to certain 
death. When, therefore, he sprang to 
his feet and cried, ‘Stop! I am an 
officer,’ and saw the powerful arm 
of the deceased drawn back for the 
final deadly stroke instantly change 
its direction to his left breast, appar­
ently seeking his favorite weapon, the 
knife, and at the same time heard the 
half-suppressed, disappointed growl 
of recognition of the man who, with 
the aid of half a dozen others, had fi ­
nally succeeded in disarming him of 
his knife at the court-room a year be­
fore, the supreme moment had come, 
or, at least, with abundant reason he 
thought so, and fired the fatal shot. 
The testimony all concurs in showing 
this to be the state of facts, and the 
almost universal consensus of public 
opinion of the United States seems 
to justify the act. On that occasion a 
second, or two seconds, signified, at 
least, two valuable lives, and a reason­
able degree of prudence would justify 
a shot one or two seconds too soon 
rather than a fraction of a second too 
late. Upon our minds the evidence 
leaves no doubt whatever that the 
homicide was fully justified by the 
circumstances. Neagle on the scene 
of action, facing the party making a

murderous assault, knowing by per­
sonal experience his physical pow­
ers and his desperate character, and 
by general reputation his life-long 
habit of carrying arms, his readiness 
to use them, and his angry, murder­
ous threats, and seeing his demoniac 
looks, his stealthy assault upon Jus­
tice Field from behind, and, remem­
bering the sacred trust committed to 
his charge—Neagle, in these trying 
circumstances, was the party to de­
termine when the supreme moment 
for action had come, and if  he, hon­
estly, acted with reasonable judgment 
and discretion, the law justifies him, 
even if  he erred. But who will  have 
the courage to stand up in the pres­
ence of the facts developed by the 
testimony in this case, and say that he 
fired the smallest fraction of a second 
too soon?

“ In our judgment he acted, under 
the trying circumstances surround­
ing him, in good faith and with con­
summate courage, judgment, and dis­
cretion. The homicide was, in our 
opinion, clearly justifiable in law, 
and in the forum of sound, practical 
common sense commendable. This 
being so, and the act having been 
‘done *  *  * in pursuance of a law of the 
United States,’ as we have already 
seen, it cannot be an offense against, 
and he is not amenable to, the laws of 
the State.”

The petitioner was accordingly discharged 
from arrest.66

Chapter XVIII. Expressions of PublicSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Opinion.

This case and all the attendant circum­
stances—the attempted assassination of Jus­
tice Field by his former associate, Terry; the 
defeat of this murderous attempt by Deputy
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Marshal Neagle; the arrest of Justice Field and 
the deputy marshal upon the charge of murder, 
and their discharge—created very great inter­
est throughout the United States. They were the 
subject of articles in all the leading journals of 
the country; and numerous telegrams and let­
ters of congratulation were sent to the Justice 
on his escape from the murderous attempt. Sat­
isfaction was very generally expressed at the 
fate which Terry met, and much praise was 
given to the courageous conduct of Neagle and 
at the bearing of Justice Field under the trying 
circumstances.

A few of the letters received by him are 
here given, and citations are made from some 
of the periodicals, which indicated the general 
sentiment of the country.

Letter from Hon. T. F. Bayard, ex- 
Secretary of State:

Wil min g t o n, De l a w a r e, PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA u g u s t 18,
1889.
My  d e a r Br o t h e r Fie l d :

I was absent from home when
I first saw in the newspapers an ac­
count of the infamous assault of the 
Terrys—husband and wife—upon 
you, and the prompt and courageous 
action of Deputy Marshal Neagle that 
happily frustrated the iniquitous plot 
against your life.

Accept, my dear friend, my fer­
vent congratulations on your escape 
from the designs of this madman and 
of the shameless creature who was his 
wife and accomplice.

For the sake of our country and 
its reputation in the eyes of Chris­
tendom, I am indeed grateful that 
this vile stab at its judicial power, 
as vested in your personality, miscar­
ried, and that by good fortune the in­
sane malice of a disappointed suitor 
should have been thwarted.

Your dignified courage in this 
tragical episode is most impressive, 
and, while it endears you the more to

those who love you, will  wring even 
from your foes a tribute of respect and 
admiration.

Passing over the arguments that 
may be wrought out of the ver­
biage of our dual constitution of 
government, the robust and essen­
tial principle m u s t be recognized 
and proclaimed—that the in h e r e n t 
p o w e r s of every government which 
are sufficient to authorize and enforce 
the judgments of its courts are equally 
and at all times and in all places suf­
ficient to protect the individual judge 
who fearlessly and conscientiously, in 
the discharge of his duty, pronounces 
those judgments.

The case, my dear friend, is not 
yours alone; it is equally mine and 
that of every other American. A prin­
ciple so vital to society, to the body 
politic, was never more dangerously 
and wickedly assailed than by the as­
sault of Terry and his wife upon you 
for your just and honorable perfor­
mance of your duty as a magistrate.

I can well comprehend the shock 
to which this occurrence has sub­
jected you, and I wish I could be by 
your side to give you assurance orally 
(if  any were needed) of that absolute 
sympathy and support to which you 
are so fully entitled. But these lines 
will  perhaps suffice to make you feel 
the affectionate and steadfast regard I 
entertain for you, and which this ter­
rible event has but increased.

I cannot forbear an expression of 
the hope that the arguments of juris­
dictional and other points which must 
attend the litigation and settlement 
of this tragedy may not be abated or 
warped to meet any temporary local 
or partisan demand.

The voice of Justice can never 
speak in clearer or more divine ac­
cents than when heard in vindication
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and honor of her own faithful minis­
ters.

Ever, my dear Judge Field,
Sincerely yours,

T. F. Ba y a r d.

The Hon. St e ph e n J. Fie l d ,PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
S a n F r a n c is c o C a l.

Letter from Hon. E. J. Phelps, former Min­
ister to England:

Bu r l in g t o n, Ve r mo n t, A u g u s t 17, 
1889.
My  d e a r Ju d g e Fie l d :

Pray let me congratulate you 
most heartily on the Terry transac­
tion. Nothing that has ever occurred 
in the administration of justice has 
given me more satisfaction than this 
prompt, righteous, and effectual vin­
dication through an officer of the 
court of the sanctity of the judiciary 
when in the discharge of its duty. 
What your marshal did was exactly 
the right thing, at the right time, and 
in the right way. I shall be most happy 
to join in a suitable testimonial to him, 
if  our profession will,  as they ought, 
concur in presenting it.***

Your own coolness and carriage 
in confronting this danger in the dis­
charge of your duty must be univer­
sally admired, and will  shed an addi­
tional lustre on a judicial career which 
was distinguished enough without 
it.

You have escaped a great peril— 
acquired a fresh distinction—and 
vindicated most properly the dignity 
of your high station.

I am glad to perceive that this is 
the general opinion.

Anticipating the pleasure of see­
ing you in Washington next term,

I am always, dear sir,
Most sincerely yours,

E . J . P H E L P S

Letter from Hon. George F. Hoar, Senator 
from Massachusetts:

Wo r c e s t e r, A u g u s t 16,1889.
My  De a r Ju d g e Fie l d :

I think I ought to tell you, at this
time, how high you stand in the confi­
dence and reverence of all good men 
here, how deeply they were shocked 
by this outrage attempted not so much 
on you as on the judicial office it­
self, and how entirely the prompt ac­
tion of the officer is approved. I hope 
you may long be spared to the public 
service.

I am faithfully yours,
Ge o. F. Ho a r .

Letter from Hon. J. Proctor Knott, for 
many years a Member of Congress from Ken­
tucky and Chairman of the Judiciary Commit­
tee of the House of Representatives, and after­
wards Governor of Kentucky:

Le b a n o n, Ke n t u c k y, S e p te m b e r 5,
1889.
My  De a r Ju d g e:***

I have had it in mind to write you
from the moment I first heard of your 
fortunate escape from the fiendish 
assassination with which you were 
so imminently threatened, but I have, 
since the latter part of May, been suf­
fering from a most distressing affec­
tion of the eyes which has rendered 
it extremely difficult, and frequently, 
for days together, quite impossible to 
do so. Even now, though much im­
proved, I write in great pain, but I can­
not get my consent to delay it longer 
on any account. You are to be congrat­
ulated, my dear friend, and you know 
that no one could possibly do so with 
more genuine, heartfelt sincerity than 
I do myself.***

I had been troubled, ever since
I saw you had gone to your circuit, 
with apprehensions that you would 
be assassinated, or at least subjected
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to some gross outrage, and cannot 
express my admiration of the serene 
heroism with which you went to your 
post of duty, determined not to de­
base the dignity of your exalted po­
sition by wearing arms for your de­
fense, notwithstanding you were fully  
conscious of the danger which men­
aced you. It didn’t surprise me, how­
ever, for I knew the stuff you were 
made of had been tested before. But I PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
w a s surprised and disgusted, too, that 
y o u should have been charged or even 
suspected of anything wrong in the 
matter. The magistrate who issued the 
warrant for your arrest may possibly 
have thought it his duty to do so, with­
out looking beyond the “ railing ac­
cusation” of a baffled and infuriated 
murderess, which all the world in­
stinctively knew to be false, yet I sup­
pose there is not an intelligent man, 
woman, or child on the continent who 
does not consider in an infamous and 
unmitigated outrage, or who is not 
thoroughly satisfied that the brave 
fellow who defended you so oppor­
tunely was legally and morally justifi­
able in what he did. I have not been in 
a condition to th in k very coherently, 
much less to read anything in relation 
to the question of jurisdiction raised 
by the State authorities in the h a b e a s 
c o r p u s issued in your behalf by the 
U.S. Circuit Court, and it may be that, 
from the mere newspaper’s reports 
that have reached me, I have been un­
able to fully  apprehend the objections 
which are made to the courts hear­
ing all the facts on the trial of the 
writ; but it occurs to me as a plain 
principle of common sense that the 
federal government should not only 
have the power, but that it is neces­
sary to its own preservation, to protect 
its officers from being wantonly or 
maliciously interfered with, hindered

or obstructed in the lawful exercises 
of their official duties, not arbitrarily 
of course, but through its regularly 
constituted agencies, and according 
to the established principles of law; 
and where such obstruction consists 
in the forcible restraint of the offi ­
cer’s liberty, I see no reason why the 
federal judiciary should not inquire 
into it on h a b e a s c o r p u s , when it is 
alleged to be not only illegal but con­
trived for the very purpose of hinder­
ing the officer in the discharge of his 
official duties, and impairing the effi­
ciency of the public service. It is true 
that in such an investigation a real or 
apparent conflict between State and 
federal authority may be presented, 
which a due regard to the respective 
rights of the two governments would 
require to be considered with the ut­
most caution, such caution, at least, 
as it is fair to presume an intelligent 
court would always be careful to ex­
ercise, in view of the absolute impor­
tance of maintaining as far as possi­
ble the strictest harmony between the 
two jurisdictions. Yet those rights are 
determined and by fixed legal princi­
ples, which it would be impossible for 
a court to apply in any case without 
a competent knowledge of the fa c ts 
upon which their application in the 
particular case might depend. For in­
stance, if  your court should issue a 
writ of h a b e a s c o r p u s for the relief of 
a federal officer upon the averments 
in his petition that he was forcibly and 
illegally restrained of his liberty for 
the purpose of preventing him from 
performing his official duties, and it 
should appear in the return to the writ 
that the person detaining the prisoner 
was a ministerial officer of the State 
government authorized by its laws to 
execute its process, and that he held 
the petitioner in custody by virtue of
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a warrant of arrest in due form, issued 
by a competent magistrate, to answer 
for an offense against the State laws, 
I presume the court, in the absence of 
any further showing, would instantly 
remand the petitioner to the custody 
of the State authorities without regard 
to his official position or the nature 
of his public duties. But, on the other 
hand, suppose there should be a tra­
verse of the return, averring that the 
warrant of the arrest, though appar­
ently regular in all respects, was in 
truth but a fraudulent contrivance de­
signed and employed for the sole pur­
pose of hindering and obstructing the 
petitioner in the performance of his 
duties as an officer of the government 
of the United States; that the mag­
istrate who issued it, knowingly and 
maliciously abused his authority for 
that purpose in pursuance of a con­
spiracy between himself and others, 
and not in good faith, and upon prob­
able cause to bring the prisoner to jus­
tice for a crime against the State. How 
then? Here is an apparent conflict— 
not a PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAr e a l one—between the rights of 
the government of the United States 
and the government of the State. The 
one has a right to the service of its 
officer, and the right to prevent his 
being unlawfully interfered with or 
obstructed in the performance of his 
official duties; the other has the right 
to administer its laws for the punish­
ment of crime through its own tri­
bunals; but it must be observed that 
the former has no right to shield one 
of its officers from a valid prosecu­
tion for a violation of the laws of the 
latter not in conflict with the Consti­
tution and laws of the United States, 
nor can it be claimed that the latter 
has any right to suffer its laws to be 
prostituted, and its authority fraud­
ulently abused, in aid of a conspir­

acy to defeat or obstruct the func­
tions of the former. Such an abuse 
of authority is not, and cannot be in 
any sense, a b o n a f id e administration 
of State laws, but is itself a crime 
against them. What, then, would your 
court do? You would probably say: If  
it is true that this man is held with­
out probable cause under a fraudu­
lent warrant, issued in pursuance of 
a conspiracy to which the magistrate 
who issued it was a party, to give legal 
color to a malicious interference with 
his functions as a federal official, he 
is the victim of a double crime—a 
crime against the United States and 
a crime against the State—and it is 
not only our duty to vindicate his 
right to the free exercise of his of­
ficial duties, but the right of the fed­
eral government to his services, and 
its right to protect him in the legal per­
formance of the same. But if, on the 
other hand, he has raised a mere “ false 
clamor”—if  he is held in good faith 
upon a valid warrant to answer for 
a crime committed against the State, 
it is equally as obligatory upon us to 
uphold its authority, and maintain its 
right to vindicate its own laws through 
its own machinery. To determine be­
tween these two hypotheses we must 
know the fa c ts . ***The same sim­
ple reasoning, it occurs to me, ap­
plies to Mr. Neagle’s case. Whether 
he acted in the line of his duty under 
the laws of the United States, as an of­
ficer of that government, is clearly a 
question within the jurisdiction of the 
federal judiciary. If  he d id , h e cannot 
be held responsible to the State au­
thority; if  he did n o t , he should an­
swer, if  required, before its tribunals 
of justice. I presume no court of 
ordinary intelligence, State or fed­
eral, would question these obvious 
principles; but how a n y court could
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determine whether he did or did not 
act in the line of his official duty un­
der the laws of his government with­
out a judicial inquiry into the PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAfa c ts 
connected with the transaction I am 
unable to imagine.* *  *

I am, as always,
Your faithful friend,

J. PROCTOR KNOTT.

Ho n . S. J. Fie l d ,
A s s o c ia te J u s t ic e S u p r e m e C o u r t 
U S .

Letter from Hon. William D. Shipman, 
formerly U.S. District Judge for the District 
of Connecticut:

Ne w Yo r k , O c to b e r 20, 1889.
De a r Ju d g e:

I have attentively read Judge
Sawyer’s opinion in the Neagle 
h a b e a s c o r p u s case, and I agree with 
his main conclusions. It seems to me 
that the whole question of jurisdiction 
turns on the fact whether you were, at 
the time the assault was made on you, 
engaged in the performance of your 
official duty.

You had been to Los Angeles 
to hold court there and had finished 
that business. In going there you 
were performing an official duty as 
much as you were when you had held 
court there. It was then your official 
duty to go from Los Angeles to San 
Francisco and hold court there. You 
could not hold court at the latter place 
without going, and you were engaged 
in the line of your official duty in per­
forming that journey for that purpose, 
as you were in holding the court after 
you got there. The idea that a judge 
is not performing official duty when 
he goes from court-house to court­
house or from court-room to court­
room in his own circuit seems to me

to be absurd. The distance from one 
court-house or court-room to another 
is not material, and does not change 
or modify the act or duty of the 
judge.

Now, Neagle was an officer of 
your court, charged with the duty 
of protecting your person while you 
were engaged in the performance of 
your official duty. H is duty was to 
see to it that you were not unlawfully 
prevented from performing your offi ­
cial duty—not hindered or obstructed 
therein. For the State authorities to in­
dict him for repelling the assault on 
you in the only way which he could 
do so effectually seems to me to be 
as unwarranted by law as it would be 
for them to indict him for an assault 
on Terry when he assisted in disarm­
ing the latter in the court-room last 
year.

When, therefore, it was con­
ceded on the argument that if  the af­
fair at Lathrop had taken place in the 
court-room during the sitting of the 
court, the jurisdiction of the Circuit 
Court would be unquestionable, it 
is difficult for me to see why the 
whole question of federal jurisdiction 
was not embraced in that concession. 
Assassinating a judge o n the bench 
would no more obstruct and defeat 
public justice than assassinating him 
on his way to the bench. In each case 
he is p r o c e e d in g in  th e l in e  o f o f f ic ia l 
d u ty im p o s e d o n h im  b y la w  a n d his 
official oath. The law requires him to 
go to court wherever the latter is held, 
and he is as much engaged in per­
forming the duty thus imposed on him 
while he is proceeding to the place of 
his judicial labors as he is in perform­
ing the latter after he gets there.

It would, therefore, seem to go 
without saying that any acts done in 
defense and protection of the judge in
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the performance of the duties of his 
office must pertain to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the court of which he 
forms a part.

The fact that the assault on you 
was avowedly made in revenge for 
your judicial action in a case heard by 
you gives a darker tinge to the deed, 
but, perhaps, does not change the le­
gal character of the assault itself.

That Neagle did his whole duty, 
and in no way exceeded it, is too plain 
for argument.

Yours faithfully,
W. D. SHIPMAN.

Mr. Justice Fie l d .

Letter from James C. Welling, president 
of Columbian University, Washington:

Ha r t f o r d, PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA u g u s t 15, 1889.
My  De a r Ju d g e:

It is a relief to know that Jus­
tice, as well as the honored justice 
of our Supreme Judiciary, has been 
avenged by the pistol-shot of Neagle.
The life of Terry has long since been 
forfeited to law, to decency, and to 
morals. He has already exceeded the 
limit assigned by holy scripture to 
men of his ilk. “The bloody-minded 
man shall not live out half his days.”
The mode of his death was in keep­
ing with his life. Men who break all 
the laws of nature should not expect 
to die by the laws of nature.

In all this episode you have sim­
ply worn the judicial ermine without 
spot or stain. You defeated a bold, 
bad man in his machinations, and the 
enmity you thereby incurred was a 
crown of honor. I am glad that you 
are to be no longer harassed by the 
menace of this man’s violence, for 
such a menace is specially trying to 
a minister of the law. We all know 
that Judge Field the m a n would not 
flinch from a thousand Terrys, but

Judge Field the J u s t ic e could hardly 
take in his own hands the protection of 
his person, where the threatened out­
rage sprang e n t i r e ly from his official 
acts.

I wish, therefore, to congratulate 
you on your escape alike from the vio­
lence of Terry and from the necessity 
of killing  him with your own hands. It 
was meet that you should have been 
defended by an executive officer of 
the court assailed in your person. For 
doubtless Terry, and the hag who was 
on the hunt with him, were minded to 
murder you.

Convey my cordial felicitations 
to Mrs. Field, and believe me ever, 
my dear Mr. Justice,

Your faithful friend, 
JAMES. C. WELLING.

Mr. Justice Fie l d .

Letter from Right Rev. B. Wistar Morris, 
Episcopal Bishop of Oregon:

Bis h o pc r o f t, Po r t l a n d, Or e g o n,
A u g u s t 2 7 ., 1889.
My  De a r Ju d g e Fie l d :

I hope a word of congratulation 
from your Oregon friends for your es­
cape in the recent tragedy will  not 
be considered an intrusion. Of course 
we have all been deeply interested in 
its history, and proud that you were 
found as you were, without the de­
fenses of a bully.

I will  not trespass further on your 
time than to subscribe myself,

Very truly your friend,
B. WISTAR MORRIS.

Mr . Ju s t ic e Fie l d .

A copy of the following card was enclosed in 
this letter:

AN UNARMED JUSTICE.
Po r t l a n d Or e g o n, A u g u s t 19.
T o th e E d i to r o f  th e O r e g o n ia n :
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There is one circumstance in the 
history of the Field and Terry tragedy 
that seems to me is worthy of more 
emphatic comment than it has yet re­
ceived. I mean the fact that Judge 
Field had about his person no weapon 
of defense whatever, though he knew 
that this miserable villain was dog­
ging his steps for the purpose of as­
saulting him, perhaps of taking his 
life. His brother, Mr. Cyrus W. Field, 
says:

“ It was common talk in the East 
here, among my brother’s friends, 
that Terry’s threats to do him bodily 
harm were made with the full intent 
to follow them up. Terry threatened 
openly to shoot the Justice, and we, 
who knew him, were convinced he 
would certainly do it if  he ever got a 
chance.

“ I endeavored to dissuade my 
brother from making the trip west this 
year, but to no purpose, and he said, 
‘ I have a duty to perform there, and 
this sort of thing can’t frighten me 
away. I know Terry will  do me harm 
if  he gets a chance, and as I shall be 
in California some time, he will  have 
chances enough. Let him take them.’

“When urged to arm himself he 
made the same reply. He said that 
when it came to such a pass in this 
country that judges find it necessary 
to go armed, it will  be time to close 
the courts themselves.”

This was a manly and noble reply 
and must recall to many minds that fa­
miliar sentiment: “He is thrice armed 
who has his quarrel just.” With the 
daily and hourly knowledge that this 
assassin was ever upon his track, this 
brave judge goes about his duty and 
scorns to take to himself the defenses 
of a bully or a brigand; and in doing 
so, how immeasurably has he placed 
himself above the vile creature that

sought his life, and all others who re­
sort to deeds of violence. “They that 
take the sword shall perish with the 
sword,” is a saying of wide applica­
tion, and had it been so in this case; 
had this brave and self-possessed man 
been moved from his high purpose by 
the importunity of friends, and when 
slain by his enemy, had been found 
armed in like manner with the mur­
derer himself, what a stain would it 
have been upon his name and honor?
And how would our whole country 
have been disgraced in the eyes of 
the civilized world, that her highest 
ministers of justice must be armed as 
highwaymen as they go about their 
daily duties!

Well said this undaunted servant 
of the state: “Then will  it be time to 
close the courts themselves.”  May we 
not hope, Mr. Editor, that this exam­
ple of one occupying this high place 
in our country may have some influ­
ence in staying the spirit and deeds 
of violence now so rife, and that they 
who are so ready to resort to the rifle 
and revolver may learn to regard them 
only as the instruments of the coward 
or the scoundrel?

B. WISTAR MORRIS.

The citations given below from differ­
ent journals, published at the time, indicated 
the general opinion of the country. With rare 
exceptions it approved of the action of the 
Government, the conduct of Neagle, and the 
bearing of Justice Field.

The PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA lta C a l i fo r n ia , a leading paper in 
California, had, on August 15, 1889, the day 
following the tragedy, the following article:

THE TERRY TRAGEDY.
The killing of David S. Terry

by the United States Marshal David
Neagle yesterday was an unfortunate 
affair, regretted, we believe, by no one 
more than by Justice Field, in whose
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defense the fatal shot was fired. There 
seems, however, to be an almost un­
divided sentiment that the killing  was 
justifiable. Every circumstance at­
tending the tragedy points to the ir­
resistible conclusion that there was 
a premeditated determination on the 
part of Terry and his wife to pro­
voke Justice Field to an encounter, in 
which Terry might either find an ex­
cuse for killing  the man against whom 
he had threatened vengeance, or in 
which his wife might use the pistol 
which she always carries, in the pre­
tended defense of her husband. For 
some time past it has been feared 
that a meeting between Terry and 
Justice Field would result in blood­
shed. There is now indisputable proof 
that Terry had made repeated threats 
that he would assault Justice Field 
the first time he met him off the 
bench, and that if  the Judge resisted 
he would kill  him. Viewed in the light 
of these threats, Terry’s presence on 
the same train with Justice Field will  
hardly be regarded as accidental, and 
his actions in the breakfast-room at 
Lathrop were directly in line with 
the intentions he had previously ex­
pressed. Neagle’s prompt and deadly 
use of his revolver is to be judged 
with due reference to the character 
and known disposition of the man 
with whom he had to deal and to 
his previous actions and threats. He 
was attending Justice Field, against 
the will  of the latter and in spite of 
his protest, in obedience to an or­
der from the Attorney-General of the 
United States to Marshal Franks to 
detail a deputy to protect the person 
of Justice Field from Terry’s threat­
ened violence. A slap in the face may 
not, under ordinary circumstances, be 
sufficient provocation to justify the 
taking of human life; but it must be

remembered that there were no or­
dinary circumstances and that Terry 
was no ordinary man. Terry was a 
noted pistol-shot; it was known that 
he invariably carried arms and that 
he boasted of his ability to use them. 
If  on this occasion he was unarmed, 
as Mrs. Terry asserts,* Neagle had 
no means of knowing that fact; on 
the contrary, to his mind every pre­
sumption was in favor of the belief 
that he carried both pistol and knife, 
in accordance with his usual habit. 
As a peace officer, even apart from 
the special duty which had been as­
signed to him, he was justified in tak­
ing the means necessary to prevent 
Terry from continuing his assault; but 
the means necessary in the case of 
one man may be wholly inadequate 
with a man bearing the reputation of 
David S. Terry, a man who only a 
few months previously had drawn a 
knife while resisting the lawful au­
thority of another United States of­
ficer. It is true that if  Terry was un­
armed, the deputy marshal might have 
arrested him without taking his life 
or seriously endangering his own; but 
Terry was a man of gigantic stature, 
and, though aged, in possession of a 
giant’s strength; and there is no one 
who was acquainted with him, or has 
had opportunity to learn his past his­
tory, who does not know that he was 
a desperate man, willing  to take des­
perate chances and to resort to des­
perate means when giving way to his 
impulses of passion, and that any per­
son who should at such a moment at­
tempt to stay his hand would do so at 
the risk of his life. Whether he had a 
pistol with him at that moment or not,

*It  has been conclusively established since that he was 

armed with his usual bowie-knife at the time.
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there was every reason to believe that 
he was armed, and that the blow with 
his hand was intended only as the pre­
cursor to a more deadly blow with a 
weapon. At such moments little time 
is allowed for reflection. The officer 
of the law was called upon to act and 
to act promptly. He did so, and the life 
of David S. Terry was the forfeit. He 
fell, a victim to his own ungovern­
able passions, urged on to his fate 
by the woman who was at once his 
wife and his client, and perhaps fur­
ther incited by sensational newspaper 
articles which stirred up the memory 
of his resentment for fancied wrongs, 
and taunted him with the humiliation 
of threats unfulfilled.

The close of Judge Terry’s life 
ends a career and an era. He had the 
misfortune to carry into a ripened 
state of society the conditions which 
are tolerable only where social or­
der is not fully established. Restless 
under authority, and putting violence 
above law, he lived by the sword and 
has perished by it.

That example which refused sub­
mission to judicial finalities was be­
coming offensive to California, but 
the incubus of physical fear was upon 
many who realized that the survival 
of frontier ways into non-frontier pe­
riod was a damage to the State. But, 
be this as it may, the stubborn spirit 
that defied the law has fallen by the 
law.

When Justice Field showed the 
highest judicial courage in the open­
ing incidents of the tragedy that 
has now closed, the manhood of 
California received a distinct impe­
tus. When the Justice, with threats 
made against his life, returned to 
the State unarmed, and resentful of 
protection against assault, declaring 
that when judges must arm to de­

fend themselves from assault offered 
in reprisal of their judicial actions so­
ciety must be considered dissolved, 
he was rendering to our institutions 
the final and highest possible service.
The event that followed, the killing  
of Terry in the act of striking him 
the second time from behind, while 
he sat at table in a crowded public 
dining-room, was the act of the law.
The Federal Department of Justice, 
by its chief, the Attorney-General of 
the United States, had ordered its of­
ficer, the United States marshal for 
the northern district of California, to 
take such means and such measures 
as might be necessary to protect the 
persons of the judges against assault 
by Judge Terry, in carrying out the 
threats that he had made. This order 
was from the executive arm of the 
Government, and it was carried out 
to the letter. Judge Terry took the law 
into his own hands and fell. Nothing 
can add to the lesson his fate teaches.
It is established now that in California 
no man is above the law; that no man 
can affect the even poise of justice by 
fear. Confiding in his own strength as 
superior to the law, David S. Terry fell 
wretchedly.

No more need be said. New
California inscribes upon her shield,
“Obedience to the law the first con­
dition of good citizenship,” and the 
past is closed.PONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

T h e R e c o r d -U n io n of Sacramento, one of 
the leading papers of California, on August 
15, 1889, the day following the tragedy, had 
the following article under the head—

KILLING  OF JUDGE TERRY.
In the news columns of the R e c o r d -

U n io n will be found all the essen­
tial details of the circumstances of the 
killing of D. S. Terry. It will  be evi­
dent to the reader that they readily sap
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the whole case, and that there is no 
substantial dispute possible concern­
ing the facts. These truths we assert, 
without fear of successful condradic- 
tion, establish the justifiableness of 
the act of the United States marshal 
who fired upon and killed Terry. We 
think there will  be no dispute among 
sensible men that a federal circuit 
judge or a justice of the supreme 
bench, passing from one portion of 
the circuit to another in which ei­
ther is required to open a court and 
hear causes, and for the purpose of 
fully  discharging his official duties, is 
while en route in the discharge of an 
official function, and constructively 
his court is open to the extent that an 
assault upon him, because of matters 
pending in his court, or because of 
judgments he has rendered or is to 
render, is an assault upon the court, 
and his bailiff or marshal detailed 
to attend the court or to aid in pre­
serving the order and dignity of the 
court has the same right to protect him 
from assault then that he would have, 
had the judge actually reached his 
court-room.

But further than this, we hold that 
in view of the undeniable fact that the 
Justice had knowledge of the fact that 
the Terrys, man and wife, had sworn 
to punish him; that they had indulged 
in threats against him of the most 
pronounced character; that they had 
boarded a train on which it is probable 
they knew he had taken passage from 
one part of his circuit to another in his 
capacity as a magistrate; in view of 
the fact that Terry sought the first op­
portunity to approach and strike him, 
and that, too, when seated; and in 
view of the notorious fact that Terry 
always went armed—the man who 
shot Terry would have been justified 
in doing so had he not even been com­
missioned as an officer of the court.

He warned the assailant to desist, and 
knowing his custom to go armed, and 
that he had threatened the Justice, and 
Terry refusing to restrain his blows, 
it was Neagle’s duty to save life, to 
strike down the assailant in the most 
effectual manner. Men who, having 
the ability to prevent murder, stand 
by and see it committed, may well 
be held to accountability for criminal 
negligence.

But in this case it is clear that 
murder was intended on the part of 
the Terrys. One of them ran for her 
pistol and brought it, and would have 
reached the other’s side with it  in time, 
had she not been detained by strong 
men at the door. Neagle saw this 
woman depart, and coupling it with 
the advance of Terry, knew, as a mat­
ter of course, what it meant. He had 
been deputed by the chief law officer 
of the Government—in view of pre­
vious assaults by the Terrys and their 
threats and display of weapons in 
court—to stand guard over the judges 
and protect them. He acted, therefore, 
precisely as it was proper he should 
do. Had he been less prompt and vig­
orous, all the world knows that not 
he but Terry would to-day be in cus­
tody, and not Terry but the venerable 
justice of the Supreme Court of the 
United States would to-day be in the 
coffin.

These remarks have grown too 
extended for any elaboration of the 
moral of the tragedy that culminated 
in the killing of David S. Terry yes­
terday. But we cannot allow the sub­
ject to be even temporarily dismissed 
without calling the thought of the 
reader to contemplation of the essen­
tial truth that society is bound to pro­
tect the judges of the courts of the land 
from violence and the threats of vio­
lence; otherwise the decisions of our 
courts must conform to the violence
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threatened, and there will  be an end of 
our judicial system, the third and most 
valuable factor in the scheme of rep­
resentative government. Society can­
not, therefore, punish, but must ap­
plaud the man who defends the courts 
of the people and the judges of those 
courts from such violence and threats 
of violence. For it must be apparent 
to even the dullest intellect that all 
such violence is an outrage upon the 
judicial conscience, and therefore in­
volves and puts in peril the liberties 
of the people.

The New Orleans PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im e s -D e m o c r a t , in one 
of its issues at this period, used the following 
language:

The judge in America who keeps 
his official ermine spotless, who 
faithfully attends to the heavy and 
responsible duties of his station, de­
serves that the people should guard 
the sanctity of his person with a 
strength stronger than armour of steel 
and readier than the stroke of lance or 
sword. Though the judges be called to 
pass on tens of thousands of cases, to 
sentence to imprisonment or to death 
thousands of criminals, they should 
be held by the people safe from the 
hate and vengeance of those crimi­
nals as if  they were guarded by an 
invulnerable shield.

If  Judge Field, of the Supreme 
Court, one of the nine highest judges 
under our republican government, in 
travelling recently over his circuit 
in California, had been left to the 
mercy of the violent man who had re­
peatedly threatened his life, who had 
proved himself ready with the deadly 
knife or revolver, it would have been 
a disgrace to American civilization; 
it would have been a stigma and

stain upon American manhood; it 
would have shown that the spirit of 
American liberty, which exalts and 
pays reverence to our judiciary, had 
been replaced by a public apathy that 
marked the beginning of the decline 
of patriotism.

Judge Field recognized this 
when, in being advised to arm him­
self in case his life was endangered, 
he uttered the noble words: “No, sir; 
I do not and will  not carry arms, for 
when it is known that the judges of 
the court are compelled to arm them­
selves against assaults offered in con­
sequence of their judicial action it 
will  be time to dissolve the courts, 
consider the government a failure, 
and let society lapse into barbarism.”  
That ringing sentence has gone to the 
remotest corner of the land, and ev­
erywhere it has gone it should fire the 
American heart with a proud resolve 
to protect forever the sanctity of our 
judiciary.

Had not Neagle protected the 
person of Judge Field from the as­
sault of a dangerous and violent ruf­
fian, apparently intent on murder, by 
his prompt and decisive action, shoot­
ing the assailant down to his death, it 
is certain that other brave men would 
have rushed quickly to his rescue; but 
Neagle’s marvelous quickness fore­
stalled the need of any other’s action. 
The person of one of the very highest 
American judges was preserved un­
harmed, while death palsied the mur­
derous hand that had sworn to take his 
life.

That act of Neagle’s was no 
crime. It  was a deed that any and every 
American should feel proud of having 
done. It was an act that should be ap­
plauded over the length and breadth 
of this great land. It should not have 
consigned him for one minute to
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prison walls. It should have lifted him 
high in the esteem of all the Ameri­
can people. When criminals turn exe­
cutioners, and judges are the victims, 
we might as well close our courts and 
hoist the red flag of anarchy over their 
silent halls and darkened chambers.

The New York PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH e r a ld , in its issue of 
August 19, 1889, said:

The sensation of the past week is 
a lesson in republicanism and a eu- 
logium on the majesty of the law.

It was not a personal controversy 
between Stephen J. Field and David 
S. Terry. It was a conflict between law 
and lawlessness—between a judicial 
officer who represented the law and 
a man who sought to take it into his 
own hands. One embodied the peace­
ful power of the nation, the will  of the 
people; the other defied that power 
and appealed to the dagger.

Justice Field’s whole course 
shows a conception of judicial duty 
that lends grandeur to a republican 
judiciary. It is an inspiring example 
to the citizens and especially to the 
judges of the country. He was re­
minded of the danger of returning to 
California while Judge Terry and his 
wife were at large. His firm answer 
was that it was his duty to go and 
he would go. He was then advised to 
arm himself for self-defense. His re­
ply embodies a nobility that should 
make it historic: “When it comes to 
such a pass in this country that judges 
of the courts find it necessary to go 
armed it will  be time to close the 
courts themselves.”

This sentiment was not born of 
any insensibility to danger; Justice 
Field fully  realized the peril himself.
But above all feeling of personal con­
cern arose a lofty sense of the duty 
imposed upon a justice of the nation’s

highest court. The officer is a rep­
resentative of the law—a minister of 
peace. He should show by his exam­
ple that the law is supreme; that all 
must bow to its authority; that all law­
lessness must yield to it. When judges 
who represent the law resort to vio­
lence even in self-defense, the pistol 
instead of the court becomes the ar­
biter of controversies, and the author­
ity of the government gives way to the 
power of the mob.

Rather than set a precedent that 
might tend to such a result, that would 
shake popular confidence in the judi­
ciary, that would lend any encourage­
ment to violence, a judge, as Justice 
Field evidently felt, may well risk his 
own life for the welfare of the com­
monwealth. He did not even favor the 
proposition that a marshal be detailed 
to guard him.

The course of the venerable Jus­
tice is an example to all who would 
have the law respected. It is also a les­
son to all who would take the law into 
their own hands.

Not less exemplary was his 
recognition of the supremacy of the 
law when the sheriff of San Joaquin 
appeared before him with a warrant 
of arrest on the grave charge of mur­
der. The warrant was an outrage, but it 
was the duty of the officer to serve it, 
even on a justice of the United States 
Supreme Court. When the sheriff hes­
itated and began to apologize before 
discharging his painful duty, Justice 
Field promptly spoke out: “Officer, 
proceed with your duty. I am ready, 
and an officer should always do his 
duty.” These are traits of judicial 
heroism worthy the admiration of the 
world.

The A lb a n y E v e n in g U n io n , in one of its 
issues at this time, has the following:
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JUSTICE FIELD RELIES UPON
THE LAW  FOR HIS DEFENSE.

The courage of Justice Stephen
J. Field in declining to carry weapons 
and declaring that it is time to close 
the courts when judges have to arm 
themselves, and at the same time pro­
ceeding to do his duty on the bench 
when his life was threatened by a 
desperate man, is without parallel in 
the history of our judiciary. We do 
not mean by this that he is the only 
judge on the bench that would be as 
brave as he was under the circum­
stances, but every phase of the af­
fair points to the heroism of the man.
He upheld the majesty of the law in 
a fearless manner and at the peril 
of his life. He would not permit the 
judiciary to be lowered by any fear 
of the personal harm that might fol­
low a straightforward performance of 
his duty. His arrest for complicity 
in a murder was borne by the same 
tranquil bravery—a supreme reliance 
upon a due process of law. He did 
not want the officer to apologize to 
him for doing his duty. He had impris­
oned Judge Terry and his wife Sarah 
Althea for contempt of court.* *  * The 
threats by Judge Terry did not even 
frighten him to carry weapons of self- 
defense. This illustration of uphold­
ing the majesty of the law is with­
out precedent, and is worth more to 
the cause of justice than the entire 
United States army could be if  called 
out to suppress a riotous band of law­
breakers. Justice Field did what any 
justice should do under the circum­
stances, but how many judges would 
have displayed a like courage had they 
been in his place?

The New York PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW o r ld , in its issue of 
Monday evening, August 26th, has the follow­
ing article:

A NEW LEAF TURNED.
When Judge Field, knowing that

his life was threatened, went back un­
armed into the State of California 
and about his business there, he gave 
wholesome rebuke to the cowardice 
that prompts men to carry a pistol—a 
cowardice that has been too long pop­
ular on the coast. He did a priceless 
service to the cause of progress in his 
State, and added grace to his ermine 
when he disdained to take arms in an­
swer to the threats of assassins.

The men who have conspired to 
take Judge Field’s life ought to need 
only one warning that a new day has 
dawned in California, and to find that 
warning in the doom of the bully 
Terry. The law will  protect the ermine 
of its judges.

The New York W o r ld of August 18th treats 
of the arrest of Justice Field as an outrage, and 
speaks of it as follows:

THE ARREST OF FIELD AN OUT­
RAGE AND AN ABSURDITY.

The California magistrate who
issued a warrant for Justice Field’s 
arrest is obviously a donkey of the 
most precious quality. The Justice 
had been brutally assailed by a no­
torious ruffian who had publicly de­
clared his intention to kill  his enemy. 
Before Justice Field could even rise 
from his chair a neat-handed deputy 
United States marshal shot the ruf­
fian. Justice Field had no more to do 
with the shooting than any other by­
stander, and even if  there had been 
doubt on that point it was certain that 
a justice of the United States Supreme 
Court was not going to run away be­
yond the jurisdiction. His arrest was, 
therefore, as absurd as it was outra­
geous. It was asked for by the de­
mented widow of the dead desperado 
simply as a means of subjecting the
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Justice to an indignity, and no mag­
istrate possessed of even a protoplas­
mic possibility of common sense and 
character would have lent himself in 
that way to such a service.

The Kansas City PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im e s , in its issue at this 
period, uses the following language:

NO ONE WILL  CENSURE.
G r a t i tu d e fo r  J u d g e F ie ld ’s E s c a p e 
th e C h ie f S e n t im e n t .

Deputy Marshal Neagle acted 
with terrible promptitude in protect­
ing the venerable member of the 
Supreme Court with whose safety he 
was specially charged, but few will  be 
inclined to censure him. He had to 
deal with a man of fierce temper, 
whose readiness to use firearms was 
part of the best known history of Cal­
ifornia.

It is a subject for general con­
gratulation that Justice Field escaped 
the violence of his assailant. The 
American nation would be shocked 
to learn that a judge of its highest tri­
bunal could not travel without danger 
of assault from those whom he had 
been compelled to offend by admin­
istering the laws. Justice Field has the 
respect due his office and that deeper 
and more significant reverence pro­
duced by his character and abilities. 
Since most of the present generation 
were old enough to observe public af­
fairs he has been a jurist of national 
reputation and a sitting member of the 
Supreme Court. In that capacity he 
has earned the gratitude of his coun­
trymen by bold and unanswerable de­
fense of sound constitutional inter­
pretation on more than one occasion.
In all the sad affair the most promi­
nent feeling will  be that of gratitude 
at his escape.

T h e A r m y a n d N a v y J o u r n a l , in its issue 
of August 24, 1889, had the following article 
under the head of—

MARSHAL NEAGLE’S CRIME. 
The public mind appears to be some­
what unsettled upon the question of 
the right of Neagle to kill  Terry while 
assaulting Judge Field. His justifica­
tion is as clear as is the benefit of 
his act to a long-suffering commu­
nity. Judge Field was assaulted un­
expectedly from behind, while seated 
at a dining-table, by a notorious as­
sassin and ruffian, who had sworn to 
kill  him, and who, according to the 
testimony of at least one witness, was 
armed with a long knife, had sent his 
wife for a pistol, and was intending to 
use it as soon as obtained.

*  *  *

The rule is that the danger which 
justifies homicide in self-defense 
must be actual and urgent. And was 
it not so in this case? No one who re­
flects upon the features of the case— 
an old man without means of defense, 
fastened in a sitting posture by the ta­
ble at which he sat and the chair he 
occupied, already smitten with one 
severe blow and about to receive an­
other more severe from a notorious 
ruffian who had publicly avowed his 
intention to slay him—no one surely 
can deny that the peril threatening 
Judge Field was both actual and ur­
gent in the very highest degree.

“A man may repel force by force 
in the defense of his person, habita­
tion, or property, against one or many 
who manifestly intend and endeavor 
by violence or surprise to commit a 
known felony on either.” “ In such a 
case he is not obliged to retreat, but 
may pursue his adversary till  he find 
himself out of danger; and if  in a con­
flict  between them he happens to kill,  
such killing is justifiable. The right 
of self-defense in case of this kind is 
founded on the law of nature, and is 
not, nor can be, superseded by any law
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of society. Where a known felony is 
attempted upon the person, be it to rob 
or murder, the party assaulted may re­
pel force by force; and even his ser­
vant attendant on him, or any person 
present, may interpose for prevent­
ing mischief, and, if  death ensue, the 
party interposing will  be justified.”  
(Wharton Amer. Crim. Law, Vol. 2, 
Sec. 1019.)

This is the law, as recognized at 
the present day and established by 
centuries of precedent, and it com­
pletely exonerates Neagle—of course 
Judge Field needs no exoneration— 
from any, the least, criminality in 
what he did. He is acquitted of wrong­
doing, not only in his character of 
attendant servant, but in that of by­
stander simply. He was as much 
bound to kill Terry under the cir­
cumstances as every bystander in the 
room was bound to kill  him; and in 
his capacity of guard, especially ap­
pointed to defend an invaluable life 
against a known and imminent felony, 
he was so bound in a much greater 
degree.

“A sincere and apparently well- 
grounded belief that a felony is about 
to be perpetrated will extenuate a 
homicide committed in prevention of 
it, though the defendant be but a 
private citizen.” (25 Ala., 15.) See 
Wharton, above quoted, who embod­
ies the doctrine in his text (Vol. 2, Sec. 
1039).

********

Let us be grateful from our hearts 
that the old Mosaic law, “Whoso 
sheddeth man’s blood by man shall 
his blood be shed,” is shown by 
this memorable event to have not 
yet fallen altogether into innocuous 
desuetude; and let us give thanks 
to God that he has seen fit on this

occasion to preserve from death at 
the hands of an intolerable ruffian 
the life of that high-minded, pure­
handed, and excellent jurist and mag­
istrate, Stephen J. Field.

The Philadelphia PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im e s of August 15th 
has the following:

ONLY ONE OPINION.
M a r s h a l N e a g le C o u ld N o t S ta n d 
I d ly  B y .

The killing of Judge Terry of 
California is a homicide that will  oc­
casion no regret wherever the story of 
his stormy and wicked life is known.
At the same time, the circumstances 
that surrounded it will be deeply 
lamented. This violent man, more 
than once a murderer, met his death 
while in the act of assaulting Justice 
Field of the Supreme Court of the 
United States. Had he not been killed 
when he was, Judge Field would prob­
ably have been another of his vic­
tims. Terry had declared his purpose 
of killing the Justice, and this was 
their first meeting since his release 
from deserved imprisonment.

In regard to the act of United 
States Marshal Neagle, there can be 
only one opinion. He could not stand 
idly by and see a judge of the Supreme 
Court murdered before his eyes. The 
contumely that Terry sought to put 
upon the Judge was only the insult 
that was to go before premeditated 
murder. The case has no moral ex­
cept the certainty that a violent life 
will  end in a violent death.

The P h i la d e lp h ia I n q u ir e r of the same 
date says as follows:

A PREMEDITATED INSULT.
F o l lo w e d Q u ic k ly b y a D e s e r v e d 
R e tr ib u t io n .

Ex-Judge Terry’s violent death 
was a fitting germination to a stormy
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life, and the incidents of his last 
encounter were characteristic of the 
man and his methods. He was one of 
the few lingering representatives of 
the old-time population of California.
He was prominent there when soci­
ety was organizing itself, and suc­
ceeded in holding on to life and 
position when many a better man suc­
cumbed to the rude justice of the pe­
riod. Most of his early associates died 
with their boots on, a generation ago. 
Terry lived, assailed on all sides, de­
spised by the better element and op­
posed by the law, in trouble often, but 
never punished as he deserved. His 
last act was to offer a gross, premed­
itated insult to the venerable Justice 
Field, and the retribution he had long 
defied followed it quickly. California 
will  have little reason to mourn his 
loss.

The PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC le v e la n d L e a d e r , in its issue of 
August 18th, speaks of the conduct of Neagle 
as follows:

THE KILLING  OF TERRY.
We have already expressed the

opinion in these columns that the 
killing of David S. Terry by Deputy 
Marshal Neagle at Lathrop, Califor­
nia, Wednesday, was entirely justifi­
able. In that opinion it is a pleasure to 
note that the press of the country con­
cur almost unanimously. The judg­
ment of eminent members of the legal 
profession, as published in our tele­
graph columns and elsewhere, sup­
port and bear out that view of the case.
The full  account of the trouble makes 
the necessity of some such action on 
the part of the deputy marshal clear.
The judgment of the country is that 
Neagle only did his duty in defend­
ing the person of Justice Field, and 
in that judgment the California jury

will  doubtless concur when the case 
is brought before it.

The A r g o n a u t , a leading paper of San 
Francisco, not a political, but a literary pa­
per, and edited with great ability, in its is­
sue of August 26, 1889, used the following 
language:

The course of Judge Field 
throughout this troublesome business 
has been in the highest degree cred­
itable to him. He has acted with dig­
nity and courage, and his conduct 
has been characterized by most ex­
cellent taste. His answer, when re­
quested to go armed against the as­
sault of Terry, is worthy of preserva­
tion. And now that his assailant has 
been arrested in his career by death, 
all honest men who respect the law 
will  breathe more freely. Judge Terry 
had gained a most questionable rep­
utation, not for courage in the right 
direction; not for generosity which 
overlooked or forgave, or forgot of­
fenses against himself or his inter­
ests. He never conceded the right to 
any man to hold an opinion in oppo­
sition to his prejudices, or cross the 
path of his passion with impunity. He 
could with vulgar whisper insult the 
judge who rendered an opinion ad­
verse to his client, and with profane 
language insult the attorney who had 
the misfortune to be retained by a man 
whose cause he did not champion. He 
had become a terror to society and a 
walking menace to the social circle 
in which he revolved. His death was 
a necessity, and, except here and there 
a friend of blunted moral instincts, 
there will  be found but few to mourn 
his death or criticise the manner of his 
taking off. To say that Marshal Neagle 
should have acted in any other man­
ner than he did means that he was to 
have left Justice Field in the claws of
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a tiger, and at the mercy of an infu­
riated, angry monster, who had never 
shown mercy or generosity to an en­
emy in his power.* *  *

Judge Field has survived the un­
happy conflict which carried Judge 
Terry to his grave. He is more highly 
honored now than when this quar­
rel was thrust upon him; he has lost 
no friends; he has made thousands 
of new ones who honor him for pro­
tecting with his life the honor of the 
American bench, the dignity of the 
American law, and the credit of the 
American name. In the home where 
Judge Terry lived he went to the grave 
almost unattended by the friends of 
his social surroundings, no clergy­
man consenting to read the service at 
his burial. The Supreme Court over 
which he had presided as chief jus­
tice refused to adjourn in honor of 
his death, the press and public opin­
ion, for a wonder, in accord over the 
manner of his taking off.

Indeed, the public opinion of the coun­
try, as shown by the press and declarations of 
prominent individuals, was substantially one 
in its approval of the action of the Govern­
ment, the conduct of Neagle, and the bearing 
of Justice Field.*

‘No t e.—Whilst there was a general concurrence of opin­

ion as to the threats of Terry and of the fate he met at the 

hands of Neagle and of the bearing of Justice Field through 

all the proceedings, there were exceptions to this judg­

ment. There were persons who sympathized with Terry 

and his associates and grieved at his fate, although he had 

openly avowed his intention not merely to insult judicial 

officers for their judicial conduct, but to kill  them in case 

they resented the insult offered. He married Sarah Althea 

Hill  after the United States Circuit Court had delivered its 

opinion, in open court, announcing its decision that she 

had committed forgery, perjury, and subornation of per­

jury, and was a woman of abandoned character. And yet a 

writer in the PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAO v e r la n d M o n th ly in October, 1889, attributes 

his assault upon the marshal—striking him violently in the 

face for the execution of the order of the court to remove

The D a i ly R e p o r t , a paper of influ­
ence in San Francisco at the time, published 
the following article on “The Lesson of the 
Hour,” from the pen of an eminent lawyer of 
California, who was in no way connected with 
the controversy which resulted in Judge Terry’s 
death:

The universal acquiescence of 
public opinion in the justifiable char­
acter of the act which terminated 
the life of the late David S. Terry 
is to be accounted for by the pecu­
liar nature of the offense which he 
had committed. It was not for a mere 
assault, though perpetrated under cir­
cumstances which rendered it pecu­
liarly reprehensible, that he met his 
death without eliciting from the com­
munity one word of condemnation for 
the slayer or of sympathy with the 
slain.

Mr. Justice Field is an officer of 
high rank in the most important de­
partment of the Government of the 
United States, namely, that which is 
charged with the administration of le­
gal justice. When David S Terry pub­
licly and ostentatiously slapped the 
face of this high official—this repre­
sentative of public justice—the blow 
being in all probability the intended 
prelude to a still more atrocious of­
fense, he committed a gross violation 
of the peace and dignity of the United

her from the court-room because of her gross imputation 

upon the judges—chiefly to his chivalric spirit to protect 

his wife, and declares that “ the universal verdict”  upon him 

“will  be that he was possessed of s te r l in g in te g r i ty o fp u r­

p o s e , and stood out from the rest of his race as a strongly 

individualized character, which has been well called an 

anachronism in our civilization.” And Gov. Pennoyer, of 

Oregon, in his message to the legislature of that State, 

pronounced the officer appointed by the marshal under 

the direction of the Attorney-General to protect Justices 

Field and Sawyer from threatened violence and murder as 

a " s e c r e t a r m e d a s s a s s in ," who accompanied a Federal 

judge in California, and who shot down in cold blood an 

unarmed citizen of that State.



THE STORY OF THE ATTEMPTED ASSASSINATIONKJIHGFEDCBA1 7 9zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

States. The echo of the blow made the 
blood tingle in the veins of every true 
American, and from every quarter, far 
and near, thick and fast, came denun­
ciations of the outrage. That any man 
under a government created “by the 
people, for the people” shall assume 
to be a law unto himself, the sole 
despot in a community based on the 
idea of the equality of all before the 
law, and the willing submission and 
obedience of all to established rule, 
is simply intolerable.

In his audacious assault on “ the 
powers that be”  Terry took his life in 
his hand, and no lover of peace and 
good order can regret that, of the two 
lives in peril, his was extinguished. 
He threw down the gage of battle to 
the whole community, and it is well 
that he was vanquished in the strife.

In the early part of the war of 
the rebellion General Dix, of New 
York, was placed in charge of one of 
the disaffected districts. We had then 
hardly begun to see that war was a 
very stern condition of things, and 
that it actually involved the necessity 
of killing. Those familiar with the in­
cidents of that time will remember 
how the General’s celebrated order, 
“ If  any one attempts to haul down 
the American flag, shoot him on the 
spot,”  thrilled the slow pulses of the 
Northern heart like the blast of a bu­
gle. Yet some adverse obstruction­
ist might object that the punishment 
pronounced far exceeded the offense, 
which was merely the effort to detach 
from its position a piece of colored 
bunting. But it is the PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa n im u s that char­
acterizes the act. An insult offered to 
a mere symbol of authority becomes, 
under critical circumstances, an un­
pardonable crime. If  the symbol, in­
stead of being an inanimate object, 
be a human being—a high officer of 
the Government—does not such an

outrage as that committed by Terry 
exceed in enormity the offense de­
nounced by General Dix? And if  so, 
why should the punishment be less?

In every civilized community, 
society, acting with a keen instinct 
of self-preservation, has always pun­
ished with just severity those capital 
offenders against peace and good or­
der who strike at the very foundation 
on which all government must rest.SRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C h a p te r X IX . T h e  A p p e a l to  th e  

S u p re m e  C o u rt o f th e  U n ite d  S ta te s , 

a n d  th e  S e co n d  T ria l o f S a ra h  A lth e a ’s  

D ivo rce  C a se .

With the discharge from arrest of the brave 
deputy marshal, Neagle, who had stood be­
tween Justice Field and the would- be assassin’s 
assault, and the vindication by the Circuit 
Court of the right of the general govern­
ment to protect its officers from personal vi­
olence, for the discharge of their duties, at 
the hands of disappointed litigants, the pub­
lic mind, which had been greatly excited by

Jo se p h H o d g e s C h o a te w a s o n e o f tw o la w ye rs re p ­

re se n tin g N e a g le . A  N e w  Y o rk R e p u b lica n  w h o  sp e n t 

h is  ca re e r b a ttlin g  T a m m a n y H a ll D e m o c ra ts , C h o a te  

w e n t o n to a rg u e se ve ra l la n d m a rk S u p re m e C o u rt 

ca se s , in c lu d in g  ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAPollock v . Farmer's Savings and Trust 
Co. (1 8 9 5 ), a  d e c is io n  th a t o ve rru le d  th e  n a tio n a l in ­

co m e  ta x .
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the proceedings narrated, became quieted. No 
apprehension was felt that there would be any 
reversal of the decision of the Circuit Court 
on the appeal which was taken to the Supreme 
Court. General and absolute confidence was 
expressed in the determination of the high­
est tribunal of the nation. The appeal was ar­
gued on the part of Neagle by the Attorney- 
General of the United States and Joseph H. 
Choate, Esq., of the New York bar; and the 
briefs of counsel in the Circuit Court were also 
filed.67 The attorney-general of California and 
Mr. Zachariah Montgomery appeared upon 
behalf of the State, and briefs of Messrs. 
Shellabarger and Wilson were also filed in its 
behalf.68

The argument of the Attorney-General of 
the United States was exceedingly able. He 
had watched all the proceedings of the case 
from the outset. He had directed that protection 
should be extended by the marshal to Justice 
Field and Judge Sawyer against any threat­
ened violence, and he believed strongly in the 
doctrine that the officers of the general gov­
ernment were entitled to receive everywhere 
throughout the country full  protection against 
all violence whilst in the discharge of their du­
ties. He believed that such protection was nec­
essary to the efficiency and permanency of the 
government; and its necessity in both respects 
was never more ably presented.

The argument of Mr. Choate covered all 
the questions of law and fact in the case and 
was marked by that great ability and invincible 
logic and by that clearness and precision of 
statement which have rendered him one of the 
ablest of advocates and jurists in the country, 
one who all acknowledge has few peers and no 
superiors at the bar of the nation.*

The argument of the attorney-general of 
the State consisted chiefly of a repetition of the

*No t e.—Mr. Choate took great interest in the question 

involved—the right of the Government of the United States 

to protect its officers from violence whilst engaged in the 

discharge of their duties,—deeming its maintenance es­

sential to the efficiency of the Government itself; and he

doctrine that, for offenses committed within its 
limits, the State alone has jurisdiction to try the 
offenders—a position which within its proper 
limits, and when not carried to the protection of 
resistance to the authority of the United States, 
has never been questioned.

The most striking feature of the argu­
ment on behalf of the State was presented 
by Zachariah Montgomery. It may interest the 
reader to observe the true Terry flavor intro­
duced into his argument, and the manifest per­
version of the facts into which it led him. He 
deeply sympathized with Terry in the grief 
and mortification which he suffered in being 
charged with having assaulted the marshal with 
a deadly weapon in the presence of the Circuit 
Court in September, 1888. He attempted to 
convince the Supreme Court that one of its 
members had deliberately made a misrecital, 
in the order committing Terry for contempt, 
and treated this as a mitigation of that indi­
vidual’s subsequent attack on Justice Field. He 
did not, however, attempt to gainsay the tes­
timony of the numerous witnesses who swore 
that Terry did try to draw his knife while yet 
in the court-room on that occasion, and that, 
being temporarily prevented from doing so by 
force, he completed the act as soon as this force 
was withdrawn, and pursued the marshal with 
knife in hand, loudly declaring in the hearing 
of the court, in language too coarse and vulgar 
to be repeated, that he would do sundry terrible

declined to make any charge or take any fee for his pro­

fessional services in the case. The privilege of supporting 

this great principle before the highest tribunal of the coun­

try, where his powers would be most effectively engaged 

in securing its recognition, was considered by him as suf­

ficient reward. Certainly he has that reward in the full 

establishment of that principle—for which, also, both he 

and Attorney-General Miller  will  receive the thanks of all 

who love and revere our national government and trust that 

its existence may be perpetuated.

Mr. James C. Carter, the distinguished advocate of 

New York, also took a deep interest in the questions in­

volved, and had several consultations with Mr. Choate 

upon them; and his professional services were given with 

the same generous and noble spirit that characterized the 

course of Mr. Choate.
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things to those who should obstruct him on his 
way to his wife. As she was then in the custody 
of the marshal and in his office, under an or­
der of the court; and as Terry had resisted her 
arrest and removal from the court-room until 
overpowered by several strong men, and as he 
had instantly on being released rushed madly 
from the court-room, drawing and brandish­
ing his knife as he went, the conclusion is irre­
sistible that he was determined upon her rescue 
from the marshal, if, with the aid of his knife, 
he could accomplish it. That Mr. Montgomery 
allowed these facts, which constitute the of­
fense of an assault with a deadly weapon, to 
go unchallenged, compels us to the charitable 
presumption that he did not know the law.

A reading of the decisions on this subject 
would have taught him that in order to con­
stitute that offense it is not necessary that the 
assailant should actually stab with his knife or 
shoot with his pistol. The assault by Terry was 
commenced in the court-room, under the eyes 
of the judges, and was a continuing act, end­
ing only with the wrenching of the knife from 
his hands. It was all committed “ in the pres­
ence of the court,”  for the Supreme Court has 
decided in the Savin case that “ the jury-room 
and hallway were parts of the place in which the 
court was required by law to hold its sessions, 
and that the court, at least when in session, 
is present in every part of the place set apart 
for its own use and for the use of its officers, 
jurors, and witnesses, and that misbehavior in 
such a place is misbehavior in the presence of 
the court. (See vol. 131, U.S. Reports, page 
277, where the case is reported.)69

Mr. Montgomery was reckless enough 
to contradict the record when he stated that 
Justice Field in his opinion in the revivor 
case “ took occasion to discuss at consider­
able length the question of the genuineness 
of the aforesaid marriage document, maintain­
ing very strenuously that it was a forgery, and 
that this it was that so aroused the indigna­
tion of Mrs. Terry that she sprang to her feet 
and charged Justice Field with having been 
bought.”

There is not a word of truth in this state­
ment. Justice Field, in overruling the demur­
rer, never discussed at all the genuineness of 
the marriage agreement. How, then, could it 
be true that words, nowhere to be found in 
Judge Field’s opinion, “so aroused the indig­
nation of Mrs. Terry that she sprang to her feet 
and charged Justice Field with having been 
bought”? Justice Field discussed only the le­
gal effect of the decree already rendered by 
the United States Circuit Court. He said noth­
ing to excite the woman’s ire, except to state 
the necessary steps to be taken to enforce the 
decree. He had not participated in the trial of 
the original case, and had never been called 
upon to express any opinion concerning the 
agreement. Mr. Montgomery said in his brief 
that the opinion read by Justice Field, “while 
overruling a demurrer, assails this contract, in 
effect pronouncing it a forgery.” This state­
ment is totally unfounded. From it the casual 
reader would suppose that the demurrer was to 
the complaint in the original case, and that the 
court was forestalling evidence, whereas it was 
a demurrer in a proceeding to revive the suit, 
which had abated by the death of the party, and 
to give effect to the decree already rendered 
therein, after a full  hearing of the testimony.

Mr. Montgomery said:

“The opinion also charges Mrs.
Terry with perjury, after she has 
sworn that it was genuine.”

The judgment of a court may be referred 
to by one of its judges, even though the ren­
dering of the judgment convicted a party or a 
witness, of perjury, without furnishing the per­
jurer with a justification for denouncing the 
judge. Mr. Montgomery furthermore said that 
the “opinion charged her not only with forgery 
and perjury, but with unchastely as well; for if  
she had not been Sharon’s wife, she had un­
questionably been his kept mistress.”  He says:

“At the announcement of this de­
cision from the bench in the pres­
ence of a crowded court-room; a deci­
sion which she well knew, before the
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going down of another sun, would be 
telegraphed to the remotest corners of 
the civilized world, to be printed and 
reprinted with sensational head-lines 
in every newspaper, and talked over 
by every scandal-monger on the face 
of the earth; was it any wonder—not 
that it was right—but was it any won­
der that this high-spirited, educated 
woman, sprung from as respectable 
a family as any in the great State of 
Missouri, proud of her ancestry, and 
prizing her good name above every­
thing on this earth, when she heard 
herself thus adjudged in one breath to 
be guilty of forgery, perjury, and un­
chastity, and thus degraded from the 
exalted position of wife—to which 
the Supreme Court of her State had 
said she was entitled—down to that of 
a paid harlot; was it any wonder, I say, 
that like an enraged tigress she sprang 
to her feet, and in words of indigna­
tion sought to defend her wounded 
honor?”

Mr. Montgomery did not speak truly when 
he said that on this occasion such a decision 
was announced from the bench. The decision 
was announced on the 24th of December, 1885, 
nearly three years before. The only decision 
announced on this occasion was that the case 
did not die with the plaintiff  therein—William 
Sharon—but that the executor of his estate 
had the right to act—had a right to be sub­
stituted for the deceased, and to have the de­
cree executed just as it would have been if  
Mr. Sharon had lived. It was amazing effron­
tery and disregard of the truth on the part of 
Mr. Montgomery to make such a statement as 
he did to the Supreme Court, when the record, 
lying open before them, virtually contradicted 
what he was saying.

Towards the close of the decision Justice 
Field did make reference to Mrs. Terry’s testi­
mony in the Superior Court. He said that in the 
argument some stress had been laid upon the

fact that in a State court, where the judge had 
decided in Mrs. Terry’s favor, the witnesses had 
been examined in open court, where their bear­
ing could be observed by the judge; while in 
the federal court the testimony had been taken 
before an examiner, and the court had not the 
advantage of hearing and seeing the witnesses. 
In reply to this Justice Field called attention to 
the fact that Judge Sullivan, while rendering 
his decision in favor of Mrs. Terry, had accused 
her of having willfully  perjured herself in sev­
eral instances while testifying in her own case, 
and of having suborned perjury, and of having 
knowingly offered in evidence a forged docu­
ment. But this reference to Judge Sullivan’s ac­
cusations against Mrs. Terry was not reached 
in the reading of Justice Field’s opinion un­
til nearly an hour after Mrs. Terry had been 
forcibly removed from the court-room for 
contempt, and therefore she did not hear it. 
This fact appears on record in the contempt 
proceedings.

But the most extraordinary feature of Mr. 
Montgomery’s brief is yet to be noticed. He 
says that “ If  the assault so made by Judge Terry 
was not for the purpose of then and there killing  
or seriously injuring the party assaulted, but for 
the purpose of provoking him into a duel, then 
the killing of the assailant for such an assault 
was a crime.”

And again he says:

“ I have said that if  the purpose 
of Judge Terry’s assault upon Field 
was for the purpose of killing him 
then and there, Neagle, and not Nea- 
gle only, but anybody else, would 
have been justifiable in killing  Terry 
to save the life of Field; but that if  
Terry’s object in assaulting Field was 
not then and there to kill  or otherwise 
greatly injure him, but to draw him 
into a duel, then such an assault was 
not sufficient to justify the killing.”

He then proceeds to speak of Judge Terry’s 
duel with Senator Broderick, in which the latter 
was killed. He refers to many eminent citizens
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who have fought duels, although he admits that 
dueling is a sin. He then explains that “as a rule 
the duelist who considers himself wronged by 
another, having the position and standing of a 
gentleman, tenders him an insult, either by a 
slap in the face or otherwise, in order to attract a 
challenge. Such undoubtedly was Terry’s pur­
pose in this case. All  of Terry’s threats point 
precisely to that.”

Here Mr. Montgomery seems to be in ac­
cord with Sarah Althea Terry, who, as we have 
seen, stated that “Judge Terry intended to take 
out his satisfaction in slaps.”  In the same direc­
tion is the declaration of Porter Ashe,70 when 

he said:

“ Instant death is a severe punish­
ment for slapping a man on the face.
I have no suspicion that Terry meant 
to kill  Field or to do him further harm 
than to humiliate him.”

And also that of Mr. Baggett, one of 
Terry’s counsel, who said:

“ I have had frequent conversa­
tions with Terry about Field, and he 
has often told me that Field has used 
his court and his power as a judge to 
humiliate him, and that he intended to 
humiliate him in return to the extent 
of his power. ‘ I will  slap his face,’ said 
Terry to me, ‘ if  I run across him, but I 
shall not put myself out of the way to 
meet him. I do not intend to kill  him, 
but I will  insult him by slapping his 
face, knowing that he will  not resent 
it.’ ”

What knightly courage was here. If  ever 
a new edition of the dueling code is printed, it 
should have for a frontispiece a cut represent­
ing the stalwart Terry dealing stealthy blows 
from behind upon a justice of the United States 
Supreme Court, 72 years of age, after having 
previously informed a trusted friend that he be­
lieved himself safe from any resistance by the 
object of his attack. It may be here also said 
that Justice Field, as was well known to every

one, had for many years suffered from great 
lameness in consequence of an injury received 
by him in early life, and with difficulty could 
walk without assistance.

Mr. Montgomery, with freezing candor, 
informs the Supreme Court that, in strict accor­
dance with the chivalrous code of honor, Judge 
Terry administered blows upon a member of 
that court, to force him into a duel, because of 
a judicial act with which he was displeased.

He says:

“The most conclusive proof that
Terry had no intention, for the time 
being, of seriously hurting Field, but 
that his sole purpose was to tender 
him an insult, is found in the fact that 
he only used his open hand, and that, 
too, in a mild manner.”

We often hear of the “mild-mannered 
men” who “scuttle ships” and “cut throats,”  
but this is the very first one whose “very mild 
manner” of beating a justice of the Supreme 
Court of the United States with his hand was 
ever certified to by an attorney and counselor 
of that court in the argument of a case before 
it.

It would be difficult to conceive of any­
thing more puerile or absurd than this pretense 
that Terry had the slightest expectation of pro­
voking a man of Justice Field’s age, official po­
sition, and physical condition, to fight a duel 
with him in vindication of the right of the court 
over which he presided to imprison a man for 
contempt for beating the marshal in the face 
with his fist, and afterwards pursuing him with 
a knife, in the presence of the court, for obey­
ing an order of the court.

Mr. Montgomery appears to have been 
imported into the case mainly for the pur­
pose of reviewing the facts and giving them 
the Terry stamp. His ambition seems to have 
been to insult Justice Field and his associates 
in the Circuit Court by charging them with 
misrepresenting the facts of the occurrence, 
thus repeating Terry’s reckless accusations



184 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORYSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

S a ra h  A lth e a  T e rry  w a s  co m m itte d  to  th e  in sa n e  a sy lu m  in  S to ck to n  (a b o ve ), w h e re  sh e  liv e d  fo r 4 5  ye a rs  u n til 

h e r d e a th  in 1 9 3 7 . S h e  is  p ic tu re d  b e lo w  in  m o u rn in g  c lo th e s  a fte r h e r h u sb a n d ’s  d e a th .zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

to that effect. For Terry he had only words 
of eulogy and admiration, and said he was 
“straightforward, candid, and incapable of con­
cealment or treachery himself, and there­
fore never suspected treachery, even in an 
enemy.”

These noble qualities Terry had illustrated 
by assaulting Justice Field from behind while 
the latter was in a position which placed him 
entirely at the mercy of his assailant.

Montgomery thought that not only 
Neagle, but the President, Attorney-General, 
district attorney, and Marshal Franks should 
be arraigned for Terry’s murder.

Although Justice Field had expressly ad­
vised the marshal that it was unnecessary for 
anybody to accompany him to Los Angeles, 
and although Neagle went contrary to his 
wish, and only because the marshal considered 
himself instructed by the Attorney-General to 
send him, yet Mr. Montgomery especially de­
manded that he (Justice Field) should be tried 
for Terry’s homicide. This, too, in the face 
of the fact that under instructions from the 
attorney-general of the State of California, 
aroused to his duty by the Governor, the false, 
malicious, and infamous charge made against

Justice Field by Sarah Althea Terry was dis­
missed by the magistrate who had entertained 
it, on the ground that it was manifestly destitute 
of the shadow of a foundation, and that any
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further proceedings against him would be “a 
burning disgrace to the State.”

The decision of the Circuit Court dis­
charging Neagle from the custody of the sher­
iff  of San Joaquin county was affirmed by the 
Supreme Court of the United States on the 14th 
of April, 1890. Justice Field did not sit at the 
hearing of the case, and took no part in its deci­
sion, nor did he remain in the conference room 
with his associate justices at any time while it 
was being considered or on the bench when it 
was delivered. The opinion of the Court was 
delivered by Justice Miller. Dissenting opin­
ions were filed by Chief Justice Fuller and Jus­
tice Lamar. Justice Miller ’s opinion concludes 
as follows:

“We have thus given, in this case, 
a most attentive consideration to all 
the questions of law and fact which 
we have thought to be properly in­
volved in it. We have felt it to be our 
duty to examine into the facts with a 
completeness justified by the impor­
tance of the case, as well as from the 
duty imposed upon us by the statute, 
which we think requires of us to place 
ourselves, as far as possible, in the 
place of the Circuit Court and to ex­
amine the testimony and the argu­
ments in it, and to dispose of the party 
as law and justice require.

“The result at which we have ar­
rived upon this examination is, that 
in the protection of the person and 
the life of Mr. Justice Field, while in 
the discharge of his official duties, 
Neagle was authorized to resist the at­
tack of Terry upon him; that Neagle 
was correct in the belief that without 
prompt action on his part the assault 
of Terry upon the Judge would have 
ended in the death of the latter; that 
such being his well-founded belief, 
he was justified in taking the life of 
Terry, as the only means of prevent­
ing the death of the man who was in­

tended to be his victim; that in taking 
the life of Terry, under the circum­
stances, he was acting under the au­
thority of the law of the United States, 
and was justified in doing so; and that 
he is not liable to answer in the courts 
of California on account of his part in 
that transaction.

“We therefore affirm the judg­
ment of the Circuit Court authorizing 
his discharge from the custody of the 
sheriff of San Joaquin county.”

Chapter XX. Concluding Observations.

Thus ends the history of a struggle between 
brutal violence and the judicial authority of the 
United States. Commencing in a mercenary 
raid upon a rich man’s estate, relying wholly 
for success on forgery, perjury, and the per­
sonal fear of judges, and progressing through 
more than six years of litigation in both the 
Federal and the State courts, it eventuated in 
a vindication by the Supreme Court of the 
United States of the constitutional power of 
the Federal Government, through its Executive 
Department, to protect the judges of the United 
States courts from the revengeful and murder­
ous assaults of defeated litigants, without sub­
jecting its appointed agents to malicious pros­
ecutions for their fidelity to duty, by petty State 
officials, in league with the assailants.

The dignity and the courage of Justice 
Field, who made the stand against brute force, 
and who, refusing either to avoid a great per­
sonal danger or to carry a weapon for his de­
fense, trusted his life to that great power which 
the Constitution has placed behind the judi­
cial department for its support, was above all 
praise.

The admirable conduct of the faithful 
deputy marshal, Neagle, in whose small frame 
the power of a nation dwelt at the moment 
when, like a modern David, he slew a new 
Goliath, illustrated what one frail mortal can 
do, who scorns danger when it crosses the path 
of duty.
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The prompt action of the Executive De­
partment, through its Attorney-General, in di­
recting the marshal to afford all necessary pro­
tection against threatened danger, undoubtedly 
saved a justice of the Supreme Court from 
assassination, and the Government from the 
disgrace of having pusillanimously looked on 
while the deed was done.

The skill and learning of the lawyers who 
presented the case of Neagle in the lower and 
in the appellate courts reflected honor on the 
legal profession.

The exhaustive and convincing opinion of 
Circuit Judge Sawyer, when ordering the re­
lease of Neagle, seemed to have made further 
argument unnecessary.

The grand opinion of Justice Miller, in an­
nouncing the decision of the Supreme Court af­
firming the order of the Circuit Court, was the 
fitting climax of all. Its statement of the facts 
is the most graphic and vivid of the many that 
have been written. Its vindication of the con­
stitutional right of the Federal Government to 
exist, and to preserve itself alive in all its pow­
ers, and on every foot of its territory, without 
leave of, or hindrance by, any other authority, 
makes it one of the most important of all the 
utterances of that great tribunal.

Its power is made the more apparent by 
the dissent, which rests rather upon the asser­
tion that Congress had not legislated in exact 
terms for the case under consideration, than 
upon any denial of the power of the Federal 
Government to protect its courts from vio­
lence. The plausibility of this ground is dis­
sipated by the citations in the majority opinion 
of the California statute concerning sheriffs, 
and of the federal statute concerning marshals, 
by which the latter are invested with all the 
powers of the sheriffs in the States wherein 
they reside, thus showing clearly that marshals 
possess the authority to protect officers of the 
United States which sheriffs possess to protect 
officers of the State against criminal assaults 
of every kind and degree.

During the argument in the Neagle case, 
as well as in the public discussions of the sub­

ject, much stress was laid by the friends of 
Terry upon the power and duty of the State to 
afford full protection to all persons within its 
borders, including the judges of the courts of 
the United States. They could not see why it 
was necessary for the Attorney-General of the 
United States to extend the arm of the Federal 
Government. They held that the police powers 
of the State were sufficient for all purposes, 
and that they were the sole lawful refuge for all 
whose lives were in danger. But they did not ex­
plain why it was that the State never did afford 
protection to Judges Field and Sawyer, threat­
ened as they notoriously were by two desperate 
persons.

The laws of the State made it the duty of 
every sheriff to preserve the peace of the State, 
but the Terrys were permitted, undisturbed and 
unchecked, to proclaim their intention to break 
the peace. If  they had announced their inten­
tion, for nearly a year, to assassinate the judges 
of the Supreme Court of the State, would they 
have been permitted to take their lives, before 
being made to feel the power of the State? 
Would an organized banditti be permitted to 
unseat State judges by violence, and only feel 
the strong halter of the law after they had ac­
complished their purpose? Can no preventive 
measures be taken under the police powers of 
the State, when ruffians give notice that they 
are about to obstruct the administration of jus­
tice by the murder of high judicial officers? It 
was not so much to insure the punishment of 
Terry and his wife if  they should murder Jus­
tice Field, as to prevent the murder, that the 
executive branch of the United States Govern­
ment surrounded him with the necessary safe­
guards. How can justice be administered un­
der the federal statutes if  the federal judges 
must fight their way, while going from district 
to district, to overcome armed and vindictive 
litigants who differ with them concerning the 
judgments they have rendered?

But it was said Judge Terry could have 
been held to bail to keep the peace. The highest 
bail that can be required in such cases under 
the law of the State is five thousand dollars.
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What restraint would that have been upon 
Terry, who was so filled with malice and so 
reckless of consequences that he finally braved 
the gallows by attempting the murder of the ob­
ject of his hate? But even this weak protection 
never was afforded. Shall it be said that Justice 
Field ought to have gone to the nearest justice 
of the peace and obsequiously begged to have 
Terry placed under bonds? But this he could 
not have done until he reached the State, and he 
was in peril from the moment that he reached 
the State line. The dust had not been brushed 
from his clothing before some of the papers 
which announced his arrival eagerly inquired 
what Terry would do and when he would do 
it. Some of them seemed most anxious for the 
sensation that a murder would produce.

The State was active enough when Terry 
had been prevented from doing his bloody 
work upon Justice Field. The constable who 
had been telegraphed for before the train 
reached Lathrop on the fatal day, but who could 
not be found, and was not at the station to 
aid in preserving the peace, was quick enough 
to PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa r r e s t N e a g le w ith o u t a w a r r a n t , fo r  a n 
a c t n o t c o m m it te d in  h is p r e s e n c e , and there­
fore known only to him by hearsay. Against 
the remonstrances of a supreme justice of the 
United States, who had also been chief justice 
of California, and who might have been sup­
posed to know the laws as well at least as a 
constable, the protection placed over him by 
the Executive branch of the Federal Govern­
ment was unlawfully taken from him and the 
protector incarcerated in jail. The constable 
doubtless did only what he was told and what 
he believed to be his duty. Neagle declined to 
make any issue with him of a technical char­
acter and went with him uncomplainingly. If  
Neagle’s pistol had missed fire, or his aim had 
been false, he might have been arrested on the 
spot for his attempt to protect Justice Field, 
while Terry would have been left free at the 
same time to finish his murderous work then, 
or to have pursued Justice Field into the car 
and, free from all interference by Neagle, have 
dispatched him there. The State officials were

all activity to protect the would-be murderer, 
but seemed never to have been ruffled in the 
least degree over the probable assassination of 
a justice of the Supreme Court of the United 
States. The Terrys were never thought to be in 
any danger. The general belief was that Judges 
Field and Sawyer were in great danger from 
them.

The death of Terry displeased three 
classes: first, all who were willing to see Jus­
tice Field murdered; second, all who naturally 
sympathize with the tiger in his hunt for prey, 
and who thought it a pity that so good a fighter 
as Terry should lose his life in seeking that 
of another; and, third, all who preferred to see 
Sarah Althea enjoy the property of the Sharon 
estate in place of its lawful heirs.

It is plain from the foregoing review that 
the State authorities of California presented 
no obstruction to Terry and his wife as they 
moved towards the accomplishment of their 
deadly purpose against Justice Field. It was the 
Executive arm of the nation operating through 
the deputy United States marshal, under orders 
from the Department of Justice, that prevented 
the assassination of Justice Field by David S. 
Terry.

It only remains to state the result of 
the second trial of the case between Sarah 
Althea Hill, now Mrs. Terry, and the execu­
tor of William Sharon before the Superior 
Court of the city of San Francisco. It will  
be remembered that on the first trial in that 
court, presided over by Judge Sullivan, a judg­
ment was entered declaring that Miss Hill  and 
William Sharon had intermarried on the 25th 
of August, 1880, and had at the time executed a 
written contract of marriage under the laws of 
California, and had assumed marital relations 
and subsequently lived together as husband and 
wife. From the judgment rendered an appeal 
was taken to the Supreme Court of the State. 
A motion was also made for a new trial in that 
case, and from the order denying the new trial 
an appeal was also taken to the Supreme Court. 
The decision on the appeal from the judgment
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resulted in its affirmance. The result of the 
appeal from the order denying a new trial was 
its reversal, with a direction for a new trial. The 
effect of that reversal was to open the whole 
case.71 In the meantime William Sharon had 
died and Miss Hill  had married David S. Terry. 
The executor of William Sharon, Frederick 
W. Sharon, appeared as his representative in 
the suit, and filed a supplemental answer. The 
case was tried in the Superior Court, before 
Judge Shafter, in July, 1890, and on the 4th of 
August following the Judge filed his findings 
and conclusions of law, which were, briefly, as 
follows:

That the plaintiff and William 
Sharon, deceased, did not, on the 25th 
of August, 1880, or at any other time, 
consent to intermarry or become, by 
mutual agreement or otherwise, hus­
band and wife; nor did they, there­
after, or at any time, live or cohabit 
together as husband and wife, or mu­
tually or otherwise assume marital 
duties, rights, or obligations; that they 
did not, on that day or at any other 
time, in the city and county of San 
Francisco, or elsewhere, jointly or 
otherwise, make or sign a declaration 
of marriage in writing or otherwise; 
and that the declaration of marriage 
mentioned in the complaint was false, 
counterfeited, fabricated, forged, and 
fraudulent, and, therefore, null and 
void. The conclusion of the court was 
that the plaintiff and William Sharon 
were not, on August 25, 1880, and 
never had been husband and wife, and 
that the plaintiff  had no right or claim, 
legal or equitable, to any property or 
share in any property, real or per­
sonal, of which William Sharon was 
the owner or in possession, or which 
was then or might thereafter be held 
by the executor of his last will  and tes­
tament, the defendant, Frederick W. 
Sharon. Accordingly, judgment was 
entered for the defendant. An appeal

was taken from that judgment to the
Supreme Court of California, and on 
the 5th of August, 1892, Sarah Althea 
Terry having become insane pending 
the appeal, and P. P. Ashe, Esq., hav­
ing been appointed and qualified as 
the general guardian of her person 
and estate, it was ordered that he be 
substituted in the case, and that she 
subsequently appear by him as her 
guardian. In October following, the 
appeal was dismissed.72

Thus ended the legal controversy initiated 
by this adventuress to obtain a part of the estate 
of the deceased millionaire.
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'Like Field and Terry, William Sharon was a California 

pioneer, having arrived from Ohio in 1849. Sharon was 

an organizer and officer of the Vigilance Committee of 

1856 and therefore must have had earlier conflict with 

Terry. He became an officer of the Bank of California 

and, partnered with financier William C. Ralston, used
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the Bank’s resources to gain control of most of the major 

mining operations in the Comstock Lode. Sharon’s power 

there earned him the unofficial title “King of the Com­

stock.”  He also developed business interests and owned a 

substantial amount of property in California, including the 

prestigious Palace Hotel. In 1875 he became the United 

States Senator for Nevada and served until 1881. PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS e e Hit­

tell, III  634-35, IV 552-57; Kroninger, 15-19.

^Although Gorham will  cast Sarah Althea in an unfavor­

able light, Terry’s biographers claim she was from a promi­

nent family in Cape Girardeau, Missouri. Wagstaff reports 

that she went to California after breaking off  her engage­

ment to a young man. There, he says, Sarah Althea lived 

with an uncle and his wife. Because she was unable to get 

along with the wife, the uncle was said to have given Sarah 

Althea a suite in a hotel. It was there that she met Sharon. 

Wagstaff, 308-310; Buchanan, 196.

’Gorham is referring to Mammy Pleasant, who testified 

at trial as Mary E. Pleasant. Neither Bancroft nor Hit- 

tell mention her. Kroninger describes her as a mysterious 

owner of boarding houses involved in shady business ven­

tures. Kroninger, 74. Buchanan describes her as “ finan­

cially successful in the operation of boarding houses of 

unsavory reputation.”  Buchanan, 198.

4Neither Bancroft nor Hittell mention Tyler. Kroninger, 

who unfortunately does not provide footnotes, says Tyler 

was a pioneer who arrived in California in 1849. He then 

went back east to earn a law degree, returned to Califor­

nia, and went into private practice specializing in crimi­

nal cases. Kroninger, 23-24. All  accounts seem to agree 

that he was aggressive and volatile. S e e Buchanan, 195- 

96.

SLittle is known about Neilson’s background. Kroninger, 

19-43, 101-03, describes his involvement in more detail. 

6It may have been difficult  for the general public to under­

stand this claim because Sharon was a prominent member 

of California society.

’These documents were entered into the record of the trial 

in the divorce case of S h a r o n v. S h a r o n in the California 

Superior Court on November 8, 1883. Kroninger, 29-30 

and illustrations between 48^19.

8Sarah Althea did not claim that she had rejected the 

money, but she did try to establish that she had invested 

$7,500 with the Senator and the money represented a re­

turn of that investment. Kroninger, 58-61.

^Although the federal court ruled that the marriage con­

tract was a forgery, on December 24, 1884 the state trial 

court ruled that it was genuine and issued a preliminary 

order giving Sarah Althea $2,500 in alimony and $60,000 

in attorney fees. Two months later, the state court granted 

a divorce.

10A11 references to Sullivan in materials dealing with this 

case refer to J.E Sullivan. Although I have not found 

supplementary data on J.E Sullivan, Hittell reports that 

Jeremiah E Sullivan was nominated in 1886 for justice

of the Supreme Court of California by the Democratic 

party on a platform that reflected the beliefs of the anti- 

monopoly faction of the party. Hillell, IV, 701-02. 

"According to Buchanan, Judge Sullivan issued the di­

vorce decree on February 19, 1884. Buchanan, 201; s e e 

a ls o Kroninger, 159.

12A demurrer is a formal legal pleading by which one party 

claims that, even if  the facts the other side claims were true, 

there are no legal grounds to support the other side’s claim. 

13Gorham adds the footnote “Senator Stewart, who was 

one of the counsel against her in the suit.”  William Stewart 

was an interesting Gold Rush era character in his own right. 

The Ohio native settled in Nevada City, California in 1848. 

One historian describes him as an old friend of Field’s from 

early days in Marysville. Swisher, 326, n. 6. In the early 

years he held positions as district attorney and acting state 

attorney general. He quickly became a formidable mining 

attorney, usually working for powerful mining interests 

and against independent prospectors. It was in this role that 

he had an earlier relationship with David Terry. Using what 

even he admitted to be heavy-handed tactics, he defeated 

Terry in a tense and potentially violent dispute over mining 

rights in Nevada. Although Terry lost, the two appeared to 

have had an amicable relationship at the time. Buchanan, 

116-20. In his early political career, Stewart was active 

in the Democratic and Know Nothing parties. A staunch 

supporter of the Union, he joined the Republican party 

on the eve of the Civil War. In 1864 Stewart became the 

United States Senator from the new state of Nevada. In 

1874, he withdrew from the senatorial race in favor of 

William Sharon. When Sharon vacated the seat in 1877, 

Stewart ran again and, with support of the Southern Pacific 

Railroad, became a U.S. Senator for the second time. He 

held the office until 1905. Alan Lessoflf, “Stewart, William 

Morris,”  A N B O n l in e .

I4R.W. Piper was a handwriting expert who worked forthe 

newspaper the D a i ly  A lta  and later for William Sharon. He 

testified that Sharon’s signature on the marriage contract 

was a forgery. Kroninger, 157, 159, 167, 176-77. 

tSField heard the case with Judge Lorenzo Sawyer, 

i (’Kroninger describes Evans as “a good trial lawyer with 

the tenacity of a bulldog and the nose of a blooded bird 

dog.”  Kroninger, 60.

1’Gorham quotes the decision correctly, but Sarah Althea 

Hill ’s attorney was George Washington Tyler. Tyler, who 

was known for his rough courtroom tactics, had been prac­

ticing law in San Francisco for about twenty years. He was 

Sarah Althea’s primary attorney at trial. Although Tyler’s 

son also participated in the trial, I do not believe the ref­

erence is to him. S e e S h a r o n v. H i l l ,  24 F. 726, 727, 11 

Sawyer 122 (C.C.D. Cal. August 5, 1885).

W d .

'•’Gorham is mistaken about the date. The case is S h a r o n 

v. H i l l ,  26 F. 337, 11 Sawyer 290 (C.C.D. Cal. December 

26,1885). This opinion, written by Judge Matthew Deady,
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along with a separate opinion by Judge Lorenzo Sawyer, 

provides an interesting read in itself.

20“Nunc pro tunc”  is an order with retroactive effect.

21 Matthew Paul Deady, United States District Judge forthe 

District of Oregon. He was born in Maryland and practiced 

law in Ohio before moving to Oregon in 1849. Active in 

Democratic politics, he was elected to the territory assem­

bly in 1850. In 1853, President Franklin Pierce appointed 

him to the territorial supreme court. When Oregon be­

came a state, James Buchanan appointed him federal dis­

trict judge. He remained in that position until his death 

in 1893. Ralph J. Mooney, “Deady, Matthew Paul,”  PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA N B 

O n l in e , http://www.anb.Org/articles/l 1/1100207.html; s e e 

a ls o , Ralph J. Mooney, “Matthew Deady and the Federal 

Judicial Response to Racism in the Early West,” O r e­

g o n L a w  R e v ie w 63 (1984): 561-637; Ralph J. Mooney, 

“Matthew Deady and Federal Public Land Law in the Early 

West,” W a s h in g to n L a w  R e v ie w 63 (1988): 317-70; Mal­

colm Clark, Jr., ed. “My Dear Judge: Excerpts from the 

Letters of Justice Stephen Field to Matthew P. Deady,”  

W e s te r n L e g a l H is to r y 1 (1988): 79-97.

22Lorenzo Sawyer was the circuit judge for the Ninth Cir­

cuit. Bom in New York, he moved to Ohio as a young man, 

where he read law with future Supreme Court Justice Noah 

H. Swayne. He came to California in 1850 and developed 

a profitable law practice in San Francisco. He was one of 

the organizers of the Republican party in California and 

was elected chief justice of the California supreme court, 

on which he served from January 1868 to January 1870. 

In 1870, after Congress had created circuit judgeships for 

each of the nine circuits, President Grant appointed Sawyer 

the circuit judge for the Ninth Circuit. He served in that 

capacity until his death in 1891. Bancroft, VII,  pp. 235-36; 

Hubert Howe Bancroft, H is to r y  o f  th e L ife  o f  L o r e n z o 

S a w y e r : A  C h a r a c te r  S tu d y  (San Francisco: History Co., 

1891); Linda Przybyszewski, “Judge Lorenzo Sawyer and 

the Chinese: Civil Rights Decisions in the Ninth Circuit,”  

1 W e s te r n L e g a l H is to r y (1998): 233-56.

23Elisha W. McKinstry sat on the California supreme court 

from January 1874 to October 1888. He had a long history 

in California politics, having served in the first session of 

the California legislature in 1848. He had been a district 

judge since at least 1857. In 1864, the “Fusion Democrats,”  

who opposed the “war against secession”  nominated Mc­

Kinstry as their candidate for state attorney general. The 

first time he won his seat on the Supreme Court, it was 

as a candidate of the People’s Independence party, which 

included in its platform opposition to railroad power. Hit­

tell, III,  646-47; Hittell, IV, 353,643-45; Bancroft II, 236, 

409.

24Niles Searles was chief justice of the California supreme 

court from April 1887 to January 1889. Although Bancroft 

and Hittell ’s books contain little record of him, he was a 

significant enough political figure to have received one

vote for U.S. Senator from the 1885 California legislature. 

Hittell, IV, 690.

25A. Van R. Paterson was associate justice of the Cali­

fornia supreme court from January 1887 to April 1894. 

Paterson came to California in 1869 and was just thirty- 

two years old when he was elected to the state supreme 

court on a Republican ticket. He had been a district attor­

ney and a superior judge in San Joaquin County, which 

includes Stockton. His name is variously spelled Paterson 

or Patterson. Hittell, IV, 701, 704-05; Bancroft, VII,  434. 

26Jackson Temple served as associate justice of the Cali­

fornia supreme court from January 1870 to January 1872, 

from December 1886 to June 1889, and then again from 

January 1895 to December 1902. In 1864, he was nomi­

nated to run for Congress as a Democrat in opposition to 

Lincoln and the Republican party. He later sat with Stephen 

Field on a special committee to revise the California codes 

that Field claimed responsibility for having written. The 

committee reported that the codes were perfect. Hittell, IV, 

388, 527; Bancroft, VI, 434.

27James D. Thorton was associate justice of the California 

supreme court from January 1880 to January 1891. He had 

a history with David Terry going back to the Vigilance 

Committee of 1856. Thorton served as an intermediary in 

securing Terry’s release from the custody of the Vigilance 

Committee. He was elected to the supreme court in 1880 

as a Democrat. Hittell, III,  535-39, 580; Hittell, IV, 645; 

Bancroft, VII,  409, 735.

28John R. Sharpstein sat on the California supreme court 

from January 1880 to December 1892. He was elected as 

a candidate of the Workingman’s party. Hittell, IV, 645. 

29Thomas B. McFarland was associate justice of the Cal­

ifornia supreme court from January 1887 to September 

1908. McFarland was a native of New York, where he stud­

ied law with his uncle. He came to California in 1850 and 

settled in Nevada City. He was a district judge from 1861 to 

1863. He later moved to Stockton and was appointed supe­

rior judge by Governor Perkins. McFarland was a delegate 

to the Constitutional Convention of 1879, where he was 

best known as the chief advocate for women’s suffrage. 

Hittell, IV, 625,638, 704-05; Bancroft, VII,  434. 

3°George Myron Sabin was a relative latecomer to the 

West Coast. Born in Ohio, he practiced law in Wisconsin 

until just before the Civil War. He served in the Union 

Army, reaching the rank of colonel, and was judge ad­

vocate for the military district of Vicksburg from 1863 to 

1866. After his military service, he returned to Wisconsin, 

but moved to Nevada in 1868. In 1882, President Chester 

Arthur nominated him for the position of U.S. district judge 

for the District of Nevada. The Senate confirmed the nom­

ination, and Sabin took his seat on July 26, 1882. He re­

mained on the federal bench until his death on May 20,

1890. Federal Judicial Center, Federal Judges Biographi­

cal Database, http://air.fjc.gov/public/home.nsf/hisj.
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3!Although nobody disputes that Sarah Althea assaulted 

Sawyer in some manner, accounts of the incident differ. 

David Terry later said that his wife had merely raked the 

back of Judge Sawyer’s head as she passed. Buchanan, 

210.

32Francis Griffith Newlands was a well-connected San 

Francisco lawyer and a member of William Sharon’s legal 

team. More significantly, he was Sharon’s son-in law. Orig­

inally from Mississippi, Newlands grew up in Chicago, 

attended Yale, then studied law in Washington, D.C. In 

1870, he moved to California, where he met and married 

Sharon’s daughter, Clara. When Sharon died in 1885, New­

lands became the trustee of his estate. Along with Sharon’s 

son, Fredrick, he continued the battle against Sarah Althea. 

Newlands later served as the lone congressman from the 

state of Nevada. In 1903, he became a U.S. Senator, and 

he remained in office until his death in 1917. William 

D. Rowley, “Newlands, Francis Griffith,” PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA N B O n l in e , 

http//www.anb.org/articles/05/05-00564.html.

33David Neagle was born in San Francisco in the late 

1850s, but made a reputation as a rough-and-tumble law 

enforcement officer in Tombstone, Arizona. At the time of 

this incident, he was running an errand for his employer, 

the San Francisco Collector’s Office. As you will  read, 

Neagle was later appointed a deputy U.S. marshal and 

assigned to protect Justice Field. In that capacity, he shot 

and killed David Terry. Paul Kens, “David Neagle: Trigger 

Man for a Tragedy,”  in Melvin I. Urofsky, ed., 1 0 0 A m e r ­

ic a n s M a k in g  C o n s t i tu t io n a l H is to r y :  A  B io g r a p h ic a l 

H is to r y  (Washington, D.C.: CQ Press, 2004), 141-44.

341 found no reference to J.H. O’Brien or Thomas T. 

Williams in either Bancroft or Hittell.

35P.D. Wigginton, a Democrat, was elected to the U.S. 

Congress in 1875. In his race for re-election in 1877, 

Wigginton actually lost the election by one vote. He con­

tested the result, however, and eventually took a seat in 

Congress for another term. In 1886 the American (Know 

Nothing) party nominated Wigginton for governor. He 

came in a distant fourth out of five candidates. Hit­

tell, IV, pp. 566, 577, 704. I found no reference to J.M. 

Shannon.

36Wagstaff claims that Field imposed an excessive sen­

tence on Terry to get even for Terry’s refusal to support his 

presidential aspirations. He also claims that Terry made no 

direct threats against Field and that Field used the incident 

as an excuse to have the Terrys shadowed by detectives. 

Wagstaff, 396-403. For other versions of this event, s e e 

Buchanan, 212-15; Kroninger, 202-07.

37frj r e T e r r y , 35 F. 419, 13 Sawyer 440 (C.C.N.D. Cal. 

September 17, 1888); S e e Swisher, 335-43.

38Solomon Heydenfeldt was associate justice of the 

Supreme Court of California from January 1850 to Jan­

uary 1857. During that time, he served with both Field and 

Terry. Bancroft, VII,  220-21.

y > E x  p a r te T e r r y , 128 U.S. 289 (November 1, 1888).

40Terry’s friends continued to insist that Heydenfeldt made 

the statements and attribute his later denial to a “willing ­

ness to do homage to a living power, or suffering by soft­

ening of the brain.”  Wagstaff, 397.

4iDr. R. Porter Ashe was a longtime friend of Terry’s, hav­

ing served with him in the Texas Rangers. After moving 

to California, Ashe became sheriff of Stockton in 1850. 

He supported Terry in an unsuccessful bid to be elected 

mayor of that city. He moved to San Francisco in 1853 

to become attache for the port. There, he was involved 

with Terry in the incident that led to Terry’s arrest by the 

Vigilance Committee of 1856. Buchanan, 13, 37-41; Paul 

Kens, “ Introduction: Incident at Lathrop Station,”  J o u r­

n a l o f  S u p r e m e C o u r t H is to r y , this issue. Ashe was also 

present during the courtroom incident that led to Terry’s 

imprisonment for contempt. At the time, he took posses­

sion of Sarah Althea’s satchel. Marshal J. C. Franks later 

testified that Ashe refused at first to give up the satchel. 

When he eventually did hand it over, Franks found a loaded 

revolver. Swisher, 334-35 (citing I n  r e  N e a g le , 135 U.S. 1, 

transcript of the record, pp. 22-23, Library of Congress). 

42For a description of the Terry-Broderick duel and accom­

panying references see the introduction in this issue, Paul 

Kens, “ Introduction: Incident at Lathrop Station,”  J o u r n a l 

o f  S u p r e m e C o u r t H is to r y .

4 3 In r e  N e a g le , 39 F. 833 (C.C.N.D. Cal. 1889), affirmed 

in C u n n in g h a m v. N e a g le , 135 U.S. 1 (1890). Note that 

C u n n in g h a m v . N e a g le is often referred to as I n  r e  N e a g le 

as well. Gorham does not identify the records to which 

he refers; Swisher used a transcript of the hearings that 

appears to be part of the record of the case before the 

Supreme Court. The transcript is held in the Library of 

Congress.

44J. C. Franks was the United States Marshal stationed in 

San Francisco. S e e Kroninger, 213; Swisher, 232. 

45William Henry Harrison Miller was Attorney Gen­

eral of the United States from March 5, 1889 to 

March 6, 1893. After graduating from Hamilton Col­

lege in 1861, Miller studied law in the office of fu­

ture Chief Justice Morrison R. Waite. He then prac­

ticed law in Indiana. In the campaign of 1888, Miller  

was a confidential advisor to candidate Benjamin Har­

rison. After Harrison became president, he appointed 

Miller as his Attorney General. United States Depart­

ment of Justice, “Attorneys General of the United States,”  

http://www.justice.gOv/jmd/ls/agbiographies.htm#miller. 

46The special deputy was David Neagle.

47Field did not say when or why he rode across the Sierra 

Nevada Mountains in a buggy. It may be appropriate to 

point out here that his circuit-riding duties covered Cali­

fornia, Oregon, and Nevada. At the time of this conflict, 

he could probably reach everything by rail. However, Field 

was appointed to the supreme court in 1863. It is possible 

that his ride across the Sierra was related to riding circuit 

in earlier years.



THE STORY OF THE ATTEMPTED ASSASSINATIONKJIHGFEDCBA1 9 3zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

4®This was probably either Sheriff R. B. Purvis, who had 

boarded the train at Modesto, or Constable Walker of San 

Joaquin County, who arrived after the shooting. Wagstaff, 

408,412.

49Terry’s biographers provide a different interpretation of 

what took place in Lathrop station. Emphasizing that Terry 

hit Field only lightly on the cheek, Buchanan theorizes 

that the best interpretation for Terry’s actions was that 

he was attempting to humiliate Field. Buchanan, 222-24. 

Wagstaff adds a conspiratorial tone. Agreeing that Terry 

only lightly struck Field, he implies that Field’s friends 

were trying to put Terry in jeopardy. To support this con­

tention, he says that there was no evidence that Terry had 

intended to assault Field, that Terry was not told that Field 

would have a bodyguard, and that the bodyguard, Neagle, 

had a reputation as a “ tough” in Arizona and San Fran­

cisco. Wagstaff concludes that “ those who had the power 

preferred to meet the emergency in a manner to remove 

[Terry] forever from the face of the earth, and so planned 

and arranged, as the sequel proved.” Wagstaff, 405-07, 

430.

50The reference is to H. V J. Swain, of Stockton. Wagstaff,

432.

51 The district attorney was Avery C. White. Wagstaff,

433.

52Stockton was David Terry’s home and the base of his 

political support.

53The attorneys for both Field and Neagle naturally be­

lieved that their clients would be safer under federal au­

thority. With respect to the charges against Field, the writ 

of PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAh a b e a s c o r p u s , which ordered the sheriff to turn cus­

tody of Field over to the federal authorities, was quickly 

and easily secured. As the reader will  see, achieving the 

same for Neagle would be more complicated.

54Thomas Cunningham would eventually lend his name 

to a U.S. Supreme Court opinion. Acting as sheriff of San 

Joaquin, he appealed the Federal District Court’s decision 

to grant Neagle’s petition for habeas corpus. Buchanan, 

229. I n  r e N e a g le , 39 F. 833 (C.C.N.D. Cal. 1889), affirmed 

in C u n n in g h a m v . N e a g le , 135 U.S. 1 (1890).

55A traverse is a form of pleading that is the same as a 

denial.

56A. G. Johnston was the attorney general of California. 

Swisher, 354.

5’Wagstaff describes James L. Crittenden as “an able at­

torney of San Francisco and an old and close friend of 

Judge Terry.”  Wagstaff, 434.

58W. T. Baggett was Terry’s attorney. He expressed the 

opinion that Terry did not intend to harm Field at Lathrop 

station. ‘“ I will  slap his face,’ Terry said to me, ‘ If  I do 

run across him, but 1 shall not put myself out to meet 

him. I do not intend to kill  him, but I shall insult him by 

slapping his face, knowing that he will  not resent it as he 

is a coward.’ ”  Buchanan, 222, citing T h e D a i ly  E x a m in e r 

(San Francisco), August 15, 1889.

59William H. Beatty was elected chief justice of the 

California supreme court in 1888. He began his term 

in January 1889 and would soon be among the ma­

jority who overruled the superior court decision grant­

ing Sarah Althea’s divorce. Chief Justice Beatty re­

mained on the court until August 1914. S e e Kroninger, 

207-12.

60Wagstaff maintains that the court’s refusal to honor Terry 

was justly criticized. He notes that the bar association of 

San Joaquin County passed a resolution honoring Terry. 

Wagstaff, 432-39.

51 All  three of these lawyers were involved in every aspect 

of the conflict, representing the Sharon interests in the 

early stages and both Field and Neagle later. Swisher de­

scribes them as follows: “Richard S. Mesick was noted for 

the huge fees which he was accustomed to win. Samuel M. 

Wilson was one of the shrewdest of the railroad lawyers. 

William 1. Herrin was a brilliant young man who in later 

years was to appear at the head of the Southern Pacific 

organization.”  Swisher, 331.

62Elected lieutenant governor in 1886, R. W. Waterman 

became Governor of California in September 1887 upon 

the death of Governor Washington A. Bartlett. Bancroft, 

VII,  434, 737; Hittell, IV, 704-05, 718.

^Attorneys for the state were Attorney General G. A. 

Johnson, J. P. Langhorne, and Avery C. White, District 

Attorney for San Joaquin County. Attorneys for Neagle 

were U.S. District Attorney John T. Cary, Richard Mesick, 

Samuel Wilson, William F. Herrin, W. L. Dudley, C. L. 

Ackerman, J. C. Campbell, and H. C. McPike. I n  r e  N e a­

g le , 39 F. at 841-42.

MThis reference is probably to Thomas Francis Bayard, a 

former U.S. Senator, Secretary of State, and ambassador 

to Great Britain. Bayard was one of Field’s opponents in 

the run for the 1880 Democratic presidential nomination. 

Michael J. Devine, “Bayard, Thomas Francis,”  A N B O n­

l in e , http//www.anb.org/articles/05/05.00057.

^ O s b o r n v . B a n k o f  th e U n ite d S ta te s , 22 U.S. (9 Wheat.) 

738(1824).

66There was considerable public sentiment that Neagle 

should have been brought to trial in the state courts. 

Swisher, 355-61; Wagstaff, 514-522. The power of the 

states to control prosecution of crimes and the immunity 

of federal officials who are accused of violating state law 

thus became the key issues in the N e a g le case. The decision 

established the doctrine that federal officials, acting within 

the scope of their duty, are immune from prosecution in 

state court for violating state law. I n  r e  N e a g le , 39 F. 833 

(C.C.N.D. Cal. 1889), affirmed in C u n n in g h a m v . N e a g le , 

135 U.S. 1 (1890). It should be noted that Chief Justice 

Melville Fuller and Justice Joseph Lamar dissented from 

the Supreme Court’s decision on the ground that Neagle’s 

appointment as deputy marshal had been informal and that 

he was not carrying out a duty explicitly created by federal 

law.
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67The United States Attorney General was William H. 

Miller. Two of the most famous attorneys in America 

joined in Neagle’s defense. Joseph Hodges Choate, a grad­

uate of Harvard Law School, argued some of the era’s most 

famous constitutional cases. Perhaps the most significant 

was PONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP o l lo c k v. F a r m e r’s S a v in g s a n d T r u s t C o . 157 U.S. 

429 (1895), in which the Supreme Court overruled the na­

tional income tax. A New York Republican, Choate spent 

his career battling Tammany Hall Democrats. In 1899, 

President William McKinley appointed Choate as am­

bassador to Great Britain. Paul Morino, “Choate, Joseph 

Hodges,” A N B O n l in e , http://www.anb.org/articles/ 

11/11-1100162.html. James Coolidge Carter also gained 

notoriety fighting Tammany Hall. Interestingly, he was 

twice cast against Justice Field’s brother, David Dudley 

Field, in important legal and political battles. When 

Carter represented the state in P e o p le v . T w e e d (1876), 

David Dudley Field was one of Boss Tweed’s attorneys. 

Carter also campaigned against David Dudley’s proudest 

accomplishment, the campaign to codify New York law. 

Like Choate, Carter fought against the income tax in P o l­

lo c k . Donna Grear Parker, “Carter, James Coolidge,”  A N B 

O n l in e , http://www.anb.org/articles/! 1/1 l-00144.html.

68G. A. Johnson was the California attorney general. He 

was joined by S. Shellabarger, J. M. Wilson, and Zachariah 

Montgomery. Hittell mentions a Zachariah Montgomery 

as the publisher of a pro-secession newspaper. Hittell, IV, 

392.1 found no other mention of the latter three in Bancroft 

or Hittell.

& E x  p a r te S a v in , 131 U.S. 267 (1889).

i ^ S e e note 41 for a description of Porter Ashe. Others ex­

pressed the same sentiment as Ashe regarding the shoot­

ing. S e e Wagstaff, 448-53.

^ S e e S h a r o n v. S h a r o n , 84 Cal. 424, 23 p. 1100 (1890); 

S h a r o n v. S h a r o n , 84 Cal 433, 23 p. 1102 (1890). A 

significant aspect of these cases was that the California 

supreme court deferred to the federal court’s decision that 

the marriage contract was a fraud and to its injunction 

prohibiting Sarah Althea from using it. This rule may 

have made a forgone conclusion of the superior court’s 

decision that there was not a marriage. S e e Kroninger, 

231-36.

72Sarah Althea Terry lived in obscurity at the California 

State Hospital in Stockton for forty-five more years. She 

died there on February 13 or 14,1937. Buchanan, 230-31; 

Kroninnger, 239 46.
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Paul Kens is a professor of political sci­
ence and history at Southwest Texas State 
University in San Marcos. He is the au­
thor of Justice Stephen Field: Shaping 
Liberty from the Gold Rush to the 
Gilded Age (University Press of Kansas, 
1997).

George C. Gorham (1832-1909) was Stephen 
Field’s lifelong friend. After serving as Field’s 
clerk in Marysville, he worked as a journal­

ist. Gorham became clerk of the U.S. Circuit 
Court in 1863 and the following year was made 
private secretary to California Governor Fred­
erick F. Low. Gorham ran unsuccessfully for 
governor of California on the Republican ticket 
in 1867, but was named Secretary of the U.S. 
Senate in 1868. He served in that capacity until 
the Democrats gained control of the Senate in 
1879. In retirement, Gorham wrote an author­
itative biography of Secretary of War Edwin 
Stanton.

Correction

The image on page 21 of Journal of Supreme Court History 2005, vol. 30, no. 1 was 
incorrectly identified as Associate Justice John A. Campbell. It is a photograph of John W. 
Campbell, Judge of the United States District Court for the District of Ohio.
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Photo Credits 

All photographs are courtesy of the Library of Congress, 

except as noted below: 

Page 87, The Bancroft Library, University of California, 
Berkeley 

Page 88 (bottom), Supreme Court of 

California 

Page 90, San Francisco Examiner, 1889 

Page 93 (left), The Bancroft Library, University of Cali­
fornia, Berkeley 

Page 98, The Bancroft Library, University of California, 

Berkeley 

Page 117, The Bancroft Library, University of California, 
Berkeley 

Page 125, The Bancroft Library, University of California, 

Berkeley 

Page 127, San Francisco Examiner, 1888 

Page 141, file photo 

Page 145, National Archives 

Page 154, The Daily Alta, 1889 
Page 155, The Bancroft Library, University of California, 

Berkeley 

Page 157, National Archives 

Page 184 (top), The Bancroft Library, University of Cali­

fornia, Berkeley 

Page 184 (bottom), file photo 

Page 188, The Bancroft Library, University of California, 

Berkeley 

Cover: U.S. Marshal David Neagle shot disgruntled former judge David Terry at the train 

station in Lathrop, California during breakfast in 1889. He was protecting Justice Stephen 

Field. Source: A. E. Wagstaff, Life of Terry. 
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